East Sussex
County Council

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS
EDUCATION (SACRE)

TUESDAY. 18 NOVEMBER 2025

2.00 pm PRIORY, ROOM 2F CENTRE BLOCK, COUNTY HALL - COUNTY HALL, LEWES

MEMBERSHIP

CliIr Colin Belsey Rosemary Roberts Felicity Harvest
ClIr Trevor Webb Dr Norman Williamson Laura Cooper
Clir Abul Azad Pamela Hartog Paul Holt

ClIr Steve Murphy Elizabeth Coleman

Clir Anne Cross Andrew Jervis

Peter White Karen Sitwell-Cook

Also attending:
Barry Blakelock (RE Consultant); Claire Ramalli (RE Adviser); Claire Rivers (Primary Lead);
Rebecca Harmer (Clerk)

AGENDA

1. Welcome & apologies
a) Declarations of any conflicts of interest

b) Welcome and introduction of new members

2. Holocaust Education Charity: Generation 2 Generation (G2G)
3. Minutes of the meeting 3rd June 2025 & matters arising
4. SIAMs feedback
5. Update on Network meetings

a) Secondary

b) Primary

¢) Special Schools
6. Updates from Claire Ramalli

a) Programme of school visits (feedback and 25/26 visits)

b) Westhill Bid & Venues

7. Updates from Barry Blakelock (Pages 3 - 84)
a) Budget update (paper)

b) Self-evaluation: Section 5 (paper)
c) Development Plan (paper)

d) Review NASACRE Handbook and SACRE Induction Manual (November
2023) (two papers)

e) Agreed Syllabus 2022 — Formal mid-point review/self-review (paper)

eastsussex.gov.uk



8. a) Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (Pages 85 - 322)
b) SACRE membership and Induction (paper)

c) Updates from NASACRE

- Oak National Academy (two papers)

- Ofsted Framework (paper)

- In Conversation Online Event 6" November 6pm/9™" March 6pm

- Curriculum Review ‘Building a world class curriculum for all’ (two papers)

9. Any other business (Pages 323 - 326)
Advice for SACRESs about Local Government Reorganisation (paper)

Encouraging School Speaker Visits

PHILIP BAKER

Deputy Chief Executive

County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent

LEWES BN7 1UE 11 November 2025

Contact Rebecca Harmer, Service Support Officer,
07519 276005
Email: rebecca.harmer@eastsussex.gov.uk




Agenda ltem 7

Report to: East Sussex SACRE

Date of meeting: November 2025

By: Barry Blakelock
ESCC Children’s Service Representative
Barry.Blakelock@aquinastrust.org

Title: SACRE Budget Update
Purpose: To update East Sussex SACRE on the current budget position
Recommendations:

o NOTE the budget update for 2025/26.

Budget 2025/26

The allocation from Children’s Services for the work of SACRE for 2025/26 has been
determined as £17,500 to support the continuation of current service. The funding for the
Children’s Services Representative has been brought into the budget allocation (£7500).

Budget 4415 SACRE - 2025/26 Total Amount GL Estimated Actuals total
RE Adviser [Claire Ramalli) 7 days annually x £400 £ 2,800.00 32080 £ 1,525.00 | £ 1,275.00
SLE support Primary Claire Rivers - 3 days x £350 FVED £ 1,050.00 43506 £ 1,050.00 | £
SLE support Secondary replacement for Sam Keddie -3 daysx £350 FVBD £ 1,050.00 43506 £ 1,050.00 | £ -
CPD for schools and support package - delivered by RE Taday ESCC-PO-001162 | £ 5,114.00 32010 £ 5,114.00
|NMRESuhIripLiDnJunE 2025 £ 175.00 32010 £ - £ 175.00
|NASA1CREcunfErEan fees - 1 delegate £ 50.00 36810 £ 60.00 | £ -

£ 10,245.00 £ 3,685.00 £ 6,564.00

Actual expenditurein SAP asat 23/10/2025 £ 6,564.00
Estimated expenditure up to 31.03.2026 3 3,685.00
Total actuals and estimated expenditure £ 10,249.00

Budget £ 10,000.00
Total actuals and estimated expenditure £ 10,249.00
Balance (estimated overspend) £ 245.00

Total Estimated &
GL Code Actual Costs Estimated Actual
32010 - NASACRE Subscription / Includes RE today E 5,285.00 | £ - £ 5,2859.00
32080 - Consultants £ 2,800.00 | £ 1,525.00 | £ 1,275.00
36810 - Conference expenses (training) £ 60.00 | £ 60.00 | £ -
43506 - Supply maintained schools {5 Keddle & C Rivers) £ 2,100.00 | £ 2,100.00 | £ -
£ 10,249.00 £ 3,685.00 £ 6,564.00

We estimate a small overspend of £250.

This has been approved by Children’s Services.

Budget 2026/27

Whilst not confirmed, we anticipate the allocation being maintained for 2026/27. This
arrangement will take us to the next Agreed Syllabus Conference scheduled for spring 2027

when the syllabus licenses and training offer are both up for renewal.

However, if the Agreed Syllabus is renewed for another year to accommodate the re-
organisation of local government, anticipated cost may be postponed for a further year.

The Local Authority has been notified of the potential for additional costs when determining
the next Agreed Syllabus.

Page 3


mailto:Barry.Blakelock@aquinastrust.org

This page is intentionally left blank



G abed

Page 1
July 2021
SACRE self-assess

sacre’«®

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education

SACRE self-assessment tool

East Sussex
County Council

WA
AT

East Sussex SACRE

sacre ‘,:‘. strengthening

http://www.nasacre.org.u

Vv Xipuaddy


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

9 obed

Introduction

This tool has been created to help SACREs in their essential role to advise the Local Authority (LA) in meeting the entitlement of pupils across the LA to engage in
high quality Religious Education (RE) and Collective Worship (CW) and to support the LA to reflect on its practice. In an educational context where standards and
accountability are at the top of the agenda, a SACRE’s work has become increasingly challenging and diverse, but also more rewarding and stimulating. Good
SACREs will therefore tackle their responsibilities as opportunities, with enthusiasm, whilst recognising the need for realistic and ongoing appraisal and self-review.

In many ways, SACREs reflect the work of governing bodies in schools, in so far as they act as critical friends to the LA on matters of RE and CW. Like school
governors, members are unpaid volunteers who give up their time to support RE and CW locally.

This toolkit is an amended version of the 2015 document. It takes account of changes in inspection arrangements and in the role of LAs, and of the development of
maintained schools independent of their LA. It is designed to help individual SACRESs evaluate their effectiveness, including considering their impact on pupils’
educational experience and learning. It also helps SACRESs review their organisational patterns and structures, and their partnership with the LA and other key
stakeholders.

The toolkit highlights five key dimensions of SACRE'’s work and provides exemplification of good practice. A SACRE that uses this self-evaluation guidance should
gain a clear picture of its strengths, identify areas for further development, and establish key priorities for action.

The DCSF publication “Religious education in English schools: Non-statutory guidance” (2010) (“the Guidance”) remains the most recent official statement in this
field: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/religious-education-guidance-in-english-schools-non-statutory-guidance-2010. The Guidance sets out the
responsibilities of SACREs and LAs as well as those of other stakeholders in RE. Key summaries from the Guidance are included in the Annex to this document.

Rationale
The SACRE self-evaluation toolkit focuses on the following five aspects of the work of SACREs:

Management of the SACRE and building the partnership between the SACRE, the LA and other key stakeholders
Promoting improvement in the standards, the quality of teaching, and provision in RE

Evaluating the effectiveness of the locally agreed syllabus

Promoting improvement in the provision and quality of collective worship

Contributing to cohesion across the community and the promotion of social and racial harmony.

arwbd =

Each aspect forms a section within the toolkit and each section is divided into focus questions to help SACREs explore their provision. Descriptors for ‘Requires
improvement/struggling’, ‘Developing’, ‘Established’ and ‘Advanced’ practice will enable SACREs to evaluate their standing within each focus question.

In the final column, SACREs may wish to identify any issues and action points within that focus, as appropriate. Key priorities can then be identified at the end of
each section to inform the development of an action plan.

The intention is that, over time, exemplars of good practice from different SACREs will be made available on an open website, together with annual reports, as a way
of adding further support to SACREs and LAs. Clearly the capacity of any SACRE to make the most of this will be dependent on the extent of the support it receives
from, and the quality of its relationship with the LA,

SACREs are invited to use the format of this evaluation in conjunction with their annual report.

Page 2
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/religious-education-guidance-in-english-schools-non-statutory-guidance-2010

) abed

Section 1: Management of the SACRE and partnership with the LA and other key stakeholders

How far does the SACRE’s partnership with the LA enable it to carry out its responsibilities effectively?
(Taken from 2010 DfE Checklist for an effective partnership between an LA and its SACRE/ASC)

Does the LA and the SACRE/ASC carry out their statutory duties?

Is SACRE/ASC properly resourced and well supported by subject specialist advice and training?

Do members of the SACRE/ASC have a shared vision and understanding of their aims and purpose, seeking to sustain their positive work in the light of
changing needs and priorities?

Are SACRE/ASC meetings purposeful and focused on the major priorities of improving the quality of RE (and CW) in schools?

Is the SACRE/ASC well informed about the quality of RE in schools and about wider LA and national priorities and developments affecting the subject?
Has the LA adopted a high-quality agreed syllabus that provides a good grounding for planning, teaching and learning in RE and enables the schools to
deliver RE as part of a coherent curriculum?

Is there an effective process of reviewing, revising, implementing, monitoring and evaluating the locally agreed syllabus?

How far does the SACRE’s partnership with the LA enable it to help teachers and schools raise standards in RE and the quality of RE teaching?

How far does the SACRE contribute effectively to the community cohesion agenda by supporting inclusion in schools and improving engagement within the
community?

LAs must adequately fund SACRESs to enable them to carry out their statutory duties and to support high quality RE and collective worship in schools.” We consider
2% of the CSSB to be a reasonable spend to enable this. LAs must set aside sufficient money to ensure the Agreed Syllabus review can be effective every five
years. We reiterate that as a minimum expectation, LAs must provide the following:

1.

a clerk

a professional officer who has expertise in RE curriculum design

a publicly accessible place to meet

the reasonable expenses of members

publishing the agreed syllabus and other SACRE materials (including agendas and minutes), most usually on the LA website
NASACRE subscription and AGM attendance.

The Minister for School Standards, Nick Gibb MP, included this statement in response to a parliamentary question from Stephen Timms MP: “If the Department is informed

that an individual SACRE or ASC is experiencing difficulties in fulfilling its statutory duties, the Department will contact the local authority to remind them of their duty to support their
activities satisfactorily »

2021HC Deb,28 March 2018, cW https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2018-03-28/134697

1 jbid., page 11

Page 3

July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2018-03-28/134697
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/190260/DCSF-00114-2010.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/190260/DCSF-00114-2010.pdf

g obed

The relationship between a Local Authority and its SACRE is essentially one of partnership and collaboration, with mutual obligations and
statutory responsibilities. So that a SACRE can advise and act effectively for the LA in the field of Religious Education and Collective
Worship, the LA must ensure not only that there is a local SACRE, but also that it is able to fulfil its functions. The extent to which a
SACRE is supported by funding and personnel, will determine how well individuals and committees can work together. Where a SACRE
is valued by the LA, it is more likely that members of the SACRE will be able to contribute both to SACRE’s work and to the LA’s wider
strategic objectives.

By bringing together many local stakeholders (faith/belief communities, teachers, local politicians and co-optees such as universities and
parents) into a statutory body, SACRESs can act positively for LAs as a sounding board on their core business of RE and CW, and also on
wider strategic educational objectives such as raising standards, narrowing the gap and promoting community cohesion, as well as
community matters related to interfaith collaboration and wellbeing. Core and value-added functions work best when the SACRE is
appropriately supported, resourced and managed, and when channels of communication with the LA are good.

The potential for SACRESs to contribute more widely is dependent on SACRE members feeling that the meetings are outward looking,
focused on pupil needs, purposeful and enjoyable. This can be achieved, for example, by meeting in different locations (schools, places
of worship, cultural centres and council meeting rooms) and by ensuring that all members feel they are equal partners whose views and
experiences are sought, listened to and valued.

Alongside this, SACRE has the power to develop structural relationships with academies, etc. by exploring ways in which an academy
“‘presence” can be incorporated into SACRE, e.g., by co-options (non-voting), through additional places in Group C (teacher
organisations), or by creating a non-voting notional “Group E” (as had been envisaged in the Grant Maintained era). Similar
considerations apply to the ASC. Although the legal framework would currently not allow voting rights to any distinct academy
representation, SACREs and ASCs would surely not wish to proceed with decisions which were clearly not acceptable to the academy
sector represented in their wider membership.

Page 4
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 1a — Funding: Professional and financial support
How well supported and resourced is SACRE, by the LA exercising its statutory responsibilities?

Requires have no financial or management support to help SACRE to meet and operate. Members are unable to
improvement/struggling communicate with each other. There is no professional support. O
A SACRE in this position would:

have financial and management support to allow it to exist. Representatives of the LA receive papers and/or
attend meetings but there is limited subject specialist advice available. There are resources for basic SACRE
functions (such as a place to meet and a minute taker) but there is no specific budget for the SACRE and
little opportunity for the SACRE to take initiatives requiring funding.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

access to some subject specialist advice and is informed of local and national initiatives. The LA is
represented at meetings and can provide a means of communication with the wider LA. The SACRE has a V
modest budget which enables it to fund some initiatives. Meetings are clerked and the clerk maintains
communication with the Chair and other members between meetings as needed.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

be well supported by a subject specialist who provides effective advice and is well informed about the
provision and quality of RE in the LA and about national developments. Representatives of the LA attend
meetings and the SACRE is also attended by a lead officer from the LA who can provide a strong link
between the work of the SACRE and the wider LA. SACRE’s plans are linked to other local work and
projects. SACRE has a strategic, costed development plan. SACRE has access to funds to enable it to
make decisions about its priorities and ensure these can be properly resourced.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

6 obed

Updated June 2024

o Specialist RE adviser in post and attends area meetings and is a member of NATRE. Well-grounded in the
school context and strong links with schools and the LA. Primary, secondary and specialist school network leads
in place to support training and professional development across the county.

o Children’s Services Representative and associated manager in post to support SACRE in carrying out its
statutory duties. SACRE work also links into structures of the school-led system e.g. primary and secondary

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support

this? boards. Strong clerk in place who supports with the preparation of all meetings and actions in between.
e Modest budget allocation of £10k a year funds licenses for the Agreed Syllabus alongside training from ‘RE
Today’ which includes termly CPD and an Annual Conference in each phase.
o Costed 3-year Development Plan in place following structure of the Self-assessment tool.
Page 5
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

0T obed

Key Area: 1b — SACRE meetings
How purposeful, inclusive, representative and effective are SACRE meetings?

practice would:

Business is dealt with in a prompt and orderly way. There is limited opportunity for SACRE members to
contribute to the work apart from attending meetings. Business tends to be focused solely on routine
statutory requirements.

Requires not hold regular meetings, if they meet at all. Any meeting held is purely to demonstrate that the LA has
improvement/struggling allowed SACRE to meet. O
A SACRE in this position would:

hold meetings regularly with:
Developing c routine gdmin.istr.ativ.e arrangements
A SACRE with developing . appropriate distribution of agendas and papers .

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have good attendance where all four committees are well represented and meetings are quorate.
Agendas and papers are distributed well in advance ensuring all members have time to consider them
carefully, consulting when relevant their representing/sponsoring bodies. There are some opportunities for
teachers and representatives of faith and worldview communities to be invited to share their work.
Meetings are well managed with strong contributions from a wide range of members.

Meetings move beyond routine matters to consider wider issues about the quality of RE and CW.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

have SACRE members contributing to the development of the agenda and strategic development plan.
Meetings will be lively and purposeful with a wide variety of contributions focused on the major priorities

for improvement in schools. Teachers and representatives of faith and worldview communities regularl
attend and participate fully in meetings, sharing their experience and insights. ﬂ
“ Procedures have been put in

place so that meaningful contact can be made with and between members outside of SACRE meetings.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

Updated June 2024

Purposeful meetings with a focus on improving the quality of curriculum, teaching and assessment in RE and
supporting schools in all contexts to meet their statutory duties in relation to RE and collective worship.
Agendas and papers published in advance through member services to meet requirements of public meetings
and circulated to all SACRE members.

Members arrive at the meetings having read papers, informed and prepared to actively contribute to the
meetings.

Representation improving and agreement to have a slot on ‘my faith my belief to draw in wider representation.
Meetings need to be held in a variety of venues including face-to-face.

Page 6
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 1¢c — Membership and training
To what extent is the membership of SACRE able to fulfil SACRE’s purpose?

Requires
improvement/struggling
A SACRE in this position would:

have no membership list. SACRESs constitution is not fit for purpose and needs revision. The Local Authority

struggles to fill all places on SACRE, SACRE members have no regular training provided. O

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

have a membership that fulfils the basic statutory obligations. Arrangements to fill vacancies are not always

pursued effectively. There are limited induction and training opportunities for SACRE members. V

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have an active membership that strongly reflects the diversity of the wider religious/worldview and

professional community. There is regular induction training and processes for new members. There O

are good opportunities for SACRE members to participate in training activities.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

make good use of co-option to ensure membership of the SACRE is well informed and is highly
representative of the diversity of the local community. There is a strong and co-ordinated programme of
induction, and training opportunities for SACRE members. There are robust systems in place for succession
planning for members and SACRE roles.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support

TT obed

Updated June 2024

All 4 groups are actively represented, and school representation has strengthened.
Membership is developing but there is more to do to ensure wider representation that actively represents local
demographics.

this? e Local programme of induction has been developed included induction checklist, new materials and access to
NASACRE training.
e Training for SACRE members is available through NASACRE but again could develop a more local flavour.
Page 7
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 1d — Improvement/development planning
How effective are the priorities and actions identified by SACRE in improving the experience of pupils in schools?

Requires
improvement/struggling
A SACRE in this position would:

have no development plan to focus future work. There is no knowledge of areas where the priorities of the
LA’s development / improvement plan potentially could link to the work of the SACRE.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

have little overt linkage between the priorities of the LA’s development / improvement plan and the work of
the SACRE. SACRE has limited awareness of national projects or initiatives related to the work of SACRE
and so is unable to plan any work or request funding to initiate new work.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have a costed development plan which is reviewed regularly and updated on an annual basis. This provides
an effective focus for the SACRE’s work. There is some attempt to link the plan to the wider LA priorities.
SACRE has awareness of national projects or initiatives related to the work of SACRE and so is able to plan
work or request funding to update and review their development plan. The SACRE is regularly represented
at national events relevant to its work; for example, NASACRE.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

have a well-defined development plan with clear objectives and success criteria. Resource implications
are clearly defined and funding negotiated with the LA or outside funding streams. There is a clear
link between the plan and the wider objectives of the LA and also to national innovations.

Updated June 2024

;? Where are we and where do e Costed Development plan in place linked to Self-assessment tool.
< we find evidence to subport e Local Authority has adjusted and sustained budget so that needs of schools can be met.
~ this? PP e Sponsorship for special projects such as Student Conference has been successfully achieved.
’ o Children’s Services Representative and Specialist Adviser join SE SACRE meetings to join up work across the
region and learn from practice in other LAs.
Page 8
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

€T obed

Key Area: 1e - Information and advice
How well informed is SACRE in order to be able to advise the LA appropriately?

Requires
improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

not be supported to gather information (exam results, data, links to schools) or to link with national initiatives
including membership of NASACRE.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

receive limited information about public examination data from the LA. Limited information is provided
about wider national and local developments. The SACRE tends to receive information from the LA when
the LA wishes to give it rather than ask questions of the LA or receive answers to its request. There is little
opportunity to be a critical friend.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

be regularly provided with clear information relevant to the quality and provision for RE and CW in local
schools and given a context within which any school is working. The SACRE receives the information in a
way that enables it to act as a critical friend and question the LA’s work.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

receive detailed and well-analysed information about the quality and provision for RE and CW. As a
result, SACRE uses this information effectively to give advice to the LA which leads to strategic action
and/or partnership work to improve standards. This can include advice related to the review of the AS.
The SACRE has a strong partnership with the LA and plays an active role in promoting ideas and initiatives.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

Updated June 2024

o Regular reports and updates on quality of curriculum, teaching, learning and assessment come from Primary,
Secondary and Special Network Leads and feed into SACRE discussions.

¢ Annual report pupil outcomes is presented to SACRE.

e Programme of visits to schools resumed in Summer 2023.

key issues.

New Agreed Syllabus established.

Implementation of Determination Policy.

Systems need to be embedded that allow members to deepen their understanding of the quality of practice.
Further work on information, advice and guidance for Collective Worship required.

Further alignment to the Local Authority and their initiatives across the system needs to be undertaken.

Page 9
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool

Information is clearly presented, and robust discussions interrogate the papers with actions and agreements on



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 1f - Partnerships with key stakeholders
What partnerships does the SACRE have with key local and national stakeholders, and what quality are these?

practice would:

Requires be unaware of local or national agencies. SACRE has no links with sponsoring bodies in their location.
improvement/struggling 1
A SACRE in this position would:

Developing have little contact with or awareness of other local agencies (e.g. interfaith groups, dioceses), and rarely

A SACRE with developing hears from pupils/students. O

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

be well informed about other key stakeholders supporting RE and have some meaningful contact with the
groups involved. SACRE members are supported at a national level by their sponsoring body. SACRE
members attend the annual NASACRE conference and other training opportunities. Hear from
pupils/students as part of their work around high-quality RE and CW.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

build its activities effectively on local networks. Links with other bodies, such as local interfaith groups,
are positive and able to support raising standards and developing community cohesion. The SACRE
has opportunities to hear the views and experience of pupils about RE. Representatives of key
support networks and higher education providers are regularly involved with the SACRE.

T obed

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support

Update June 2024

Some SACRE members attend NASACRE events and the annual conference. Online events have worked well
and enabled wider representation.

Some links exist with other agencies. RE Today supported the review of the new Agreed Syllabus.

The Specialist Adviser is a member of NATRE (National Association of Teachers of RE) and AREIAC
(Association for RE Inspectors, Advisers and Consultants).

this? e Specialist Advisor supports other SACREs and makes links to national organisations, research and practice.
o Need to develop pupil voice and wider connections to organisations promoting RE and CW.
o Need to develop links with higher education providers.
o Need to develop more substantial links with interfaith groups.
Page 10
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

GT abed

Key Area: 1g — Relations with the Academies sector
How effectively is SACRE encouraging academies efc to see themselves also as stakeholders in their local area, specifically by devising ways in
which an academies presence is incorporated into SACRE itself?

Requires
improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

have no opportunity to network with local academies.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

have nothing formal in place. Little encouragement, if any, is extended to academies to relate to the
SACRE'’s proceedings, and there are no channels through which academies can contribute.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have made attempts to include academies on SACRE, but these have been hampered by e.g. lack of
confidence or vision on the part of SACRE, or by confusion over what is legally valid and possible, or what is
possible between academies in an area.

Advanced
SACRE with advanced practice
would:

have established the place of academies on SACRE. SACRE has considered systematically the legal and
structural options, and established a permanent and sustainable academy presence on SACRE. A high
proportion of academies in the area regard themselves as stakeholders and partner with SACRE.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

Updated June 2024

e Academies are well represented and are fully included in the work of SACRE.

o Engagement with academies has improved considerably over the last two years.

¢ SACRE has paid for new Agreed Syllabus licenses for all academies and community schools in the LA.

Page 11
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

9T abed

Section 1: Management of the SACRE and partnership with the LA and other key stakeholders

Successes/ What are we good at?

SACRE is well attended by a committed group of individuals that are broadly reflective of the local area. Through connections to local
and national organisations they are well-informed and read papers in advance of meetings. More recently, meetings focus on the quality
of the new Agreed Syllabus and have raised questions about understanding the quality of collective worship. Members routinely self-
assess their work and improve the through use of a linked and costed Development Plan. The Local Authority provide stable funding
which supports a substantial programme of professional development and training for schools in the Agreed Syllabus. Network Leads
organise regular supportive meetings for teachers and are a source of high-quality advice and guidance. Academy involvement has
increased with the new Agreed Syllabus. The Specialist Advisor is well-connected and provides several links to other SACREs. SACRE
has updated all its guidance and introduced and induction programme for new members. SACRE is stable and well-organised.

Areas for development/ Action points:

° For the SACRE:

Meetings need to be held in a variety of venues including face-to-face.

Membership is developing but there is more to do to ensure wider representation.

Systems need to be embedded that allow members to deepen their understanding of the quality of practice.
Further work on information, advice and guidance for Collective Worship required.

Further alignment to the Local Authority and their initiatives across the system needs to be undertaken.

Need to develop pupil voice and wider connections to organisations promoting RE and CW.

Need to develop links with higher education providers and more substantial connections with interfaith groups.

0O O O O O O O

° For the LA
o Continued stability in terms of funding to support high-quality training and development activities for teachers.

Date of review: June 2024

Date of next review: March 2026

Page 12 .
July 2021 %2 renginening
SACRE self-assessment tool sacre”® promoting

http://www.nasacre.org.uk


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

LT obed

Section 2. Standards and quality of provision of Religious Education

How effectively does the SACRE, in partnership with the LA, evaluate standards and the quality of provision for RE in schools?
How effective are the strategies to improve standards and the quality of provision?

In principle, every pupil is entitled to RE of the highest quality. At its best, RE will be one of the most popular, relevant, stimulating and
truly educative elements in the curriculum. This potential gives SACREs both a benchmark for aspiration and a spur for action.

A core duty of a SACRE is to gain an overview of the quality of the RE provision in local authority maintained schools and to develop
effective strategies to promote the highest standards. SACREs may also request information from academies, academy chains and free
schools where they educate pupils from the LA which appointed SACRE. In the light of the current inspection culture of partnership and
self-evaluation, SACREs will need to adopt an astute and sensitive approach to achieve this overview.

Information to assist SACRE in carrying out its role is likely to come from a range of sources, which may include:

public examination results

reports from School Improvement Partners

analysing questionnaires

sharing of information from subject self-evaluation forms as appropriate, and in agreement with schools
feedback from professional development activities

presentations to SACRE from local teachers

The Guidance offers analysis and advice to support SACREs in reviewing their own effectiveness, their patterns of partnership, and their
strategies in relation to enhancing the quality of RE provision in local authority maintained schools. In addition, in the light of the
development of academies and other non-LA maintained schools, SACREs also need to take note of and respond appropriately to this
new diversified scenario. (In the ensuing pages, the phrase “academies etc” is used as shorthand to refer to all non-LA maintained
schools within a particular LA area.

Page 13
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 2a - RE provision across the LA. How effectively does the SACRE gain information about RE provision in schools and put in place
strategies to support the delivery of pupil entitlement?

practice would:

Requires have no routes by which SACRE can gain information about RE provision in schools.

improvement/struggling 1
A SACRE in this position would:

Developing have little knowledge of which schools are fulfilling pupil entitlement in RE because local processes are

A SACRE with developing insufficient to gather such information (e.g. a website trawl) O

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have some knowledge of which schools are providing adequate time for effective learning in RE and have a
scheme of work that enables them to deliver the AS. SACRE’s process for acquiring this information is
adequate but lacks coherence. Have limited opportunities to implement strategies in support of pupil
entitlement. Ofsted reports are read and any comments on RE noted and brought to SACRE.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

build upon a strong relationship with the LA, whereby the LA shares its information and from this SACRE
gains an overview of RE provision within the LA. It works effectively with the LA to support and promote
pupil entittement. Examples of different models for fulfilling pupil entitlement within local schools will
be shared with all schools so that schools can have a menu from which to adapt an approach that
delivers pupil entitlement whilst meeting the specific needs and priorities of their schools.

O

8T abed

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support

o A well-received Agreed Syllabus is supporting greater consistency and better understanding about the quality of

provision across the county.

e Engagement with the networks promotes greater understanding about the quality of provision however
engagement is stronger in the primary phase than the secondary phase.
SACRE is developing greater understanding of the quality of provision through school visits.

is?
this? e Ofsted research review for RE has been discussed in detail and shared with schools, Ofsted reports are read
periodically but so far few, if any comments on RE in recent reports to share with SACRE.
o Need to embed systematic approaches to good practice visits over the coming year.
Page 14
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 2b — Standards of achievement and public examination entries
How does SACRE use information about standards and examinations to target support and training for schools?

Requires not be given any data to work from, and has no professional support to investigate this at a local and
improvement/struggling national level. O
A SACRE in this position would:
Developing have limited knowledge of standards in primary and secondary schools including examination entries. The
A SACRE with developing SACRE has no clear strategy to address this and the local authority does not adequately invest in O
practice would: professional support for this. Analysis would be limited as would strategies to address issues.
Established have some process in place to find out how well learners are doing in KS 1-3, (e.g. by meeting teachers,
A SACRE with established pupils and through the LA). SACRE will be provided with adequate information about examination entries \/
practice would: and standards in examinations in secondary schools and how these relate to national figures.
Advanced have robust processes with the LA whereby SACRE can gain accurate information about standards
A SACRE with advanced in schools and examination entries in all secondary schools, with useful analysis that enables it to O
practice would: address issues effectively in partnership with the LA.
o LA provides SACRE with validated data for public examinations in the summer term of each academic year.
These are analysed for discussion at SACRE. Comparisons with national data are included in the analysis.
Where are we and where do Di [ f strategies to engage wider groups of pupils and schools are a part of the evaluation
T we find evidence to support ISCUSSIONS Of strateg 9ag " groups of pup . P )
8 this? Networks establishing good working relationships with schools in the context of data transparency set by the LA.
o) ’ o Need to embed systematic approaches to data use over the coming year.
B o Need to undertake website reviews as part of the learning process around the quality of provision.
Page 15
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

0z abed

Key Area: 2c - Quality of learning and teaching.
How well does SACRE use knowledge of quality of learning and teaching to target support appropriately?

Requires
improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

not have any knowledge of quality of learning and teaching to target support from the LA and professional
support/adviser.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

have little knowledge of the quality of learning and teaching in the LA schools and therefore is unable to
provide appropriate challenge and support to the schools. The SACRE has no means to offer or
recommend support to schools as there is little or no professional support in the LA working with the
SACRE.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have some information regarding the quality of learning and teaching from a range of sources including
contact with teachers and pupils. Limited analysis of this information is undertaken; however, this means
that SACRE’s attempts to improve learning and teaching have limited effect. Be able to circulate information
about national courses and support mechanisms to schools

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

have a robust relationship with schools and the LA to gather meaningful information about the quality of
learning and teaching in RE. This information is analysed to identify trends, areas of strength and areas for
development and SACRE draws on expertise in effective schools to support all schools in the LA. Advise
the LA on the support that is needed and have access to professional support, linked to schools in
need.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

o Discussions with schools and teachers through network meetings and the schools working group are very
valuable in gathering qualitative information about the teaching of RE.

e Training is aligned to delivery of the Agreed Syllabus, supporting consistency and developing expertise in
schools.

o Need to hold SACRE meetings in schools on occasion so schools can further showcase their work.

o Need to be more targeted to those schools that might need support.

Page 16
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 2d Quality of interaction and communication with leadership and management of RE in schools
To what extent does SACRE have and pass on information that supports high quality RE in schools

Requires not engage in communication with schools.

improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

Developing have little communication with schools. It occasionally contacts schools with resources for RE and attends
A SACRE with developing Headteachers meetings.

practice would:

Established have RE key messages communicated regularly into schools. Sends regular updates and information to
A SACRE with established schools, headteachers and governors. SACRE discussions are used to enhance leadership and

practice would: management of RE in schools.

Advanced have a constructive relationship with senior leaders and subject managers in schools to develop the
A SACRE with advanced subject.

practice would:

e Regular information has been shared with schools through the VSB (Virtual School Bag) through emails to
Headteachers and through the RE networks.

Where are we and where do o Communication is an ongoing challenge and developing multiple ways of communicating with teachers and

we find evidence to support school leaders always need to be considered.

this?

T2 obed

e Headteachers/senior leaders have engaged with the process of a new Agreed Syllabus.
e Need to strengthen channels of communication into schools beyond the networks.

Page 17
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 2e — Relations with academies and other non-LA maintained schools.
To what extent has a SACRE developed a proactive strategy in relation to academies and other non-LA maintained schools in its area?
Requires not have the mechanisms and not have the knowledge of making contact.
improvement/struggling O
A SACRE in this position would:
Developing have haphazard information about the RE situation in local academies etc, and little or no established
A SACRE with developing relationships and liaison with them. No serious attempt has been made to develop an overall strategy. O
practice would:
Established have made some effort to establish liaison with each academy etc and to keep updated SACRE’s
A SACRE with established information about their RE situation and share their advice to these schools. By and large, academies co- V
practice would: operate with SACRE at this level. SACRE keeps under review the ongoing situation.
Advanced have a proactive policy of liaison with all academies, etc. and of sustaining a wider professional RE network
A SACRE with advanced within the area. While the independence of academies, etc. is genuinely respected by SACRE, many O
practice would: academies value this network and look to SACRE for ongoing advice and leadership in RE.
Whe_re are we and where do e Academies are included with all communication to all schools and are not treated separately. There has been
we find evidence to support dint ti tf demi ith the | h of th A d Svilab
this? renewed interest in engagement from academies with the launch of the new Agreed Syllabus.
S
Q
®
N
N
Page 18
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

g¢ abed

Section 2. Standards and quality of provision of Religious Education

Successes/ What are we good at?

SACRE was bold in the development and launch of a new Agreed Syllabus. It is well supported and funded through RE Today which
offers a range of resources and thoughtful schemes or work. A range of communication methods have been utilised to support the launch
of the Agreed Syllabus which has renewed engagement with headteachers, senior leaders and subject leaders. Furthermore, the
syllabus has served to engage academies in the delivery of high-quality religious education.

Areas for development/ Action points:

° For the SACRE

Need to embed systematic approaches to good practice visits over the coming year.

Need to embed systematic approaches to data use over the coming year.

Need to undertake website reviews as part of the learning process around the quality of provision.
Need to hold SACRE meetings in schools on occasion so schools can further showcase their work.
Need to be more targeted to those schools that might need support.

Need to strengthen channels of communication into schools beyond the networks.

o O O O O O

° For the LA
o Continue to provide regular data to SACRE on entries and outcomes.

Date of review: November 2024

Date of next review: June 2026

Page 19 .
July 2021 %2 renginening
SACRE self-assessment tool sacre”® promoting

http://www.nasacre.org.uk


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

¢ abed

Section 3: The effectiveness of the locally agreed syllabus

How effectively does the SACRE, in partnership with the LA, monitor the impact and evaluate the effectiveness of the agreed
syllabus in raising standards? How effectively does the Agreed Syllabus Conference in partnership with SACRE make
decisions about the use of national guidance and exemplar material in a review of the agreed syllabus?

The locally agreed syllabus (AS) is the bedrock on which schools will build robust sequences of effective learning experiences in RE. A
good, recent AS will support both the delivery of high quality RE in schools and RE’s contribution to the schools’ wider curriculum aims
and impact.

The major factors to be considered in creating or revising an AS include statutory requirements, non-statutory guidance and exemplar
material, developments in the school curriculum generally, and local circumstances. Key advice on producing an AS is given in the
Guidance. SACREs and ASCs are recommended to take note of this advice in their work on the AS.

LAs are required to review their AS at least every five years. This cycle of reviewing, revising, re-launching and re-implementing the AS
gives SACREs and ASCs opportunities for ongoing development and improvement of their effectiveness in providing schools with an AS
that is truly “fit for purpose”.

While the ASC holds the legal responsibility for revising the AS, in practice much of the preparatory and supplementary work will be
carried by the SACRE within its routine business. Moreover, in most LAs the membership of SACRE and ASC overlap substantially or
are identical. This can contribute to greater inclusivity and coherence, but good practice will ensure that it is always clear at any time
which body is in place at a meeting, and that it is the ASC which is in session when decisions about the AS are considered.

Academies, etc. are, in principle, free to choose their own RE syllabus. In practice, however, many may well continue to use their local
AS. There are some sound reasons for SACRE and the LA to encourage this where possible, and to enable academies, etc. to have
some involvement in the process of revising the AS or of devising a new AS. Relationships between SACREs and academies will
necessarily be entirely voluntary and not covered by legislation or guidance. SACREs should therefore approach such relationships in a
spirit of mutual respect and collegiality. These issues have not been incorporated into the matrix below, but see Section 4.

Page 20
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Gz obed

Key Area: 3a — The review process
How does the SACRE review the success of the existing agreed syllabus?

Requires not have any way of contacting schools to carry out a review of the existing syllabus. It will not be supported
improvement/struggling by the LA or professional support. O
A SACRE in this position would:

have limited arrangements in place to monitor the impact of the AS, particularly in raising standards,
Developing providing little or no opportunity to review the effectiveness of the AS. Not know the views of teachers and
A SACRE with developing have had no systematic evaluation of the strengths/weaknesses of the syllabus. Unclear how to proceed O

practice would:

with the five-yearly syllabus review and there is little or no budget allocation from the LA. Have little
knowledge of wider recent RE national guidance, research and developments.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have reviewed the opinions of schools and RE teachers in several ways and have a good idea of the
strengths/areas of weakness of the current AS. Have devised a costed action plan in partnership with the
LA, and been allocated a sufficient budget for the AS review and relaunch.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

have a clear and systematic process for monitoring the effectiveness of the AS built into its development
plan. Reviewing the AS includes full consultation with schools and other key stakeholders, including
faith communities and academics. Issues that have arisen have been discussed and addressed in
planning for a review. An ASC budget has been planned and allocated in partnership with the LA to
include consultation meetings, administrative support and design/distribution costs. There is a strong
sense of shared ownership of the prospective AS review, with clear targets for what needs to be achieved.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

Routine reviews of the Agreed Syllabus over the last 2 years have shown it to be successful with high levels of
engagement from maintained schools and an increasing number of academies.

The Agreed Syllabus was developed in consultation with faith groups, schools and governors.

Launch event for the new syllabus was attended by most schools and academies.

A costed plan to sustain the Agreed Syllabus and associated training up to the next Agreed Syllabus
Conference has been determined.

Need to undertake ongoing review of the implementation of the syllabus.

Need to track schools to ensure they remain aligned to the syllabus.

Page 21
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 3b — The quality of the local Agreed Syllabus
How well does the locally Agreed Syllabus promote effective learning & teaching in RE? Is it “fit for purpose”?

Requires
improvement/struggling
A SACRE in this position would:

not have knowledge of other agreed syllabi nationally. Not have access to professional support with a

national knowledge of high-quality teaching and learning in RE. O

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

ensure that the AS sets out what is to be learnt at each Key Stage. Progression in RE is stated, but this

does not link directly to the learning and there is no clear expectation of quality learning in the AS. O

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

ensure that the AS provides a clear framework for and expectations of learning in RE. Make clear the value
of RE in school, both in terms of learning and of wider issues. Ensure that the AS development has involved
teachers and meets their needs.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

ensure that the AS provides a thoroughly professional and inspirational framework for effective learning in
RE which is proactively supported and promoted by the LA. Have set out clear expectations of the role of
the LA and school leadership in ensuring adequate resources and provision in schools. References
latest RE research that is relevant to help pupils make good progress in RE.

New Agreed Syllabus is in place and has been very well received by schools.

Where are we and where do ¢ ltis well resourced through provision of planning and resources through schemes of work.
T we find evidence to support * Fit for purpose and well supported by approaches to teaching and learning and a framework for implementation.
& this? * Need to ensure engagement at the next Agreed Syllabus Conference to ensure it reflects the latest research.
g * Need to support schools with the provision of appropriate accompanying resources if needed.
o
Page 22
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

/2 abed

Key Area: 3¢ — Launching and implementing the Agreed Syllabus
How well does SACRE promote the AS and provide training to prepare teachers to use it effectively?

Requires
improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

not have a launch for the new syllabus. Not have any in-service training for teachers/schools for
implementing the new AS. Not have the mechanisms to advertise, promote and share the syllabus with local
schools.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

provide for no special launch or other publicity, so that schools are unaware of the significance of the
syllabus revisions for learning and teaching in RE. Have little training provision for implementing the revised
syllabus. Be prevented from providing any significant additional guidance or extended training on using the
AS by a shortage of financial and human resources.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

use other forms of communication (for example the LA website) to promote the launch. Have clear
arrangements for training teachers on implementing the syllabus provided by the LA, this training is well
supported and managed. Provides additional guidance or extended training on using the AS over its life.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

Involve the wider community and use strong media coverage, to give the AS a high profile as an important
development in the work of the LA and local community. The launch event includes high quality
presentations from a range of local religious and worldviews groups, schools and professional LA
officers/councillors. Provides effective training on implementing the AS, which is supported by all schools,
leads to teachers being clear about standards and expectations in the AS and the implications for teaching
and learning. Provides clear guidance about ways in which schools might begin the process of
reviewing their own provision for RE in the light of the revised syllabus.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

* Launch event attended by 91% of all schools and academies in East Sussex.

* Programme of training and support through RE Today funded through the LA.

* Need to support schools in how they might systematically review they own provision considering the Agreed
Syllabus.

Page 23
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

8z obed

Key Area: 3d — Membership and training of the Agreed Syllabus Conference (ASC)
To what extent is the membership of ASC able to fulfil its purpose?

Requires
improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

not have the structures in place to convene an ASC. Not have any admin and advisory support for its work.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

have a membership that fulfils basic statutory requirements. Limited induction and training opportunities;
members are unclear of their roles, or how an AS can be structured. Particular faith or belief groups or
teachers from different phases do not attend. Provide clerking, admin and advisory support for only a very O
limited amount of time or range of work. Routine admin arrangements are in place. Agendas and papers
are distributed.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have a membership that strongly reflects the diversity of the wider religious/worldview and
professional community. Some opportunities for members’ training and the purpose and action plan
for the work of the ASC are clear. Have all four committees well represented at meetings. Agendas and \/
papers are distributed well in advance, so all members have time to consider them carefully. Meetings are
well managed with strong contributions from a wide range of members.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

have a membership that is well informed and highly representative of the diversity of the local community.
Where particular faith or belief expertise is missing locally there are arrangements to work with consultants
to ensure this voice is added into the process. There is a strong, co-ordinated programme of induction and
training opportunities for members. Have lively and purposeful meetings with a wide variety of contributions.
Members of all 4 groups regularly attend and participate fully in meetings, sharing their experience, expertise
and insights. Provide effective admin to support the process

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

* Agendas and papers distributed in advance of meetings and members arrive informed and actively contribute to
discussions.

* Four committees represented at meeting.

* Visitors join meetings to contribute to ‘my world, my faith’ or share their experiences as teachers and leaders.

* Need to widen membership to reflect diversity of belief across the local authority.

Page 24
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

62 obed

Key Area: 3e - Developing the revised agreed syllabus
How robust are the processes for producing a strong educational Agreed Syllabus?

Requires
improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

not have an agreed plan linked to finance for developing their AS. Have met the five-year review deadline of
revising and publishing a new AS.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

have no clear structure for developing a new AS. It does not undertake a thorough revision, tending to add
material rather haphazardly to the existing syllabus, leading to lack of coherence in the final outcome. There
is little or no consultation during the development of a new AS with teachers, SACRE members and the local
religious/worldview communities.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have clear objectives for the revision and involve a wide range of local expertise in its construction. The LA
and the ASC in partnership ensure that strong direction is provided to design an AS which is coherent, clear
and accessible. Working parties and consultations are reasonably managed and supported.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

ensure that high quality advice is sought to review and advise on the revisions as they develop.

The ASC in partnership with the LA holds well attended consultation meetings and briefings to
ensure teachers are fully involved in, and have a sense of ownership of, the revision process. The AS
has a clear framework for progression and challenging learning.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

New Agreed Syllabus involved wide consultation with all stakeholders and an open process for developing the
new syllabus working in partnership with RE Today.

Working mainly online was positive for boosting engagement with the process.

Clear direction of travel and regular networks maintain momentum around the revision of the Agreed Syllabus.
Need for meaningful review and consultation of the current provision ahead of the next Agreed Syllabus
Conference that leads to meaningful adaptation of the syllabus if necessary.

Page 25
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool

v/



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 3f — Making best use of National Guidance
How does the Agreed Syllabus Conference make choices relating to the use of national documentation? (See footnote”)

Requires not be aware of national documentation in relation to the AS review process and are therefore unable to use
improvement/struggling this guidance appropriately. O
A SACRE in this position would:

. have a limited awareness and understanding of national documentation in relation to the AS review process
Developlng_ . and are unable to use national guidance in a coherent way. Have members not fully understanding the
A SACRE with developing . S . : - . . O
practice would: broader curriculum anc_l how this is organls_ed and ha_lvg no oppo_rtumty for tra_nnlng to give them the skills to

understand how RE might best play a part in the holistic education of the child.
Established be aware of national documeptation and some of its implications for the AS review process, but dogs not
A SACRE with established ensure its use reflects local circumstances. Have ASC members who take note of the broader curriculum .
practice would: picture but do not link the AS to it systematically or appreciate how teachers will be able to make use of it to
' link to the wider curriculum in schools.

Advanced take full account of national documentation in the construction of the revised AS, while ensuring their work
A SACRE with advanced reflects local circumstances. The syllabus is devised so that RE fits appropriately with other curriculum \/
practice would: areas at all key stages and guidance about how to make the best links is given to schools.

* Use of national reports and links to national organisations are in place.

* Chair is a member of NASACRE.

* Specialist adviser is a member of AREIAC.

* Use and review reports and research to inform our thinking — e.g. Ofsted subject reports.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

0 abed

*Documentation includes: the Non-Statutory National Framework in RE; the Programmes of Learning in RE (Primary) and Programmes of Study in RE
(Secondary), the new Primary and Secondary Curriculums, and “Religious Education in English schools: “Non-statutory guidance 2010”; CoRE; Big
Ideas in RE publication 1 & 2; Ofsted RE literature review

Page 26
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

TS abed

Section 3: The effectiveness of the locally agreed syllabus
Successes/ What are we good at?

SACRE consulted widely on the introduction of a new Agreed Syllabus. New Agreed Syllabus is well resourced through provision of planning
and resources through RE Today. The launch of the new Agreed Syllabus was well-attended and a funded high-quality training programme is
planned to support with embedding. Networks maintain high levels of engagement and begin the process of teacher input into the ongoing
development process. Key members of SACRE are engaged in national organisations and regularly review key documentation to ensure they are
informed about best practice around the Agreed Syllabus. Momentum has been maintained through the Subject Network Meetings.

Areas for development/ Action points:

° For the SACRE

Need to undertake ongoing review of the implementation of the syllabus.

Need to track schools to ensure they remain aligned to the syllabus.

Need to ensure engagement at the next Agreed Syllabus Conference to ensure it reflects the latest research.

Need to support schools with the provision of appropriate accompanying resources if needed.

Need to support schools in how they might systematically review they own provision considering the Agreed Syllabus.

Need to widen membership to reflect diversity of belief across the local authority.

Need for meaningful review and consultation of the current provision ahead of the next Agreed Syllabus Conference that leads to
meaningful adaptation of the syllabus if necessary.

o Need to consider pupil voice as part of the review of the Agreed Syllabus ahead of the ASC.

0O O OO OO0 O0

e For the LA
Date of review: March 2025

Date of next review: November 2026

Page 27 .

JUly 2021 ' wpphort'!n[;
g trengt g

SACRE self-assessment tool sacre”® ° m;:nlﬁt;l::i;

http://www.nasacre.org.uk


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Section 4. Collective Worship
How effectively does the SACRE fulfil its responsibilities for the provision and practice of Collective Worship?

Maintained schools are required to provide a daily act of Collective Worship for every pupil. In community schools not having a religious
foundation, the acts of CW should be “wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character”, without being distinctive of any particular
denomination. Part of a SACRE'’s role is to support the effective provision of CW in community schools and to advise the LA on issues
related to provision and quality. It must also consider applications from headteachers in community schools that the requirement for CW
to be wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character be disapplied for some or all of the pupils in that school. SACRE ‘determines’ the
appropriateness of that application and grants a ‘determination’ to those schools where the application is judged to be in the best
interests of the pupils. All pupils in schools with determinations continue to have an entitlement to daily CW.

CW can be a rich and rewarding element of the curriculum as a whole and SACREs have the opportunity to enhance its quality by
offering appropriate guidance and support.

Z¢ obed

Page 28
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area:4a — Supporting pupil entitlement
What strategies are in place to enable the SACRE to support the delivery of pupil entitlement in the LA’s schools?

Requires
improvement/struggling
A SACRE in this position would:

not have any knowledge regarding the provision of CW nor have any mechanism in place to gain such
knowledge.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

be unaware of the issues facing schools in providing CW as part of the pupil entittement. Provide little
advice or support towards fulfilling pupil entitlement to CW.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

understand local issues of delivering pupil entitlement and of the challenges schools face in providing CW.

Provide some advice in support of delivering pupil entittement. Seek to ensure that schools had access \/

to, and advice on, appropriate resources for the delivery of CW.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

have a balanced and realistic overview of provision and its challenges across the LA. Provide or arrange for
systematic support and guidance for schools experiencing difficulty in delivering pupil entitlement. Obtain
feedback from schools to evaluate the impact of advice and support. Periodically review its strategies for
supporting pupil entitlement.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support

£¢ obed

o SACRE understand the challenges of delivering collective worship in schools and the different challenges

experienced by primary and secondary schools. SACRE understands the impact of fragmentation of the school

system and the impact of the variable approach to collective worship across schools as a result.
e Collective Worship Guidance published. Training given to Governors in the Local Authority with opportunity to

this? hear feedback from governors themselves. Greater focus on collective worship through networks. Collective
worship included as part of school visits programme.
e Need to consider how to further extend the offer of support to impact the quality of collective worship.
Page 29
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 4b — Enhancing the quality of provision of collective worship
How does SACRE seek to influence the quality of collective worship in the LA’s schools?

Requires
improvement/struggling
A SACRE in this position would:

not be able to influence the quality of CW due to lack of support either from the LA or CW/RE professional.
Have no knowledge of what good quality CW in schools looks like. O

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

not be adequately supported by the LA / RE professional to promote quality provision of CW. Have agenda
items about CW dominated by the issue of how SACRE obtains data. Have little understanding of the nature | [
and potential of CW and of what effective provision in each school might be.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

have occasional agenda items on CW, with some insight into how it is being delivered in the LA’s schools.
Understand what effective provision is, but SACRE members have little ‘hands-on’ experience of CW. V
Promote in-service support for teachers with responsibility for CW. Advise on enhancing quality of
provision.

Advanced A SACRE with
advanced practice would:

have a good overview of quality of provision across the LA, with information from the LA and from
presentations by schools. Have first-hand experience of CW in schools. Disseminate good practice in
consultation with schools and teachers. Sponsor an ongoing programme of in-service development and
assist schools in evaluating and enhancing the quality of their provision.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support

€ obed

* SACRE understands some of the challenges facing schools in delivery of collective worship but recognises more
work in this area needs to be done to encourage consistency and equity in access to entitlement.

e Greater focus on collective worship through networks with dedicated items. Collective worship included as part of
school visits programme allowing members to reflect on what they have seen an build up a picture over time.

is?
this? * Need to further improve offer to schools through in-service training and consider provision of a self-evaluation
tool for schools to use.
Page 30
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

G¢ abed

Key Area: 4c — Responding to requests for determinations
How robust are SACRE’s procedures for responding to requests from schools for a determination?

Requires
improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

not have any understanding of what a determination is. Have no documentation for schools to use to make
application for a determination.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

have had little or no experience of any requests for a determination, and have given at most only minimal
attention as to how it might respond to such a request, due to a lack of support provided to SACRE by the
LA via a professional officer. Found unprepared and at risk of making an unsound decision or giving
erroneous advice by a request for a determination.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

be aware that schools have the option of requesting a determination, and that SACRE has a major role in
this process. Have provided some training to its members regarding determinations, either directly through
working on earlier requests, or through specific elements in developmental sessions. Responds in an
adequate but piecemeal fashion, when requested for a determination, without a systematic overview of this
area of work.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

be fully equipped for responding to requests for determinations, with a good understanding of SACRE’s
responsibilities. Have a well-established and effective framework for responding to requests, with which
members are familiar and comfortable. Meet a request with a judicious and well-informed appraisal of the
request by SACRE, leading to a sound decision communicated clearly to the school in a context of ongoing
advisory support. Periodically review all existing determinations together with keeping the guidance from the
RE professional.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

* Provision in place though rarely tested.
* Determination policy in place.
* Provision needs to be tested to evaluate quality of determinations.

Page 31
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

9¢ abed

Section 4. Collective Worship

Successes/ What are we good at?

SACRE is aware that on the back of the launch of the new Agreed Syllabus, further support, training and resources needs to be given
over to Collective worship.

Areas for development/ Action points:

° For the SACRE

Better understanding of where schools are in relation to deliver of Collective worship

Support, training and resources needs to be given over to Collective worship.

Need to consider how to further extend the offer of support to impact the quality of collective worship.

Need to further improve offer to schools through in-service training and consider provision of a self-evaluation tool for
schools to use.

o [Provision for determinations needs to be tested to evaluate quality of determinations.]

0 O O O

° For the LA

Date of review: June 2025

Date of next review: March 2027

Page 32 .

JU'y 2021 0 wpphort'!n[;
g trengthening

SACRE self-assessment tool sacres™ ° '“;:Dmﬁqi;

http://www.nasacre.org.uk


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

,€ obed

Section 5: Contribution of SACRE to promoting cohesion across the community

How effectively does SACRE, in partnership with the Local Authority and the faith communities, contribute to the promoting of
cohesion across the community?

“By community cohesion, we mean working towards a society in which there is a common vision and sense of belonging by all
communities; a society in which the diversity of people’s backgrounds and circumstances is appreciated and valued; a society in which
similar life opportunities are available to all; and a society in which strong and positive relationships exist and continue to be developed in
the workplace, in schools and in the wider community”2.

Schools play a major role in helping to shape the future of our society, and the duty laid on each school to promote community cohesion
is a significant part of that role. One of the most obvious and effective contributors to the community cohesion agenda is Religious
Education. SACRESs should take every opportunity to promote the contribution of RE to the community cohesion programmes in local
schools. Where properly supported by the LA, SACREs themselves can act as powerful vehicles for promoting community cohesion in
schools, in education more widely, and in the local community. SACREs should exemplify good practice in their internal relations and in
the ways in which they go about their business. Advice on the contribution of SACREs and RE to community cohesion is given in the
Guidance.

2 Alan Johnson, Secretary of State for Education and Skills, speaking in Parliament on 2 November 2006. Based on the Government and the Local Government
Association’s definition first published in Guidance on Community Cohesion, LGA, 2002 and resulting from the Cantle Report in 2001.

Page 33
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

g¢ abed

Key Area: 5a — SACRE’s membership
How representative is SACRE’s membership of the local community?

Requires rarely meet and its membership will include many vacancies. The LA needs to review its membership and
improvement/struggling constitution in partnership with the SACRE and fulfil its obligations to convene an appropriately diverse O
A SACRE in this position would: | SACRE

Developing have a membership that is not necessarily strongly representative of the religious diversity of the local

A SACRE with developing community. Membership needs to be reviewed. \/
practice would:

Established have membership that broadly reflects the religious diversity of the local community. This is regularly

A SACRE with established reviewed by the SACRE in partnership with the LA particularly where there is a high mobility of communities. O
practice would:

Advanced have strqng represgptation from all major Ic_)cal religipug communitigs including different groups within the

A SACRE with advanced same religious tradition (e.g. different Muslim or Christian communities). Endeavours to include O

practice would:

representation from small local faith communities and/or have links with national bodies that can broker
advice from those communities elsewhere in the UK.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support
this?

¢ SACRE is broadly representative but faces challenges in terms of recruitment. Current membership is loyal, but

SACRE is attracting fewer representatives from diverse communities in the county. New chairperson and
change of members present new opportunities to attract members.
o Need to be conscious of implications of local government re-organisation.

Page 34
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

6¢ abed

Key Area: 5b SACRE’s understanding of the local area
How much do SACRE members know and understand the local community in its religious, cultural and ethnic dimensions?

Requires
improvement/struggling

A SACRE in this position would:

meet rarely and this aspect of membership would not be an agenda item when they meet.

Developing
A SACRE with developing
practice would:

have limited knowledge about the religious, cultural and ethnic diversity in the local area.

Established
A SACRE with established
practice would:

be provided with a detailed analysis of the religious and cultural diversity within the LA and therefore
be well aware of different groups representing the diversity within the local area. Know about and
have a relationship with local interfaith groups and the work that they do in the locality.

Advanced
A SACRE with advanced
practice would:

have detailed knowledge of the nature of the religious, ethnic and cultural diversity in the local area. Take
active steps to inform itself further about the distinctive needs and opportunities created by this diversity.
SACRE would have good liaison and seek to develop initiatives with local interfaith groups. Be aware of the
impact of this local context on schools and on the provision for RE and CW in those schools.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support

this?

* SACRE to analyse census data (once published) on religious groups in local area.
e SACRE members have had diversity training in January 2025 which included data on the local area.

Page 35
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 5¢ — SACRE’s engagement with the community cohesion agenda.
How much does SACRE understand the contribution which RE/CW can make to a schools’ provision for community cohesion?
Requires have little or no grasp of what community cohesion means and little understanding of the contribution which
improvement/struggling RE can make to the community cohesion agenda. Have no opportunity to promote RE’s contribution to
A SACRE in this position would: | cohesion.
Developing have a basic grasp of what community cohesion means and therefore a limited understanding of the
A SACRE with developing contribution which RE can make to the community cohesion agenda. Have little opportunity to promote RE’s
practice would: contribution to cohesion.
Established have an understanding of what community cohesion means and the duty on schools to promote this.
A SACRE with established Understand and have a clear commitment to the part RE can play in promoting community cohesion and V
practice would: seek to promote this throughout its work.
Advanced understand what community cohesion means and be clear about the duty on schools and the LA to promote
A SACRE with advanced this. SACRE members appreciate their key role in promoting RE’s contribution to the community cohesion
practice would: offer of its schools. SACRE would ensure this is explicit in the local AS and related guidance.
Where are we and where do * Membership means that im_portar_me of comrr_lunity_ cohesion is understood.
we find evidence to support * Members committed to seeing thls.reﬂeqte_d in their work. o . . _
this? e SACRE me.mber.s have haq dlyer3|ty training in January 2025 which included section on community cohesion.
T ’ * Equalities/diversity a standing item on the agenda.
&
®
S
Page 36
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Key Area: 5d — SACRE’s role within wider LA initiatives on community cohesion
How well is SACRE linked to or consulted about LA initiatives promoting community cohesion?

Requires be given no information about, or contact with, wider LA initiatives linked to the promotion of community
improvement/struggling cohesion.

A SACRE in this position would:

Developing be given little information about, or contact with, wider LA initiatives linked to the promotion of community
A SACRE with developing cohesion. v
practice would:

Established be aware of some LA initiatives promoting community cohesion and have opportunity to discuss and

A SACRE with established contribute to this work.

practice would:

Advanced be a key partner and stakeholder in the work of the local authority in this area. Aware of local interfaith
A SACRE with advanced groups and in regular communication with them to ensure opportunities to support high quality RE/CW in
practice would: schools.

Where are we and where do
we find evidence to support ¢ SACRE members have had diversity training in January 2025 which included section on community cohesion.

this?
o
Q
Q
)
N
H
Page 37
July 2021

SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Zv abed

Section 5: Contribution of SACRE to promoting cohesion across the community

Successes/ What are we good at?
Membership understands the importance of community cohesion and are committed to seeing this reflected in the work of SACRE.
Areas for development/ Action points:

° For the SACRE

SACRE received analysis of the religious and cultural diversity within the LA in recent diversity training (January 2025).
SACRE continues to take steps to ensure good representation on the committee.

Maintain engagement with local authority’s work on community cohesion.

Wider representation across various communities and faith groups.

Be mindful of the upcoming reorganisation of local government.

o O O O O

e For the LA
Date of review: November 2025

Date of next review: June 2027

Page 38 .
July 2021 %2 renginening
SACRE self-assessment tool sacre”® promoting
http://www.nasacre.org.uk


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

£ obed

ANNEX

The responsibilities of a Local Authority
The detailed rights and responsibilities of local authorities can be seen in full in RE in English Schools: Non-statutory guidance 2010.
This can be found at http://www.teachernet.gov.uk/teachingandlearning/subjects/re/guidance/

In brief, local authorities are legally required to:

establish a SACRE and appoint representatives to each of the four committees

establish an occasional body called an agreed syllabus conference (ASC)

institute a review of its locally agreed syllabus every five years

appoint members of the committees represented on the ASC

ensure that membership of Group/Committee A on the SACRE and ASC is broadly representative of the local area
take all reasonable steps to ensure that SACRE and ASC membership is representative

The responsibilities of a SACRE
The detailed rights and responsibilities of SACREs can be seen in full in RE in English Schools: Non-statutory guidance 2010.
This can be found at http://www.teachernet.gov.uk/teachingandlearning/subjects/re/guidance/

In brief, SACRES are legally required to:

o advise the local authority on RE and collective worship

publish an annual report on their work

send the annual report to QCDA (or its successor body)

meet in public, unless confidential information is to be disclosed

make their minutes available to the local authority and make provision for public access to their agenda and reports

The Guidance also indicates that SACREs should, as a matter of good practice:

. Monitor the provision for both RE and Collective Worship

. Provide advice and support on RE and Collective Worship to schools

. In partnership with the local authority, keep the locally agreed syllabus and provision in schools under review
L]

Offer advice to the local authority

In addition, SACREs may:

o Require their local authority to review the locally agreed syllabus
o Decide to advise their local authority
. Co-opt members who are not members of any of the four groups.

The Guidance also makes it clear that SACREs can and should make a strong contribution to the promotion of community cohesion in schools and in the local
community through their promotion of good quality RE and through their operation as a SACRE.

Page 39
July 2021
SACRE self-assessment tool


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/
http://www.teachernet.gov.uk/teachingandlearning/subjects/re/guidance/
http://www.teachernet.gov.uk/teachingandlearning/subjects/re/guidance/

This page is intentionally left blank



D

East Sussex SACRE

Development Plan to Summer 2026
June 2023 (Updated November 2025)

East Sussex
County Council

<




ot abed

Section 1 | Management of the SACRE and partnership with the LA and other key stakeholders
How far does the SACRE’s partnership with the LA enable it to carry out its responsibilities effectively?
Actions Lead Timescale/cost | Success criteria RAG

1A Improve the use of local, national and subject | RE Advisor Ongoing Pupil voice activities take place on an annual
specific grants to maximise opportunities for basis including consideration of a conference.
children and young people. (£500 per annum)

1B Hold meetings at a variety of local places Chairperson Each Meeting SACRE Members broaden their experience of
including local places of worship and faith and education.
schools. At least one meeting per year is held
face-to-face.

1C Develop a clear programme of induction and Chairperson Reviewed annually | All SACRE Members are fully trained and fulfil
ongoing training for SACRE members drawing | RE Advisor their roles and responsibilities.
on national (NASACRE) and local resources.

1D Ensure the development plan is costed, as Chairperson Ongoing A balanced budget is well-managed. Accurate
appropriate. Systematically, review sections CS Rep. self-evaluation is ongoing and feeds into the
of the self-evaluation tool and in turn the Development Plan.
development plan at each meeting.

1E Share detailed and well-analysed information | Network Leads Each meeting SACRE Members understand the impact and
about the quality of provision for Religious consistency of provision across the county.
Education and Collective Worship.

1F Strengthen partnerships with key RE Advisor Engagement with key stakeholders supports
stakeholders including NASACRE, RE Hubs, ALL continuous improvement and raising of
Further Education... standards.

1G Foster strong relationships with academies RE Advisor Ongoing Universal engagement with the Agreed
through training, support and networking. Network Leads Syllabus.

East Sussex SACRE

May 2023 (Updated November 2025)




/v obed

Section 2 | Standards and quality of provision of Religious Education
How effectively does the SACRE, in partnership with the LA, evaluate standards and the quality of provision for RE in schools?
How effective are the strategies to improve standards and the quality of provision?
Actions Lead Timescale/cost | Success criteria RAG
2A Widen the number of SACRE members who ALL Ongoing Programme of visits planned and agreed.
undertake school visits. Members report to RE Advisor Reports evaluated to identify support needs
committee on their learning using the agreed | Network Leads and actions for schools and SACRE.
format.
Provide support that empowers schools to RE Advisor Annually Schools increasingly engage with a variety of
deliver religious education in their context. Network Leads models to successfully deliver provision.
2B Secure an effective reporting cycle for CS Rep. Annually SACRE Members have a full understanding of
academic outcomes and entries. academic performance. LA shares data with
SACRE in a timely way to celebrate success.
Review a cross section of school websites to ALL
ensure the RE curriculum is available. Clerk All schools meeting statutory requirements.
2C Understanding of strengths and areas for RE Advisor Ongoing Support for schools becomes increasingly
development in quality of provision across Network Leads bespoke and delivered school-to-school.
the county leads to targeted support through
networks and beacon schools. Use of the SLE.
2D Further strengthen networks and ways of Network Leads Ongoing Networks provide SACRE with insight into the
communication to support school delivery of provision across the school-system.
engagement e.g., development of website,
use of VSB, maintenance of a contacts list. Examples of effective practice are shared
during network meetings.
Attendance record to network meetings and
other training is kept and shared with SACRE.
2E As 1G
2
East Sussex SACRE

May 2023 (Updated November 2025)



81 abed

Section 3 | The effectiveness of the locally agreed syllabus
How effectively does the SACRE, in partnership with the LA, monitor the impact and evaluate the effectiveness of the agreed syllabus in raising
standards? How effectively does the ASC, in partnership with SACRE, make decisions about the use of national guidance and exemplar material
in a review of the AS?
Actions Lead Timescale/cost | Success criteria
3A Use the networks to further understand the RE Advisor Ongoing SACRE understands the effectiveness of the
quality of implementation, the strengths and Network Leads syllabus and how schools are supporting each
areas for development of the syllabus. other to improve provision.
Undertake a broader mid-point review of the Broader review of syllabus involves wide range
syllabus across all schools. of stakeholders and feeds back to RE Today.
3B Provide schools with tools to enable them to RE Advisor Ongoing Schools openly self-evaluate their own
evaluate the quality of their own curriculum Network Leads provision and support one another in
and encourage sharing of strengths and areas addressing areas for development.
for development.
Support schools in developing a body of high- A well-managed resource of high-quality
quality resources to deliver the syllabus. materials is accessible to schools.
Consideration is given to how best sharing of
some specific resources between schools can
take place.
3C NA
3D NA
3E NA
3F NA
East Sussex SACRE

May 2023 (Updated November 2025)




61 abed

Section 4

Collective Worship

How effectively does the SACRE fulfil its responsibilities for the provision and practice of Collective Worship?

Actions Lead Timescale/cost | Success criteria

4A Understand the challenges faced by schools ALL Year 1 and 2 SACRE Members have engaged with a range of
in the delivery of Collective Worship through RE Advisor schools and can articulate good practice and
school visits, surveying and networks. Network Leads challenges faced by schools.
Monitor provision of collective worship Year 2 and 3 All East Sussex schools meeting statutory
through questionnaires and school visits. requirements for Collective Worship.

4B Provide support and guidance for schools ALL Year 1 and 2 Schools can readily access the necessary
experiencing difficulty in delivering pupil RE Advisor resources to meet expectations.
entitlement. Network Leads
Broaden the training offer to include access Year 2 and 3
to best quality advice on delivery of Collective
Worship.

4C Provide SACRE Members with further training | Chairperson Year 1 SACRE Members meet requests with a
on making Determinations as part of their RE Advisor judicious and well-informed appraisal leading
ongoing training. to a sound decision communicated clearly to

the school.
Regularly revisit the Determinations ALL Ongoing
Procedure to ensure SACRE Members are
familiar with the framework.
East Sussex SACRE

May 2023 (Updated November 2025)

RAG




0S abed

Section 5 | Contribution of SACRE to promoting cohesion across the community
How effectively does SACRE, in partnership with the Local Authority and the faith communities, contribute to the promoting of cohesion across
the community?
Actions Lead Timescale/cost | Success criteria RAG
5A Develop initiatives to ensure diverse Chairperson Ongoing Representation of diverse groups increases
representation on the committee: over time increasingly reflecting the local
e Outreach to different faith groups community.
e My World, My Faith
Co-opt or encourage ad hoc visits from A wide range of different faith groups are
members of a diverse range of faith groups given opportunities to attend meetings, share
to understand the work of SACRE and their their work and understand the work of SACRE.
potential role.
5B Draw on analysis of demographic data to RE Advisor Regular revisiting SACRE Members have a demonstrable
understand religious character of the county ALL understanding of the diversity of faith groups
e.g. Census 2021. across the county and reach out to them to
encourage participation.
Take steps to reflect those communities in Chairperson
the make-up of the committee. ALL
5C Promote community cohesion through Chairperson Annual updates SACRE Members can clearly articulate how
seeking to strengthen engagement with RE Advisor fulfilment of their duties promotes community
SACRE by faith groups and those with ALL cohesion in the county.
worldviews.
SACRE has a known profile in the education
Increase SACRE’s profile in the community by: system.
e Providing profiles and photos for the
SACRE website
e Attending governor forums
e Regularly communicating with schools
through the VSB and CZone
5D Take steps to understand how the local Chairperson Ongoing SACRE Members are well-informed about how
authority promotes community cohesion. ALL the local authority promotes community
cohesion are their role in it.
5
East Sussex SACRE

May 2023 (Updated November 2025)



TG abed

Outcomes and take-up 2022 — 2024

School
England (All Schools)
England (State Funded Schools)®

East Sussex

School
England (All Schools)
England (State Funded Schools)

East Sussex

East Sussex SACRE
May 2023 (Updated November 2025)

2022

645,475

587,660

5,026

Cahort

GCSE Full Course Entries

(9-4)
2022

70.1

68.8

78.2

GCSE Full Course Entries

RE
2023 2024 2022 2023 2024
671,390 697,794 221,410 | 224,436 224,896
606,915 629,207 207,491 | 210,323 210,775
5,062 5,163 937 1,134 1,151
Cohart
2022 2023 2024 2022
645,475 671,390 697,794 221,410
587,660 606,915 629,207 207,491
5,026 5,062 5,163 937

RE

2023
224,436
210,323

1,134

GCSE Full Course % Attainment

{8-5)

60.4
58.7

65.7

2024

224,896

210,775

1,151

(9-4) (9-5) [9-4)
2023

72.2 61.4 72.0

70.8 59.7 70.7

63.6 51.9 63.0

GCSE Full Course %
Take up

2022 2023
34.3 33.4
35.3 34.7

18.6 22.4

{9-5)

2024

61.5
59.9

51.8

2024

322

33.5



This page is intentionally left blank



".' | »
- ’r

E = NN
A handbookfor +

- A & 4
SACRE mem@érs




Contents

4N oo o o Y S 2
JOINING YOUF [OCAI SACRE ...ttt ettt e e e et e e e e e e e e e aate e e e e e e e s s staaeeaaeesanssteseeaesasnssraeeeaanaan 2
What is this handbOok fOr? ........co ittt sbe e e saee e sbe e sabeesaes 2

SECTION 1: SACRE duties, roles and responsibilities ........cccceeiiiiimiiiiiiniiiiiiniiiiineeseseenseesenssesssnsssneens 3
WAt 1S @ SACRE? ...ttt ettt ettt et et e b e e bt b e bt et e bt e b e e bt e bt e bt e bt et e e bt e be e bt e bt eneeneenreens 3
L Y A R o g LT ¢ T Y O 2 SRR 3
What d0ES @ SACRE dO? ....eiiiiiiieiieieeteet ettt ettt ettt et e bt e bt e bt e bt e b et e et e et e e b e e b e ebeebeenbeenreeas 3
What €15 €aNn @ SACRE dO7? ..ottt ettt e bbbt et et et e et e e s be e b e e nbe e beenbeenbeens 5

SECTION 2: SACRE membership, composition, Group representation, roles and responsibilities ................... 6
Who attends the SACRE MEETINGS? ...ttt e e e rr e e e e e et e e e e e s e ntb e eeeeeeesnnstaeeeeessannsennnes 6
How is the membership of @ SACRE d@CIAEA? .......ccouiieiiiiiee ettt ee et e e e et a e e e sateeeeearaeaeeaes 6
The composition OF @ SACRE....... ...ttt e e e e e e st e e e e e e e sttt eeeeesesaasraaaeeeeseansssaeeeeeeennnnes 6
WHhO are the repreSENtAtiVES?.....iii it e e e e e s s ae e e s sbee e e sbeeeeesabeeeesnsseeesnnres 7
What will be my responsibilities as @ SACRE MEMDEI? ....ccocuviiiiiiiee e 8
Do we all have the same responSIDIlILIES? ......cccciiiiiiciiee e e et sree e e ssaraeeeeaes 8

SECTION 3: Religious education and collective WOrship.......cccceieeeieeiiieiiieietencrieniereenerenereeerresserensesenesenns 10
What should | know about religious edUCAtioN? ........occiiiiiiiii i 10
What is a locally Agreed Syllabus fOr RE?.........ciiiiiiii ettt ettt e e e ree e e ae e e e aaee e eanes 10
What is the Agreed Syllabus CONfEIENCE? ........ooi i ee e et e e et e e e 11
What should | know about determinations? ..........cocuoiiiiiiiiiieie et 12
Y= O 0 O T =T o g T{ o £SO 12
Religious teaching from within the faith commuNity.......ccccoooeiiiiii e 12

SECTION 4: Local Authorities and SACRES...........ccccoiriiiiimmuuiiiiiiiiiiieeiiinireereessss e ssssaassss s e e s s ssassssses 13
What are the local authority’s responsibilities regarding its SACRE? ........cccccevviiiiiiviien i 13
Does SACRE’s remit cover all schools in the local authority? .......ccccoveiiiiiiiiiii e 13
How does @ SACRE make its WOrK KNOWN? .......ccuiiiiiiiiiiiiieieieee ettt 13

SECTION 5: FAQs for new SACRE MEMDBEXS......ccciviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieirieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeseeseeeesene 15

APPENDIX: A 800d SACRE MEMDET ......ciiieeiiiiiiiiiiiiieiierirneeeiereeeererassesserasssssernsssssensssssesnsssssesnssssseennssssenns 16

APPENDIX: AN ffectiVe SACRE ......ccuuueeuuuiiuiiiiiiiininiiiniiiiisasisissssasasasasassaaasasssssssasses 17

July 2025
SACRE Handbook
https://www.nasacre.org.uk

Page 1

Page 54

sacre”™

supporting
strengthening

promotng


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Introduction

Joining your local SACRE

This is a handbook for all SACRE members, new or experienced.
It is designed to:

¢ help SACREs become more effective through the informed participation of their members
¢ clarify the context and work of a SACRE
e be a point of reference

As a member of a SACRE you are serving your community and the Local Authority (LA) in an
important way. Whichever community or group you represent, your active participation makes a
valuable contribution to the quality of religious education (RE) and collective worship (CW) that
pupils experience in schools. Your work also makes an important contribution to community
relations locally, thereby building stronger communities.

What is this handbook for?

The handbook is designed as a point of reference for all SACRE members, and to be of interest
and support, particularly to those who are new to the role, by:

¢ explaining the work of a SACRE and the roles of its individual members

¢ helping you understand the nature and purpose of religious education and
collective worship

¢ explaining what the law says about religious education and collective worship

¢ helping you work within your SACRE to support and encourage local schools to ensure
high standards in religious education and collective worship

It is also designed to help SACREs become more effective through the informed participation of
their members.

=" A

1 ; . ' - = "- : V
AR YR
- i

July 2025
SACRE Handbook
https://www.nasacre.org.uk 0 supporting

- strengthening
sacre”® ¥

Page 2

promoting

Page 55


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

SECTION 1: SACRE duties, roles and responsibilities

What is a SACRE?

SACRE stands for Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education.

Why is there a SACRE?

A SACRE is a statutory council appointed by, but separate from, a local authority with
responsibility for education.

SACRE’s main statutory function is to advise the local authority on matters related to religious
education and collective worship in maintained schools. Since 1988, every LA must have a SACRE
by law. SACREs are funded through the Central Schools Services Block (CSSB). The LA has a legal
requirement to take responsibility for making sure SACRE is well supported and that SACRE’s
work connects to schools and their curriculum. There is no other body like it; SACRE is unique.

SACRE’s remit does not extend to voluntary aided schools with regard to RE or CW, or voluntary
controlled schools with regard to CW. Academies are covered by their funding agreement with
government and their relationship to the local authority differs from maintained schools. Many of
these schools and academies value the work of their local SACRE and SACRE’s advice and support.
Working with the LA, SACRE has a responsibility to monitor the provision of RE and CW in all
schools, including academies, to ensure that they are meeting their statutory duty.

July 2025 Page 3 .
SACRE Handbook g ) supporting

https://www.nasacre.org.uk Sacre'°‘. strengthening

promoting

Page 56


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

What does a SACRE do?

The law says that RE must be taught in all maintained schools and a SACRE’s role is to advise its
local authority on what needs to be done to improve religious education and collective worship
for those schools in its area. This is because RE is not part of the National Curriculum (NC); it is
locally determined. Through the SACRE, local communities and teachers can influence and
support what pupils are learning in RE.

The following is adapted from the Non-Statutory Guidance (DCSF, 2010):
Religious Education
A SACRE must:

e advise the LA on RE in accordance with the Agreed Syllabus

e publish an annual report on its work and on actions taken by its
representative Groups, specifying matters on which it has advised the LA

e email a copy of the annual report to the Secretary of State; annual reports
have been analysed by the DfE and NASACRE since September 2021

e meet in public, unless confidential information is to be disclosed

e make minutes of meetings available for public inspection.

A SACRE should:

e monitor the provision and quality of RE taught according to the Agreed
Syllabus, together with the overall effectiveness of the syllabus

e provide advice and support on the effective teaching of RE in accordance
with the locally Agreed Syllabus

e in partnership with the LA, consider whether any changes need to be
made to the Agreed Syllabus

e offer advice to the LA, and through the LA to schools, concerning the way
an existing Agreed Syllabus can be interpreted to fit with a broad,
balanced, coherent and cohesive curriculum.

A SACRE may:

e require the LA to review the Agreed Syllabus; if a vote is taken on this matter,
SACRE Group D (the LA) is not entitled to cast a vote; a majority decision by
the three other committees is sufficient

e decide to advise the LA on matters related to its functions; equally, an LA may
decide to refer matters to the SACRE

e co-opt members who are not members of any of the four SACRE Groups; such
co-opted members may provide educational expertise, young people’s views
or religious and non-religious views, reflecting a diverse multicultural society.

Collective Worship
A SACRE must:

e Advise the LA on matters relating to collective worship, either in response to a
referral from the LA, or as the SACRE sees fit

e consider applications from a headteacher that the school be allowed to
modify the ‘wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character’ requirement for
collective worship. This is known as a determination.

Page 4

Page 57


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

What else can a SACRE do?

SACRE’s role is to support good RE and collective worship within its schools by:

e giving advice on ways of teaching the Agreed Syllabus, including the choice of
teaching materials

e monitoring schools’ provision for RE and collective worship as well as pupils’
spiritual, moral, social and cultural development (SMSC)

e advising the LA on the provision of RE training for teachers

e considering complaints referred by the LA about the provision and delivery of
religious education or collective worship.

Assessment

In order to offer advice, SACRE should monitor school approaches to assessing pupils’ progress in
RE and review the uptake and standards achieved in external religious studies examinations.

Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural Development

SACRE should be aware of the contribution that RE and CW can make to pupils’ personal
development including their spiritual, moral, social and cultural development.

Additionally, members of Groups A and B may support pupils’ awareness of religious beliefs and
their influence on the formation of pupils’ attitudes and values.

The most effective SACREs may also:

e monitor good practice in the delivery of the Agreed Syllabus in a range of
ways, taking note of any difficulties

e disseminate good practice in the teaching of RE

e review provision for in-service training and development

e receive school inspection reports, in whole or part

- i Y o i

July 2025

SACRE Handbook
-

https://www.nasacre.org.uk sacre”’

Page 5

Page 58



http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

SECTION 2: SACRE membership, composition, Group
representation, roles and responsibilities

Who attends the SACRE meetings?

SACRE represents a balance of all the interests of the local community. It may comprise elected
councillors, representatives of faith and belief communities and members of the education
community, including teachers and headteachers, with others representing governors, teacher
training, universities and local academies.

SACRE has two types of members - those appointed by the local authority and those co-opted by
SACRE itself. When the LA appoints a member, they will be in one of four Groups (see below).

Co-opted members do not belong to a specific Group and therefore have no vote, but they can
speak at meetings.

How is the membership of a SACRE decided?

The structure of the SACRE is defined by law; the specific numbers of members in each Group will
usually be set out in the individual SACRE’s constitution, based on the most recent census data.
These are frequently decided by the LA, usually in consultation with the SACRE, depending on
local circumstances and in collaboration with the organisations and communities represented.

The composition of a SACRE

Christian denominations and such other religions and religious denominations as, in
the authority’s opinion, will appropriately reflect the principal religious traditions in
the area

The Church of England

Teacher and headteacher associations and others representing education interests.
Some SACREs ensure representation from different phases and types of schools
such as SEND, academies and Free Schools.

The Local Authority

When a formal vote is required, each of these Groups has equal voting rights; there is one vote
per Group; each group makes its own arrangements for how to decide, most commonly through
internal discussion and then a majority vote.

July 2025
SACRE Handbook
https://www.nasacre.org.uk 0 supporting

- strengthening
sacre”® )

Page 6

promoting

Page 59


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Who are the representatives?

Group A

Group A is made up of representatives of Christian denominations other than the Church of
England. It may include, for example, representatives of the Roman Catholic Church, the
Orthodox Churches, the Free Churches (e.g. Baptist, Methodist, United Reformed Church,
Pentecostal, The Salvation Army) and The Society of Friends. It also has representatives from
other faiths in the area, e.g. Buddhists, Baha’is, Hindus, Jains, Jews, Muslims, Parsees, Sikhs. If
there is no local community of a principal religion, it is common practice to seek representation
so that local SACRE meaningfully reflects the principal religions in Great Britain, consistent with
the efficient discharge of SACRE’s functions.

Following the judgement by Justice Constable on the Bowen v Kent CC case, Bowen, R (On the
Application Of) v Kent County Council [2023] EWHC 1261 (Admin) (26 May 2023) in order to
comply with human rights legislation, the composition of Group A should be read so as to include
the representation of non-religious belief systems.

By law, the make-up of Group A will vary from SACRE to SACRE, as it should reflect the diversity of
the various faith and belief communities in the locality.

Group B

Group B is made up of representatives nominated by the local Church of England diocese, or
dioceses, within the local authority area.

Group C

The members of Group C are usually representatives of professional teacher/headteacher
associations. The local authority decides which associations will be invited to be represented, and
they will usually approach the teacher unions, but local associations of RE teachers may also be
asked to provide a representative. Sometimes a local teacher training establishment is invited to
make a nomination, and/or someone representing the interests of local academies.

Group D

It is the local authority’s responsibility to provide their own representatives for this committee.
They are usually elected members or other political nominees, together with a representative of
Children’s Services. It is good practice for the LA to have all parties and viewpoints from across the
political spectrum represented on the SACRE. In some LAs, a representative of school governors
may also be on Group D.

Co-options

SACREs may co-opt other members who have particular expertise or represent a small local faith
or belief community. Members can be co-opted for a specific time and purpose, or for more
general contribution to SACRE’s work, but as they are not in a Group, they do not have voting
rights.

Page 7

Page 60


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2023/1261.html
https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2023/1261.html

What will be my responsibilities as a SACRE member?

As a SACRE member you should be committed to the importance of religious education and to
respecting the views of others. You have a responsibility to promote children’s learning in RE and
the quality of their CW, and to work for the highest standards in both.

You should represent the perspective of your community or sponsoring body in the work of
SACRE and communicate the interests and the work of the SACRE back to them. You should be
able to network effectively to contribute to the relationship and dialogue between the SACRE,
your sponsoring body, the local community and schools. The specific opportunities you have will
also depend on the organisation you represent. How you present yourself and work with others
will be seen as reflecting on the values and ethos of the body you have been appointed to
represent.

This is a unique opportunity to serve your local community and influence the attitudes of children
and young people more widely than in a purely academic context. Social cohesion is recognised
as being important to our society, and young people as present and future citizens of the UK. The
effective SACRE is a model of social cohesion in which every member is heard and respected, even
when there are many different positions or opinions on issues under discussion. In an effective
SACRE, potential conflict is managed harmoniously. By the same token, SACREs have the potential
to promote social cohesion more widely, in schools and within their local community.

Do we all have the same responsibilities?

Everyone shares the responsibility to put children's learning before personal interest.
Members of Groups A and B, each of whom represents a faith community within the locality:

e should present and foster a realistic image of their religion or belief, so that negative
stereotyping is avoided. They must also make clear any grounds on which they may differ
from each other, whilst showing respect for each other’s viewpoints, since such
convictions and mutual understanding both lie at the heart of effective classroom RE

® can create opportunities within SACRE meetings to raise awareness of sensitive and
controversial issues in teaching RE to the children of their faith community, and also in the
presentation of their faith and religious tradition within religious education, always taking
an educational approach

e should be mindful of any difficulties local schools are facing, support their best endeavours,
and where necessary, act as a link between schools and the faith communities

e should be aware of other local minority faith communities not represented; some
SACREs address this and co-opt representatives from these communities

e consult with their communities on matters of particular importance to SACRE’s work.

Page 8

Page 61


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Members of Group C, representing teacher associations and education:

e should have a real and positive interest in RE in primary, secondary or special schools

e should ensure that the needs of schools and teachers are considered by the SACRE
in their discussions

e should provide the SACRE with information about the context in which RE is taught in the
schools in the local authority

e should ensure that the bodies they represent are informed about the work of the SACRE
and about RE in local schools

e should create opportunities for other teachers to learn more about the work of the SACRE
and give them the opportunity to have their views expressed at SACRE meetings

e should consult their colleagues on matters of particular importance to SACRE’s work

e should bring a ‘public’ dimension to the debate about RE provision and support.

Members of Group D, representing the local authority:

* bring the concerns of the electorate for consideration

* bring to the meeting the breadth of educational issues and concerns that elected
members are wrestling with, and place the role of RE within them

* can be supporters of RE within the various committees and structures of the LA

e can give political support to enable locally determined RE to flourish within the LA

* canappreciate the issues raised by a multi-faith, multicultural society and reflect these
issues in support of RE in the relevant council structures

e can particularly support the efforts of the SACRE to be effective, through publicising its
work with fellow elected members and officers of the LA, ensuring it is taken seriously and is
appropriately funded and supported by advisers.

July 2025
SACRE Handbook
https://www.nasacre.org.uk Py supporting

sacre”™

Page 9

strengthening

promotng

Page 62


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

SECTION 3: Religious education and collective worship

Community/maintained
schools

is taught according to the local
authority’s agreed syllabus and comes
within SACRE’s remit.

follows the 1996 Education Act and is
‘wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian
character’.

Voluntary controlled
(VC) schools

is taught according to the local
authority’s agreed syllabus and comes
within SACRE’s remit.2

reflects the religious character of the
school.

Voluntary aided (VA)
schools

is determined by the governors in
accordance with the trust deed and
reflects the religious character of the
school.1

reflects the religious character of the
school.

Foundation schools
without a religious
character

is taught according to the local authority’s
agreed syllabus.

follows the 1996 Education Act and is
‘wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian
character’.

Foundation schools
with a religious
character

is taught according to the local authority’s
agreed syllabus.2

reflects the religious character of the
school.

Trust schools

is taught according to the local authority’s
agreed syllabus.

follows the 1996 Education Act and is
‘wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian
character’.

Academies without a
religious character

must be part of the curriculum but is taught
according to the school’s funding
agreement.

must be offered to every pupil every day,
but provision is determined by the school’s
funding agreement.

Academies with a
religious character

is defined by the funding agreement and is
usually that same as the former (VA/VC)
status of the school.

reflects the religious character of the
school.

What should | know about religious education?

Religious education is a statutory element of the school curriculum. Although it is not part of the
National Curriculum, it forms part of the Basic Curriculum, which along with the NC, forms the
statutory school curriculum; it is therefore part of every pupil’s entitlement.

Religious Education does not seek to nurture religious faith, rather it provokes challenging
guestions about meaning and purpose, the nature of reality and the self, issues of right and
wrong and what it means to be human.

What is a locally Agreed Syllabus for RE?

The locally Agreed Syllabus is the statutory document for RE in maintained schools in the local
authority. It sets out what should be taught to pupils in all key stages and the standards expected
at the end of each key stage. It is produced by an Agreed Syllabus Conference (ASC).

The Agreed Syllabus must be reviewed every five years. If, at some other time, a majority of the
SACRE Groups (excluding Group D) asks the LA in writing to reconsider its Agreed Syllabus, it must
convene an Agreed Syllabus Conference for that purpose. (Education Act 1996, Chapter Ill)

July 2025
SACRE Handbook Page 10
https://www.nasacre.org.uk ¢ supporting
SaCt‘e’ y strengthening
Df\.‘l(ﬂ()ﬂﬁi',

Page 63


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

What is the Agreed Syllabus Conference?

An Agreed Syllabus Conference (ASC) is a statutory body brought together to produce an Agreed
Syllabus for RE. It is a separate legal entity from a SACRE.

An ASC:

e has the same structure as the SACRE, but Groups are referred to as Committees
e can be made up of some SACRE members but need not be so; there is no provision for co-
opted members

In some LAs, the Chair of the ASC is appointed by the LA, whilst in others, the ASC chooses its own
Chair. The LA’s responsibility to convene the ASC includes the duty to provide funds and support
for its work.

If the ASC cannot agree a syllabus, the Secretary of State appoints a Conference to ensure there is
a syllabus for that LA.

What should | know about collective worship?

Schools are required to provide a daily act of collective worship, the majority of which would be
‘wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character’. This means that it ‘reflects the broad traditions
of Christian belief without being distinctive of any particular Christian denomination’. It does not
mean it has to be exclusively Christian. It must, however, be educational and appropriate to the
age, aptitude and family background of pupils. When done well, collective worship provides an
excellent opportunity for schools to contribute to pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural
(SMSC) development and to the ethos of the school community.

In relation to collective worship, SACREs should:
* receive inspection reports, noting any references to the quality of collective worship in
the context of pupils’ SMSC development, including Fundamental British Values
e monitor the quality of provision where possible and share good practice
o offer advice to headteachers and governing bodies, including where there may be
difficulties.

Many SACREs produce their own advice and guidance on collective worship. The SACRE may also
provide training for teachers, headteachers and governors or other people who are involved in
leading collective worship in school as visitors.

July 2025
SACRE Handbook Page 11
https://www.nasacre.org.uk ¢ supporting
SaCI’e’ y strengthening
Df\_‘lﬂ]()ﬂﬁ[:

Page 64


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

What should | know about determinations?

Schools apply for a determination if they feel that the proportion of collective worship which
reflects the broad traditions of Christian belief as required by law is not appropriate for their
pupils. That does not mean they do not have to offer collective worship at all.

The determination procedure allows this requirement to be lifted in respect of some or all pupils
in a school. They are called determinations because SACRE ‘determines’ whether the case being
made in an application to modify the law for all, or a group of, pupils in a school is appropriate.

Applications for determinations are made to the SACRE by the headteacher of any community
school after consultation with the school’s governing body.

Determinations are only possible for schools that do not have a religious character. Many SACREs
have an agreed process to enable such an application to take place. The SACRE should review
each determination every five years.

Parent/Carer rights

Parents/carers have the right, on conscience grounds, to withdraw their children, in any school,
from all or any part of RE and collective worship. Sixth form students aged 18 may withdraw
themselves from collective worship.

Parents also have certain rights regarding the provision of RE in different categories of school.
However, these rights are rarely exercised.

e In Aided schools”, parents can opt for their children to receive Agreed Syllabus RE
e Inthese schools, parents can opt for their children to receive RE in accordance with the
religious character of the school

In community schools and foundation schools without a religious character, where parents ask to
withdraw their child from religious education, alternative RE provision for that child can be made
elsewhere by the parents, provided there are no additional costs to the school and the child does
not miss any of the taught sessions of the school curriculum.

The school continues to have responsibility for ensuring any pupil withdrawn from RE is
supervised and safe. (*See RE and collective worship in school table, page 10.)

Religious teaching from within the faith community

SACRE members should be aware that some pupils will be formally receiving teaching about their
own religion from their parents or through attendance at classes sponsored by their place of
worship. The purpose of this teaching will usually differ from that of the religious education
delivered in their schools, and the approach to learning may differ significantly.

There is a clear distinction between this religious nurture, which is the responsibility of the family
and community, and religious education, by nature an open and explorative activity, appropriate
in schools. It is important that the home and community background of the pupils is recognised
and respected in school, but also that the educational approach is understood to promote
reflection on faith and belief stances. SACREs might consider how they will support schools and
communities in understanding each other's different roles to ensure that any potential tension is
creative rather than threatening.

Page 12

Page 65


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

SECTION 4: Local Authorities and SACREs

What are the local authority’s responsibilities regarding its SACRE?

Every local authority has a duty to ensure that:

e thereis a SACRE

e allfour Groups are represented

e thereis an Agreed Syllabus, reviewed every five years

e supportisin place to enable SACRE to fulfil its duties, which includes providing
appropriate clerking and specialist advice

e it takes note of, and responds to, advice from the SACRE.

Does SACRE’s remit cover all schools in the local authority?

No, SACRE’s responsibility covers the majority of schools, but there are some exceptions,
depending entirely on the category of a school. Some schools have a specific religious character
and these are either voluntary aided (VA) i.e. voluntary schools, aided by the LA but controlled by
a religious body, or voluntary controlled (VC) i.e. voluntary schools, controlled by the local
authority and aided by a religious body. The difference from SACRE’s perspective is crucial. There
are also some non-religious schools for which SACRE has no responsibility, including new
academies, although many SACREs engage and work with academies, including the development
and provision of the Agreed Syllabus. (See RE and collective worship in school table, page 11.) SACREs
have a responsibility to monitor provision in all schools to ensure that they are fulfilling their
statutory duty to provide RE for all registered pupils.

July 2025
SACRE Handbook
https://www.nasacre.org.uk o supporting

PR strengthening
sacre”e

Page 13

promoting

Page 66


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

How does a SACRE make its work known?

Local Authorities

The relationship between SACREs, local authority officers and elected members is important.
SACRE's proceedings need to be reported to the appropriate LA committee where decisions are
made about the education service and schools. The agreed minutes of meetings should be
brought to their attention and made public, and the SACRE's Annual Report should be formally
presented. Where such a person is in post, the local RE adviser is a vital source of professional
guidance, support, advice, information, and practical expertise for the SACRE. His or her
attendance at SACRE meetings is essential.

Local authority representatives on SACRE also have a role in ensuring SACRE’s work, and any
issues of concern raised are brought to the attention of the relevant sections of the council and
the local authority.

Schools

Many schools seem unaware of the
responsibilities and activities of their local
SACRE. The specialist expertise on different
faiths represented on a SACRE may be a
source of advice to schools, being reliably
representative of their local community.
Some SACREs also hold their meetings in
schools where they can meet and hear from
pupils and teachers working there with a
responsibility for RE or CW.

Faith communities

Sometimes SACREs hold meetings in local
places of worship to build relationships.
Individual faith community members have a
responsibility to inform those they represent
about the activities of the SACRE. They
should also be available to receive the views
of their community to feed into SACRE
discussions.

It is good practice to send the SACRE annual
report to the faith communities represented
on the SACRE. It should also routinely be
sent to local libraries and be on the agenda
of the local Inter Faith Group or Faith Forum.

General public

SACRE meetings are by law open to the general public and notice of all meetings should be
published, usually on the council’s website. In the event of anyone requesting them, relevant
documents should be made available.

July 2025
SACRE Handbook Page 14
https://www.nasacre.org.uk : I

- strengthening
sacre”® ¥

promoting

Page 67


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

SECTION 5: FAQs for new SACRE members

How often does a SACRE meet?

There is no hard and fast rule about the number of meetings a SACRE should hold each year. It
must, however, meet a sufficient number of times to fulfil its statutory duties. Almost all SACREs
meet at least three times a year, i.e. once a term, and some are more active and meet more
frequently. Sometimes working parties made up of SACRE members meet between full meetings
to move forward specific areas of the SACRE’s work.

Will | be asked to chair the meeting?

The law does not state how the Chair of SACRE should be appointed. The local authority can
appoint the Chair or it can allow the SACRE to elect the Chair from amongst its members. As a
SACRE member, you could therefore be appointed Chair of SACRE, but not against your will!

Will | be asked to take the minutes?

The local authority’s responsibility to set up a SACRE carries with it a duty to fund and ensure it
can function efficiently. This means the LA should provide a clerk for the SACRE who will agenda
and minute each meeting. The clerk is usually the point of contact for SACRE matters within the
local authority.

If I’'m not there, will it matter?

When you are unable to be present, it may be that noone else will be able to provide your special
knowledge or make connections to your specialist networks to support the SACRE’s work.

SACRE has a right to expect a level of commitment from its members, reflected in regular
attendance at meetings. When this is not possible, it is common practice and polite convention to
send apologies for absence.

Some SACREs invite members from whom they have not received apologies on three consecutive
occasions to confirm their interest in continuing to serve. Some SACREs allow members who
cannot attend to send someone else on their behalf. Some SACREs hold hybrid meetings, where
members who cannot attend in person can do so virtually. Remember that when you are unable
to be present, noone else will be able to provide your special knowledge in any discussions or
make connections to your specialist networks to support SACRE’s work.

Rules about quoracy are usually laid down in an individual SACRE’s constitution, but generally:

e each Group should have a least one member present at each meeting

e decisions cannot be made unless there is at least one person present to cast the Group’s
single vote

e co-opted members do not have a vote.

This applies particularly to meetings at which decisions are to be made.

Page 15

Page 68


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

APPENDIX: A good SACRE member ...

In pairs or small groups, consider how you would rank each of these characteristics of a good SACRE member,
the most important first and the least significant last, discarding any that you think are inappropriate.

.. listens to all views and ideas.

.. seeks to understand the views of other members, rather than promoting his/her own agenda.

.. is willing to contribute to discussions.

.. understands his or her role as a SACRE member.

... thinks his or her point of view is important.

.. is committed to SACRE meetings.

.. is well informed about the work of their SACRE.

.. works harmoniously with other members.

.. has time to spend in school.

.. listens more than he or she speaks.

.. wants to build good partnerships with other SACRE members.

.. is keen and able to communicate with teachers and pupils.

... takes an active participative approach, following lines of enquiry of personal interest.

.. supports and encourages local schools to aspire to high standards in RE and collective worship.

.. is prepared to bring issues to SACRE from their faith, belief or other sponsoring group.

.. cares about pupils’ learning and their personal development.

.. is confident about everything to do with RE and CW in schools.

... takes an active part in meetings.

.. is able to offer relevant experiences.

.. understands and believes in the positive value of RE and CW in schools.

.. keeps in touch with national issues in RE and CW.

.. knows about local faith communities.

.. has the ability and confidence to question perceived wisdom.

... takes an interest in key RE and CW issues facing schools.

.. works to create a bridge between SACRE, local communities and local schools.

July 2025
SACRE Handbook
https://www.nasacre.org.uk

Page 16

Page 69


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

APPENDIX: An effective SACRE ...

In pairs or small groups, consider how you would rank each of these characteristics of an effective SACRE, the
most important first and the least significant last, discarding any that you think are inappropriate.

.. plans and evaluates its work rigorously.

.. is representative of the variety of beliefs within the local community.

.. understands the difference between RE and religious indoctrination and focuses its work appropriately.

.. promotes inclusivity and social cohesion.

.. is well attended by committee members and consistently quorate.

.. is well chaired.

.. is one that works strategically.

.. is able to secure adequate funding from its LA.

.. has a good partnership with the LA.

.. is one that uses its resources wisely and efficiently.

.. has professional RE advice and support from the LA.

.. demonstrates a hands-on approach with schools and their staff.

.. is committed to making RE relevant, interesting, appropriate, exciting and thoroughly enjoyable.

.. is one where there is good listening and communicating.

... gives information in plain English.

.. has a committed membership.

.. is able to offer schools advice and support through well informed members.

.. is generally aware of issues related to pupils’ progress in RE.

.. is representative of the interests of the local community.

... constantly seeks to self-evaluate and improve.

.. is proactive not passive.

.. provides or secures relevant training for RE teachers.

.. monitors schools’ RE provision and offers them support in self-review.

.. works to develop strong partnerships between SACRE members in order to model the cohesion they
belleve that should develop in their community.

.. advises its LA on RE, CW and the promotion of pupils’ SMSC development and social cohesion.

.. encourages and values the contribution of all members and ensures they know they’re appreciated.

.. responds readily to national or international issues relating to its sphere of interest.

July 2025
SACRE Handbook Page 17
https://www.nasacre.org.uk ) R

Page 70


http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

East Sussex SACRE

Induction for New Members
November 2025

e:%

o

East Sussex
County Council




SACRE Induction

Welcome to East Sussex SACRE'
Thank you for joining East Sussex SACRE.

Serving on East Sussex SACRE is a rewarding experience which supports your local
community in an important way. Whichever group you represent, your active
participation can make a valuable contribution to the quality of religious education
and collective worship that pupils experience in our schools and to the coherence of
our community.

What is SACRE?

SACRE stands for: Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education. SACREs were
established as permanent bodies legally constituted by local authorities by the
Education Reform Act 1988.

The role of SACRE is to advise the local authority on religious education and
collective worship in community, foundation and voluntary controlled schools
without a religious designation.

What is the purpose of a SACRE?

A SACRE is unique. The law says that RE must be taught in all schools and a SACRE’s
role is to advise its local authority on what needs to be done to improve religious
education (RE) and collective worship (CW) for schools in its area. This is because RE
is not part of the National Curriculum; it is a local responsibility. Through the
SACRE, local communities and teachers can influence directly what pupils learn in
RE.

Who attends meetings?
A SACRE is set up to represent a balance of all the interests of the local community.
Each SACRE is made up of four groups:

e GroupA
Christian denominations other than the Church of England and
representatives from faiths in the local area

e GroupB

Church of England
e GroupC

Associations representing teachers
e GroupD

Local authority representatives

In addition, SACRE can co-opt people to support its work.

' Adapted from NASACRE’s “Your Local SACRE”

East Sussex SACRE 2

November 2025
Page 72



What are SACRE’s duties?

The SACRE’s main function is to advise the local authority on matters related to the
religious education, which follows the locally agreed syllabus, and on collective
worship in schools.

e It can require the LA to review its agreed syllabus.

e It must consider applications from a headteacher that the school be allowed
to modify the ‘wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character’ requirement
for collective worship. (This is known as a determination.).

e It must publish an annual report of its work.

In a broader sense, SACRE’s role is to support good RE and collective worship within
its schools by:

e Giving advice on ways of teaching RE according to the locally Agreed
Syllabus, including the choice of teaching materials.

e Monitoring schools’ provision for RE and collective worship as well as the
spiritual, moral, social, and cultural development (SMSC) of pupils.

e Advising the LA on the provision of training for teachers in RE.

e Considering complaints about the provision and delivery of religious
education and collective worship referred to it by the LA.

What is a locally agreed syllabus?

The locally agreed syllabus is the statutory document for RE in the local authority. It
sets out what should be taught to pupils in all key stages and the standards
expected of them at the end of each key stage. It is produced by an agreed syllabus
conference.

The agreed syllabus must be reviewed every five years. If, at some other time, a
majority of the members of SACRE asks the LA in writing to reconsider its agreed
syllabus, it must convene a conference for that purpose.

And collective worship?

By law every pupil must take part in a daily act of collective worship unless they
have been withdrawn by their parents, or if in the sixth form they have decided to
withdraw themselves. Most acts of collective worship should be wholly or mainly of
a broadly Christian character.

As with RE, SACRE has a monitoring role, but it also makes decision on
determinations.

Determinations?

A school can apply to SACRE for a determination to provide alternative collective
worship if it feels that collective worship which reflects the broad traditions of
Christian belief is not appropriate for their pupils. Applications for determinations
are made to the SACRE by the headteacher of any community school after
consultation with the school’s governing body.

East Sussex SACRE 3

November 2025
Page 73



Determinations are only possible for schools that do not have a religious character.
Many SACREs have an agreed process to enable such an application to take place.
(They are called determinations because SACRE ‘determines’ whether the case being
made in an application to modify the law for all or a group of pupils in a school is
appropriate.)

What are my responsibilities as a SACRE member?

As a SACRE member, you should be committed to education and to respecting the
views of others. You will have responsibility to support children’s learning in RE and
collective worship, and to work for the highest standards in both.

You should represent your community or sponsoring group in the work of SACRE
and communicate the interests of the SACRE back to them. You should be able to
network effectively to contribute to the relationship between SACRE, your local
community, and schools. The specific opportunities you have will also depend on
the interest group you represent.

How does SACRE fulfil its role??

Being part of the team

In East Sussex SACRE meets three times a year. All SACRE meetings and documents
are open to the public. SACRE agendas, minutes and papers are published seven
days before the meeting on the council website. SACRE discusses the issues set
before it, considers evidence in the papers and then discusses whether to make any
recommendations. All members are expected to attend and contribute to meetings
and to take part in other working groups that may be set up.

Before your first meeting

e Find out who's who - especially the Chair, the Clerk and Officer.

e Ask the Clerk for the username and password for the National Association of
SACRE's website (NASACRE).

e Ask the Clerk for the SACRE development plan, the minutes of the last
meeting and the agenda for the next meeting.

e Be clear about where and when your first meeting is (virtual or venue).

e Ask the Clerk for the username and password to access the Locally Agreed
Syllabus.

Preparing for a SACRE meeting

e Members will find it helpful to check the NASACRE website for current RE
news. Members who are also teachers can visit the NATRE website for
updates.

e Look at your local SACRE website to familiarise yourself with the members
and its current actions:

o Committee details - Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education
(SACRE) | East Sussex County Council

% Adapted from NATRE’s “Being on Your Local SACRE”

East Sussex SACRE 4

November 2025
Page 74


https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=163
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=163

o Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE) | Czone
(eastsussex.gov.uk)

At the meetings
e Get to know your fellow SACRE members, there may be useful links for you in
your local area and vice-versa.
e Take note of any area you can make contributions, remember, each member
offers their own insight into their community.

Between meetings
e Keep checking the NASACRE and SACRE websites and email relevant
information to the Chair of SACRE.
e Request for important issues to be added to the agenda of the next meeting.
e Familiarise yourself with existing documentation,
e Read papers for your next meeting.

Other activities of SACRE?
SACRE Activities may include:

e Reviewing the Agreed Syllabus.

e Undertaking school visits to see the provision for religious education and
collective worship.

e Ensuring there is sufficient training for teachers of religious education.

e Responding to complaints about religious education or collective worship.

e Reviewing data on Religious Studies examinations.

e Reading Ofsted reports for comments on religious education, collective
worship, and Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural education (SMSC).

e Visiting schools or organising events to promote good practice in religious
education, collective worship or SMSC.

e Publishing guidance to schools on religious education, collective worship or
SMSC.

* Adapted from “Introduction to Ealing SACRE”

East Sussex SACRE 5

November 2025
Page 75


https://czone.eastsussex.gov.uk/teaching-and-learning/sacre
https://czone.eastsussex.gov.uk/teaching-and-learning/sacre
http://www.nasacre.org.uk/

Membership of East Sussex SACRE - June 2025

Group A - Representatives of other Christian denominations and other Religions and beliefs (15)

Denomination/Area Name Appointment
Diocese of Arundel & Brighton Vacancy

Hinduism Community Vacancy

Islamic Community Vacancy

Quaker Community Vacancy

Baha’i Community Elizabeth Coleman June 2021
Jewish Community Pamela Hartog June 2021
Southeastern Baptist Association Peter White (Vice Chairperson) June 2021
Unitarian Church Dr Norman Williamson June 2021
Humanist Community Felicity Harvest June 2024

Group B - Representatives of the Church of England (4)

Church of England Representative

Andrew Jervis

September 2025

Church of England Representative Rosemary Roberts June 2021
Church of England Representative Vacancy
Church of England Representative Vacancy

Group C - Representative of the Teacher Associations (6)

Denomination/Area

Name

Appointment

National Association of Headteachers
NAHT (Primary Phase)

Laura Cooper

June 2021

Academy Representative Peter Holt September 2025
(Secondary Phase)
National Education Union (NEU) Claire Ramalli June 2021

Special Schools Representative
(Special)

Karen Sitwell-Cook

February 2025

Group D - Representatives of the Local Authority (5)

Local Authority Representative CliIr Colin Belsey (Chairperson) June 2021
[09/09]

Local Authority Representative Cllr Abul Azad June 2022
[05/21]

Local Authority Representative

Cllr Steve Murphy

November 2022
[05/21]

Local Authority Representative Clir Trevor Webb June 2021
[05/97]

Local Authority Representative Cllr Anne Cross May 2025
[07/23]

Local Authority Advisors [No voting rights]

RE Consultant

Barry Blakelock

East Sussex County Council Advisor

Claire Ramalli

Primary Network Lead

Claire Rivers

Secondary Network Lead

Vacancy

Clerk

Rebecca Harmer

East Sussex SACRE
November 2025

Page 76




Induction Checklist

Activity v

People
Meet the Chairperson
Meet the Clerk
Meet the RE Specialist Advisor
Meet the Primary Network Lead
Meet the Secondary Network Lead
Meet the Children’s Services Representative
Meet ‘Link Member’ to support induction
e On attending first meeting
e After attending second meeting
e During completion of induction checklist
Activities
Attend a SACRE Meeting
Attend a Primary/Secondary Network Meeting
Attend a Governor Briefing
Watch NASACRE So, you've joined your local SACRE... @VTW5eAX
Documentation
NASACRE Member Handbook
Induction Checklist
Code of Conduct
Constitution
Annual Report
Role Descriptions
Development Plan
Self-evaluation
Local Agreed Syllabus (password required) - Schemes of Work
Understanding Christianity (understandingchristianity.org.uk)
Websites
RE and collective worship in schools (www.gov.uk)
NASACRE (NASACRE.org.uk)
Username: members
Password: 2425Gr8RE4a7L!
SACRE | East Sussex County Council
SACRE | Czone (eastsussex.gov.uk)
Explore RE in your Region (re-hubs.uk)
RE Today supporting Religious Education in schools
NASACRE Training
About SACREs
SACREs and Collective Worship
SACREs and Religious Education
SACREs and Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural
Other presentations and recordings

East Sussex SACRE 7

November 2025
Page 77


https://us02web.zoom.us/rec/share/hQ2hKJPptA5OeD2lQRo66UgCxsfA7eHJqb1aRKSpP-ubdzW5ODAFvIVNkK7wCTL4.O9i7SxPQ4X4SoaC3
https://www.retoday.org.uk/school-support/resources/schemes-of-work/
https://www.understandingchristianity.org.uk/
https://nasacre.org.uk/
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=163
https://czone.eastsussex.gov.uk/teaching-and-learning/sacre
https://www.re-hubs.uk/
https://www.retoday.org.uk/
https://www.nasacre.org.uk/file/nasacre/about-sacres.pdf
https://www.nasacre.org.uk/file/nasacre/sacres-and-collective-worship.pdf
https://www.nasacre.org.uk/file/nasacre/sacres-and-religious-education-1.pdf
https://www.nasacre.org.uk/file/nasacre/sacres-and-smsc-1.pdf
https://nasacre.org.uk/training-and-support/presentations-recordings/

This page is intentionally left blank



D

East Sussex SACRE

RE and Collective Worship Self-reflection tool
October 2025

East Sussex
County Council

<




08 abed

THIS IS AN OPTIONAL TOOL TO HELP SCHOOLS REFLECT ON THEIR PROVISION FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION AND COLLECTIVE WORSHIP

School:

Date of self-reflection:

Completing the self-reflection
When answering the questions subject leaders should consider the impact of teaching and learning on pupils.

In each section, we recommend using:

e Y-lInplace
e N-—Notin place
e P —Partlyin place.

The other columns allow for a brief explanation of the current position, the quality of provision, evidence behind those judgements and what
areas need developing in the future.

Is there a clear policy for RE, matching other policies in school?

Is there a scheme of work for RE that ensures delivery of the most up to date
version of the local Agreed Syllabus?

Is adequate time allocated to RE? (About 5% of timetable.)

Does the school website inform parents of their right to withdraw their children
from RE? Are teachers aware of their right to withdraw from teaching RE?
How many pupils are withdrawn from RE?

How are withdrawn pupils supervised?

Is there a teacher with responsibility for RE? Are they an RE specialist?

Does RE feature in the school’s improvement plan?

Is the subject leader given time and opportunities to develop their subject
knowledge? Are other staff?

Is the RE curriculum and teaching monitored regularly?

Does monitoring influence plans for the development of RE?

Based on a self-review designed by Penny Smith-Orr, RE Consultant to Croydon Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE)
East Sussex SACRE
June 2025



T8 abed

THIS IS AN OPTIONAL TOOL TO HELP SCHOOLS REFLECT ON THEIR PROVISION FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION AND COLLECTIVE WORSHIP

Is assessment aligned to local Agreed Syllabus?

Is assessment used to inform future teaching?

Do teachers use a variety of strategies in lessons to engage pupils e.g. drama,
artefact handling, ICT, video, music, dance, written work?

Are learning outcomes expressed in relation to the three elements of the teaching
and learning approach (making sense of beliefs, understanding the impact, making
connections)?

Is formative assessment undertaken regularly?

Is there a report to parents on progress in RE at least annually?

Is there sufficient budget for resources?

Are there adequate artefacts, books, posters, licenses etc.?

What further resources would be useful?

How well does teaching in each key stage meet the needs of all pupils?

What are the strengths of RE teaching in your school?

What are the areas for development?

How well do pupils achieve in the subject?

Do pupils know more and remember more over time?

How do you know?

To what extent does RE contribute to personal development?

To what extent does RE contribute to the spiritual, moral social and cultural
education of pupils?

How inclusive is RE?

To what extent does it reflect the lives of pupils in school?

Based on a self-review designed by Penny Smith-Orr, RE Consultant to Croydon Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE)
East Sussex SACRE
June 2025



28 abed

THIS IS AN OPTIONAL TOOL TO HELP SCHOOLS REFLECT ON THEIR PROVISION FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION AND COLLECTIVE WORSHIP

Is there a daily act of Collective Worship?

What form does this take e.g. whole school, year group, class, form time?

Is there a separate policy for Collective Worship, matching other policies in
school?

Who is responsible for Collective Worship planning and themes?

Are records kept of Collective Worship content? Are they evaluated over time for
quality?

Do all adults and pupils working in the school attend Collective Worship?

Does Collective Worship involve a variety of leaders, including pupils, staff and
visitors?

Is there a specific way to mark the difference between assembly and Collective
Worship?

Does the school website inform parents of their right to withdraw their children
from Collective Worship?

How many pupils are withdrawn from Collective Worship?

How are withdrawn pupils supervised?

Is there an opportunity to pause, reflect and/or prayer?

Is there regular contact with a local minister?

Is there contact with ministers of other faiths?

Based on a self-review designed by Penny Smith-Orr, RE Consultant to Croydon Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE)
East Sussex SACRE
June 2025



eg abed

THIS IS AN OPTIONAL TOOL TO HELP SCHOOLS REFLECT ON THEIR PROVISION FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION AND COLLECTIVE WORSHIP

Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools

Do governors ensure that RE is taught according to the locally agreed syllabus set by
the local SACRE?

Do governors make sure RE is provided for all pupils, unless they have been
withdrawn by their parents?

Do governors ensure that sufficient time and resources are allocated to RE within the
curriculum?

Do governors monitor the quality and impact of RE teaching as part of their oversight
of the curriculum?

Do governors support the headteacher in ensuring staff are appropriately trained and
confident to deliver RE?

Do governors ensure that a daily act of collective worship takes place for all pupils?
Voluntary Aided Schools

Do governors ensure that RE is taught in line with the school’s trust deed or religious
character?

Do governors oversee the content and delivery of RE to ensure it reflects the school’s
faith ethos?

Do governors ensure that teachers of RE are appropriately qualified and that the
curriculum reflects the denominational teaching required?

Do governors ensure that collective worship reflects the school’s religious character?
Academies and Free Schools

Do governors ensure RE is provided in line with the funding agreement?

If the academy has a religious designation, do governors ensure RE is taught in
accordance with its faith ethos?

If it does not, do governors ensure RE reflects the fact that the religious traditions of
Great Britain are mainly Christian, while taking account of other principal religions?
Do governors provide daily collective worship as set out in their funding agreement?
If faith-designated, do governors ensure worship reflects the religious character of
the school?

If not faith-designated, do governors ensure worship is broadly Christian in character,
with flexibility similar to that in community schools?

Based on a self-review designed by Penny Smith-Orr, RE Consultant to Croydon Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE)
East Sussex SACRE
June 2025



This page is intentionally left blank



9

sacre’ ™

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education

Oak National Academy
Resources;

how might they help SACREs?

* supporting
* strengthenin
* promoting

g’tuay epuaby



9g abed

This training tonight will look at the following:
e Understanding the Oak National Resources for Religious Education

* Knowledge of what Oak is providing free of charge for all schools in
England

* An opportunity to look at some the materials
* A time to ask questions to the national Oak RE lead

e Consider how a SACRE might want to interact with these new resources



/8 abed

Links to Oak resources for RE

Key Stage 1 new supports

* https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-
primary-ks1/units

Key Stage 2 new supports

* https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-
primary-ks2/units

Key Stage 3 new supports

* https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-
secondary-ksa/units

Key Stage 4 new supports

» https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/key-stages/ks4/subjects/reliniolis-

education/programmes %,
sacre’®

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks1/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks1/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks1/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks1/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks1/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks1/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks1/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks1/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks2/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks2/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks2/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks2/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks2/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks2/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks2/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-primary-ks2/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-secondary-ks3/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-secondary-ks3/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-secondary-ks3/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-secondary-ks3/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-secondary-ks3/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-secondary-ks3/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-secondary-ks3/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/religious-education-secondary-ks3/units
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/key-stages/ks4/subjects/religious-education/programmes
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/key-stages/ks4/subjects/religious-education/programmes
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/key-stages/ks4/subjects/religious-education/programmes
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/key-stages/ks4/subjects/religious-education/programmes
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/key-stages/ks4/subjects/religious-education/programmes
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/key-stages/ks4/subjects/religious-education/programmes
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/key-stages/ks4/subjects/religious-education/programmes

gg abed

How do Oak resources link with the NCS?

The diversity
and
complexity of
religious or
non-religious
worldviews,
nationally and
globally

Developing
knowledge of
scholarly
approaches and
methods within RE
(and the wide range
of related disciplines
including theology,
philosophy and social
sciences).

Opportunities for
pupils to build an
awareness of their
own presuppositions
and values; draw on
their own experience;
and interpret the
significance and
meaning of what they
have been taught

uon o

[\\J “) d /L\‘.E,\,,w,u‘\
Standing Advisory Councils

on Religious Education



Linking the NSE with Oak: content selection

Authority and influence

Continuity, change and
diversity

Expressing belief

68 abed

Meaning and purpose

MNature of religion and belief

OO0 0o O O

Values and morality

Year 6

a

Hindus: how do Hindus see
Brahman?

Unit info >

)

The Church: Has there always
been diversity?

Unit info >

2}
Sikhs: What does Khalsa
mean to Sikhs today?

Unit info >

3

Ethics: How do we decide
what is good?

Unit info >

3

Pilgrimage: why are people
still drawn to ancient places?

Unit info >

6

Worldviews: how is our
country and community
changing?

Unit info >

'

sacre "

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



06 abed

Linking the NSE with Oak: ways of knowing

Year 2
Category Philosophy
= , i
.c"‘ "-. Fh Iln'sn F'I'.P"I Choices: Do we need rules to
“é'- - live by?
: i 5 Year 6
:_E - & . nit INTo ]
$ fﬁ Social science Philosophy

&

il
E] Thenlug? Ethics: How do we decide

what is good?

Unit info >

'
sacre’e

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



T6 abed

Philosophy in Year 2

ol
i

Why do we have rules? N

Explanation

Sofia and Andeep are talking about thinking.

The more I think about something like
rules, the more questions I have!

1t Is great to think hard and ask questions!
People who do this are called philosophers.
: Philosophy is about thinking hard and asking
questions that don’t have simple answers! ¢

NN 5 J sacre’®

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education




26 abed

Philosophy in Year 2

Why do we have rules?

Explanation

Here are some questions you might ask in philosophy:

L’w‘ha’r makes you, you? ]

%

{ Where do your thoughts come from? J

. W
l If animals could talk, what would they say? ]

'
sacre’«

Can you think of any big and tricky questions? National Association of

Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education

Sofia



c6 abed

Philosophy in Year 6

0D

What do we mean by ethics? e

Explanation

Philosophers like to think deeply and have
discussions about difficult questions.

They might ask ethical questions such as:

Es it okay to harm one person in order to save many others? ]

2

This is an ethical question because it is about how principles
of right and wrong might be applied to a situation.

\/
sacre’«

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



v6 abed

Philosophy in Year 6

What do we mean by ethics?

Explanation

Some questions are not ethical questions. For example:

{ What is the best way to make a chocolate cake? J

/

This is about opinions, not about principles of right and wrong.

[Which planet is furthest from the sun?]

N

This is about facts, it is not about principles of right and wrong. g

~
Can you think of any ethical questions? sacre’e®

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



Theology in Year 2

What is the Parable of the Lost Son?

The younger son decided to
go home.

G6 abed

His father was already
watching and waiting for him.

’
¢ sacre’e

~IVUIEE and he /ef;ﬁi;':éfgr he bi National Association of
Sr who Standing Advisory Councils

on Religious Education



96 abed

Theology in Year 2

OP

What different meanings might Christians find? N

Explanation

David is thinking about what the Parable of the
Lost Son means to him.

I became a Christian a few years ago. I made
some bad choices in my life.

I was happy when I learned that God forgave me
and welcomed me, just like the father forgave the
younger son and welcomed him home.

. y "
David SaCI"e‘ 5

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education




Theology in Year 9

Task C Junia: a case study ‘%ﬁ]

Practice

Tamara, Fiona, Fergus, and Danielle are discussing women in
the New Testament. For each point in the table, give a piece of
evidence from the Bible to support it.

X Tamara . Fiona g Fergus - Danielle %ﬂ

Q . A '

D o, 1’ -

¥ A AVA ~ PO
Women have been The New Testament @ There is no women can have an
given the gifts of | has lots of examples @ difference for me important role in the
the Holy Spirit just | of women leading between male and Church but they can’t be
as much as men churches, including | female church in authority over men.

and can use them.  in Paul’s letters. leaders.

@
G sacre’®

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education




g6 abed

Linking the NSE with Oak: lived experience

o

W
3
3
A
(=]
H
o
§
@

Pe,

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



66 abed

A historical lived experience case study

What happened to Coventry Cathedral?

Do you recognise anyone in this photograph?

| “-.-‘;:3" The person in the middle is

y "’;,"{',;’ X Winston Churchill. He was Prime
N Minister during the Second
World War.

The person on the left is Richard
Howard. He was the Provost of
Coventry Cathedral. We are
going to hear his story.

G

'
sacre’s

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



00T abed

A contemporary lived experience case study

(@]

How are Hindus responding to the climate crisis? aa

Explanation

— ——————

I understand that many Hindus

see dharma as taking action for
the good of all living things. But

how do they take action?

I am going to meet with Aarya
who volunteers with a group
called Hindu Climate Action.

i

\\*A’ff

&

Sofia

HINDU
AT CLIMATE

=" ACTION

'
sacre’«

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



TOT abed

How are Hindus responding to the climate crisis?

< Aarya, why do you volunteer with Hindu
W/ Climate Action?

Sofia

As a Hindu, I think we should help because we want to
live peacefully and in harmony with all living things.
Climate change puts this aft risk.

I volunteer because I want to play my part in making
this world a better place. I also hope my example will

inspire future generations to lead a sustainable
lifestyle.

Aarya /

’
sacre’«

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



Lived experience to explore worldview diversity

oP
O

Explunulion

H ]
How might music be used In Islam?

Listen to the qudio recording 10

itional nasheed.

20T abed

hear a frad _
pRalalss What do different Muslims say about music?
means ‘My ! Nadi l
Ia explai .
This nashe Plains how she uses music.
this means -
instrument | Music is a very important part of my

worship and I follow some Sufi
traditions. Music and harmony help me
to feel close to Allgh (God). Music lifts

: My spirits and gives me q deep sense of
peace.

asacre®® — —

Standing Advisory Councils 2
on Religious Education




Page 103



0T abed

What the Oak resources are...

Resources that can
be used to help
teach units in an
agreed syllabus.

Free and adaptable
by SACREs and
teachers to fit their
own contexts.

Clear and reliable
subject knowledge
for teachers.
confidence.

Checked with
authentic sources.

Photographs,
stories and ways to
show RE is lived and
real.

Case studies to use
in the classroom.

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



GOT abed

What the Oak resources are not...

A syllabus. A script to be Rigid and inflexible.

They are sequenced | followed. They can be

curriculum They are made to adapted to teach

resources. be adaptable to with different age
local context. groups — or

elements used for
particular lessons or
units.

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



90T abed

Resources adaptable to local context
How are places of worship changing? &D

Explanation

This building is in Bristol.
It has now been converted into
a theatre.

Previously it was a place of
worship.

It was a chapel for Methodist
Christians. 6
sacre’e®

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education



10T abed

Resources adaptable to local context

How are places of worship changing?

Explanation

g This is a mosque in Bristol.

It was built as a school in
1855. You can see the old
school building.

It was converted to a
mosque in 1983.

The mosque was enlarged
with a new dome in 2017. &



80T abed

Resources adaptable to local context

How are places of worship changing?

Explanation
This graph

compares Bristol no religion — 51
census data on Christian — 39

worldviews in 2011  Buddhist r‘”’

and 2021. Hindu rgg

The light purple is Jewish 0.2
2011 Muslim rO;_;?
The dark purple is Sikh (05
2021.

percentage of population

What patterns
do you notice?

J

N

Data source: Office for Mational Statistics = Census 2021



60T abed

Resources adaptable to local context

What are the different types of mosques?

How does Nadia’s mosque look different to
Ahmed’s mosque?

=
3 = - "
T
= ‘ | o 3
kit A [EH P e -
: H 2 8-~ .
2 § woresa D x
v : 53 2 I

Nadia’s mosque

e SIS BT LN G

Ahmed’s mosque &



OTT abed

Resources adaptable to local context

What are the different types of mosques?

Explanation

This is Easton Jamia mosque in Bristol.

What do you notice is similar or different to Nadia’s mosque?

Easton Jamia mosque Nadia’s mosque &



Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

NASACRE Statement: Oak National Academy Resources.

One of the key activities that a SACRE should do is provide advice and support on the effective
teaching of RE in accordance with the locally Agreed Syllabus.

When writing an Agreed Syllabus, conferences should be mindful of the wide range of resources, free
and paid-for, available to teach the syllabus, and/or the SACRE’s capacity to create resources, if they
do not already exist.

There are various resources that RE teachers may use and that SACRE’s might recommend, including
commercially produced textbooks, websites, materials from organisations and resources produced
by teachers and advisers locally.

One recent set of resources that SACREs might find useful to be aware of are those produced by Oak
National Academy. Oak National Academy is a body funded by the DfE but independent of it. They
provide free access resources that they have created that may help support teachers to teach RE
according to your Agreed Syllabus (and all other National Curriculum subjects).

The resources have been produced by subject experts. The creators were mindful of the REC’s
National Content Standard, and the disciplinary approach to RE. All resources can be adapted to
ensure they fit anyone’s context and are free.

The Oak RE materials are presented in a way that means there are six units for each school year and
six lessons in each unit. Each lesson follows a similar knowledge rich pedagogy and format, and
slides, worksheets, starter and exit quizzes and a video of the lesson being delivered by an expert
teacher are provided.

While this can look like a fully planned, coherent, sequenced curriculum it is not. Oak makes it clear
that RE maintained schools must follow the Agreed Syllabus (or Trust Deed in Academies) and
suggests “Therefore where any maintained school is following a locally agreed syllabus through its
SACRE or other denominational syllabus, it may wish to consider how to use specific Oak RE units,
lessons or resources flexibly to help fulfil the requirement of their particular syllabus.”

Your SACRE may, having looked at these resources, decide to recommend, adapt all or part of the
Oak resources where they support the teaching of your syllabus.

September 2025

nasacre’

National Association of
Standing Advisory Councils
on Religious Education

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



GTT abed

%N
a v A
aF & B
N i tih
| =

National Association of Teachers
of Religious Education

What changes will Ofsted’s
‘Renewed Education Inspection’
Framework and toolkit bring to

the inspection of Religious

Education and related areas?

g Xipuaddy



91T abed

National Association of Teachers
of Religious Education

Ofsted’s new 2025 inspection framework and toolkit: what it means for RE?

NATRE has produced a brief powerpoint presentation comparing Ofsted’s current

School inspection handbook (September 2024) with the new State-funded school
inspection toolkit (2025) due for implementation from November 2025—focused
specifically on Religious Education (RE), religion and belief, equalities, and SMSC.

The presentation highlights what continues and what’s new for RE, including: RE’s place
in the basic curriculum, the strengthened framing of the curriculum as an “entitlement
for every pupil” (including pupils with SEND), the re-framed Personal development and
well-being area (with explicit references to faiths and beliefs and British values), a
clearer emphasis on Inclusion and protected characteristics, explicit recognition of
prejudice-motivated bullying (including on grounds of religion or belief), and
expectations to track participation so all pupils including those with SEND, access RE
and related opportunities.

You may want to use the slides in staff briefings, with governors/SACRE, and when
planning curriculum and enrichment for 2025/26. They include verbatim extracts from
both documents to support accurate messaging and practical next steps for subject
leaders.


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-inspection-handbook-eif/school-inspection-handbook-for-september-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-inspection-handbook-eif/school-inspection-handbook-for-september-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-inspection-handbook-eif/school-inspection-handbook-for-september-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-inspection-handbook-eif/school-inspection-handbook-for-september-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-inspection-handbook-eif/school-inspection-handbook-for-september-2023
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68b9a6b8b0a373a01819fe4b/Schools_inspection_toolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68b9a6b8b0a373a01819fe4b/Schools_inspection_toolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68b9a6b8b0a373a01819fe4b/Schools_inspection_toolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68b9a6b8b0a373a01819fe4b/Schools_inspection_toolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68b9a6b8b0a373a01819fe4b/Schools_inspection_toolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68b9a6b8b0a373a01819fe4b/Schools_inspection_toolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/68b9a6b8b0a373a01819fe4b/Schools_inspection_toolkit.pdf

LTT abed

1) RE in the curriculum & inspection B NATRE

in different types of school

2025 clarifies the place of RE in
inspection by referring to the subject
as part of the basic curriculum,
mentioning statute and framing it as
an entitlement for every pupil.

As in previous frameworks, Ofsted
does not inspect denominational RE,
by does inspect RE in foundation and
voluntary-controlled schools with a
religious character

National Association of Teachers
of Religious Education

2025 “the curriculum ... covers the
statutory requirements set out in the
basic curriculum which includes the
national curriculum, and relationships
and sex and health education and
religious education” page 19

2025 ...this curriculum is an
entitlement for every pupil.” page 19

2025: “The curriculum ... is at least as
ambitious in breadth and depth as the
National Curriculum” page 19

Note: the draft report cards only referenced the National Curriculum, but after
NATRE and REC feedback, Ofsted changed the final version to include the basic

curriculum and therefore RE

Sources: Ofsted, School inspection handbook (EIF) — “for September 2024’; Ofsted, State-funded school inspection toolkit (implementation from Nov 2025).



8TT abed

2) SMSC & British values remain
central (faiths/beliefs explicit)

There is continuity with previous

frameworks about the importance

of SMSC and British values. The
2025 toolkit makes with explicit
reference to different faiths and
beliefs. This includes:

e Reflection on one’s own beliefs
(religious or otherwise)

 Both knowledge of, and respect
for, different people’s faiths

 mutual respect and tolerance of

those with different faiths and
beliefs.

& NATRE

National Association of Teachers

of Religious Education

2024: 344. Inspectors will evaluate the effectiveness of the
school’s provision for pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and
cultural education. This is a broad concept that can be seen
across the school’s activities

2025 this evaluation area [personal development] considers
...pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural (SMSC)
development, which can be seen across the school’s activities”
page 44

2025:” “Inspectors focus on... ensuring that the curriculum
contributes to pupils’ personal development and their SMSC
development...” page 44

2024: 345 “Provision for the spiritual development of pupils
includes developing their ... ability to be reflective about their
own beliefs (religious or otherwise) and perspective on life ...”

2025: “pupils develop their ability to be reflective about their
own beliefs (religious or otherwise) and perspective on life,
including developing their knowledge of, and respect for,
different people’s faiths, feelings and values” page 47

2025”... developing and deepening pupils’ understanding of
the fundamental British values of democracy, the rule of law,
individual liberty, and mutual respect and tolerance of those
with different faiths and beliefs.” page 44

Sources: Ofsted, School inspection handbook (EIF) — “for September 2024’; Ofsted, State-funded school inspection toolkit (implementation from Nov 2025).



6TT abed

3) Religion, equalities (protected
characteristics)

A focus on equality remains from
previous frameworks. It is, in
places, made more explicit.

Inclusion becomes a defined
evaluation area

The toolkits contain explicit
references to the Equality Act 2010
and protected characteristics
(including religion or belief).

The toolkits say that Ofsted will
evaluate inclusive environments that
respect difference and commonality
across communities.

i NATRE

National Association of Teachers
of Religious Education

2024: 338“Promotes equality of
opportunity so all pupils can thrive
together... This includes, but is not
limited to, pupils’ understanding of
the protected characteristics and how
equality and diversity are promoted”

2025: “Promoting equality of
opportunity so that all pupils can
thrive together... includes, but is not
limited to, an age-appropriate
understanding of the protected
characteristics defined in the Equality
Act 2010.” page 44

Sources: Ofsted, School inspection handbook (EIF) — “for September 2024’; Ofsted, State-funded school inspection toolkit (implementation from Nov 2025).



02T 9bed

4) Bullying & prejudice (including

I8 NATRE

National Association of Teachers

re I i g i on / be I i ef) of Religious Education

The 2025 framework and toolkit
names prejudice-motivated
bullying explicitly, including on
grounds of religion or belief.

It contains an expectation that
bullying is not tolerated and is
addressed swiftly (this was also in
the 2019 previous framework).

It refers to prejudice-based
motivations, explicitly including
religion or belief.

2024: 334“Leaders, staff and pupils
create a positive environment in
which bullying is not tolerated.”

2025: “Leaders recognise that bullying
takes various forms, and is often
motivated by prejudice against
particular groups, for example on
grounds of ... religion or belief ...”
page 38

Sources: Ofsted, School inspection handbook (EIF) — “for September 2024’; Ofsted, State-funded school inspection toolkit (implementation from Nov 2025).



12T 9bed

5) Participation & tracking — make
RE entitlement visible for all

The 2025 toolkit makes it clearer
and more operational that RE is
for every pupil, including those
with SEND.

It does this in two ways that go
beyond the previous framework:

(1) it frames the whole basic
curriculum (which includes RE)
as an “entitlement for every
pupil,” and

(2) it requires leaders to ensure
and track participation (with
reasonable adjustments) for
SEND pupils.

k2 NATRE

National Association of Teachers
of Religious Education

2024: 230 “All pupils in maintained
mainstream and special schools are
expected to study the basic curriculum,
which includes ... religious education.”

2025: “The personal development
programme is an entitlement for every
pupil. Leaders track participation. They
take steps to ensure that pupils,
including disadvantaged pupils [and]
those with SEND ... can participate
appropriately.” page 51

2025:” When inspectors evaluate
curriculum for pupils with SEND ... they
consider whether pupils have access to
a suitable curriculum and is adapted to
their needs.” page 18

Sources: Ofsted, School inspection handbook (EIF) — “for September 2024’; Ofsted, State-funded school inspection toolkit (implementation from Nov 2025).



221 abed

6) Social and community cohesion

Social and community cohesion, is
not a standalone section but
receives greater attention in, and is
woven throughout the 2025 toolkit

Made explicit across Personal
Development & Well-Being,
Inclusion, Leadership &
Governance, and Pastoral Support).

Dialogue skills matter: pupils should
discuss and debate differing views
constructively (high relevance to
RE).

Leaders are expected to work with
parents, local authorities and
partners and consult the school
community to strengthen culture
and outcomes.

[NATRE note: many subject leaders of RE

work hard to develop relationships with
communities of religion and belief]

k2 NATRE

National Association of Teachers
of Religious Education

2024: 474 Pupils engage with views,
beliefs and opinions that are different

from their own in considered ways. (Grade
descriptor for Good personal development)

2025 “Pupils know how to discuss and
debate issues and ideas in a considered
way and how to engage with views,
beliefs and opinions that differ from
their own.”

2025 “Pupils understand, appreciate and
respect differences... they celebrate
what we have in common across
cultural, religious, ethnic and
socioeconomic communities... Pupils
respect the different protected
characteristics defined in the Equality
Act 2010.” page 49



Curriculum and
Assessment
Review

Building a
world-class
curriculum
for all

Final Report

November 2025




Table of contents

Foreword
Executive summary
Introduction
Background
Methodology
Context: curriculum and assessment in England
Towards a world-leading curriculum
What is going well and should be maintained
‘High standards’ must mean high standards for all
Preparing learners for a changing world
Curriculum shape and content
Our view of the key stages
Curriculum principles
The national curriculum as a tool for teachers
Curriculum recommendations by subject
Art and Design
Citizenship, RHE/RSHE and PSHE
Computing
Design and Technology, including Cooking and Nutrition
English, including Drama
Geography
History
Languages
Maths
Music
Physical Education (PE), including Dance
Religious Education (RE)
Science

Key Stage 4 Technical Awards

Page 124

14
14
15
17
23
23
25
34
44
44
46
52
55
55
57
62
66
73
81
84
87
92
96

100

107

111

118



Accountability, performance measures and assessment 121

Accountability and performance measures 121
Primary assessment 127
Secondary assessment 131
16-19 education 141
Level 3 141
Level 2 153
Level 1 and entry level 157
16-19 Maths and English 158
Non-qualification activity within 16-19 study programmes 164
Future curriculum reviews 167
Conclusion 171

Annex 1: Accountability measures in England’s primary, secondary and 16-18 education

system, 2024/25 172

Annex 2: Stakeholder engagement 175

Annex 3: List of all recommendations 180
3

Page 125



Table of figures

Figure 1. Curriculum subjects by key stage 18

Figure 2. Participation in education, training and employment aged 16 and 17 in England,

2024 20
Figure 3. National assessments and exams in England’s education system 21
Figure 4. Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 disadvantage gap index 26

Figure 5. Percentage of state-funded mainstream schools with no entries into GCSE D&T
in 2024/25 68

Figure 6. Modern Foreign Language GCSE uptake as a proportion of all pupils at the end
of Key Stage 4 by year 88

Figure 7. Proportion of Key Stage 4 students taking GCSE History, GCSE Geography,
and GCSEs in at least one Modern Foreign Language 122

Figure 8. Additional employment in priority occupations between 2025 and 2030 by
expected education level 147

Figure 9. Attainment of level 2 Maths and English by age 16 for the 2018/19 cohort 159

Figure 10. Percentage of 16-19 learners who did not achieve level 2 in Maths and
English by age 16 who achieved it by age 19, by free school meal status 160

Figure 11. List of headline accountability measures in primary, secondary and 16-18
education in England, academic year 2024/25 172

Figure 12. Structure of the EBacc 174

Page 126



Foreword

The importance of our national curriculum cannot be overstated. It is an entitlement to the
most important knowledge that we expect children and young people to learn, both for
their benefit and for the benefit of the nation.

The Review Panel and | have approached the task of reviewing the national curriculum,
16-19 pathways, and their assessment mindful of this responsibility. We have sought to
ensure the curriculum is fit for the future, addresses the rich knowledge and skills young
people need to thrive in our fast-changing world, and encourages a love of learning.

There are many strengths in our existing curriculum and assessment arrangements. We
have sought to build on these strengths, in addition to identifying numerous opportunities
for improvement; and we have taken an evidence-led approach in diagnosing problems
and their solutions. We have also been mindful of the importance of the school
curriculum beyond the national curriculum, and the important things that schools and
colleges provide for their students every day: the enrichment activities, sports,
performances, work experience and careers advice (to name a few) that provide young
people with transferable skills, develop confidence, and bring their learning to life.

It is vital that schools and colleges are able to innovate and respond to local needs, and
that teachers have the flexibility to extend the curriculum and draw out its relevance for
the young people in their classrooms. As such, we have been mindful both to ensure
the national curriculum comprises an aspirational entitlement for all and that there is
adequate space for schools and colleges to go beyond it.

All the subijects in the national curriculum are valuable and play an important role in
preparing young children for life and work. We have sought to balance breadth with
depth, ensuring all young people have access to a portfolio of crucial knowledge
balanced with the choice that facilitates a love of learning. We have also sought to
ensure that these opportunities are open to all so that young people are not held back
by background or circumstance.

| want to thank the huge number of stakeholders that have engaged with the Review
process: the schools and colleges that have hosted us; and the children and young
people, parents and carers, education staff and leaders, experts and officials who have
responded to our Call for Evidence, participated in our polling and attended our events
and roundtables. Your passion and expertise have been both enlightening and inspiring.
| also want to thank the members of the expert panel, with whom it has been an
exceptional privilege to work.

There are so many in our system striving to ensure that every young person has access
to an excellent education and develops a thirst for learning that will remain with them for
life. My hope is that the recommendations contained in this report will take us a step

5

Page 127



closer towards this aspiration by building a world-class curriculum and assessment
system for all.

Professor Becky Francis CBE, Chair of the Curriculum and Assessment Review

Page 128



Executive summary

The national curriculum is an investment in all our young people, for their benefit and for
the benefit of the nation. Education is inherently valuable and important for its own sake,
but it also plays a crucial role in supporting individual success, in providing young people
with the necessary knowledge and skills to build a prosperous economy and flourishing
civil society, and in promoting social cohesion and democracy. For these reasons, it is
imperative that the national curriculum provides all children and young people with a rich,
aspirational, and challenging offer to support high and rising standards.

In July 2024, the Government commissioned Professor Becky Francis CBE to convene
and chair a panel of experts (the Review Panel) to conduct a review of the curriculum
and assessment system in England (the Review), including qualification pathways,
across the primary, secondary and 16-19 phases.

The Review Panel recognises the hard-won successes and educational improvements of
recent decades, but it is clear that these have not yet benefited all. We must promote
high aspirations and raise standards for the significant group of young people for whom
the current system creates barriers. In this way, we can ensure the best life chances for
all young people, irrespective of their background.

It is more than a decade since the national curriculum was last reviewed. It is timely that
it is now refreshed so that it remains cutting edge and fit for purpose to equip young
people for our rapidly changing world. In formulating our recommendations, we have tried
to make sure our curriculum enables teachers to impart critical knowledge and inspire a
love of learning. This will ensure that young people are supported to flourish as informed
and fulfilled individuals, as contributors to our democratic society, and as members of a
better qualified workforce that builds economic prosperity.

As a defining feature, the Review has been determinedly evidence-led. Our deliberations
have been informed by robust research evidence, analysis of large-scale datasets and a
range of commissioned research and polling. We have drawn on a wealth of perspectives
from experts, stakeholders and the public, including over 7,000 responses to our

Call for Evidence. Our work has been undertaken in close consultation with education
professionals and other experts, parents and carers, children and young people, and
wider stakeholders such as employers, universities and trade unions.

Page 129



Towards a world-class curriculum and assessment system

This Review represents an opportunity to build on what is working well, and to address
what is not, to ensure that the curriculum and assessment system in this country is truly
world class.

In addition to refreshing the curriculum and ensuring that it reflects the knowledge and
skills young people need to achieve and thrive, it is an opportunity to build excellence
and support life chances.

It is essential that more children and young people build strong foundations and a love of
learning in the primary years, embarking on their secondary education with their literacy
and numeracy secure, and with knowledge, confidence and enthusiasm sparked for other
subjects.

We must also facilitate more successful transitions into secondary education. Too many
young people fall behind at this stage and so we must ensure that more of them maintain
their momentum and enthusiasm across a rich and broad array of subjects.

Finally, we must maintain the strong academic core for all that supports life chances and
ensure that more young people secure the expected standards in Maths and English.
However, we must also grasp the opportunity to ensure that more young people are able
to choose qualifications that inspire them, and which speak to their strengths and the
directions they wish to take.

As our Interim Report noted, many aspects of the current system are working well. In
comparison to other jurisdictions, we have a reasonably broad and balanced curriculum
to age 16 which offers all children an entitlement to a core set of knowledge. International
comparisons suggest that the present arrangements have had a positive impact on
attainment, and we therefore intend to maintain and build on the knowledge-rich
approach and on the coherent structural architecture established by the last review.’

The present architecture of key stages is generally working well and we recommend
retaining it. Likewise, our national assessments and qualifications are, broadly, working
well. We therefore recommend that the maijority of the present framework arrangements
and milestones for the curriculum and assessment remain.

However, our analysis has also identified many areas that need attention. This includes
areas where we see significant opportunities and need for improvement, including
making improvements to the curriculum and assessment in primary and secondary
education and more extensive changes to 16-19 qualifications.

' DfE (2011) - Framework for the national curriculum: A report by the Expert Panel for the national
curriculum review

8

Page 130


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-interim-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/framework-for-the-national-curriculum-a-report-by-the-expert-panel-for-the-national-curriculum-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/framework-for-the-national-curriculum-a-report-by-the-expert-panel-for-the-national-curriculum-review

The current system is not working well for all

The socio-economic gap in relation to educational attainment remains stubbornly wide,
and young people with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) make less
progress than their peers. Whilst the explanations for this often lie outside the curriculum
and assessment, the Review has worked to ensure that the system reflects high
expectations for all and properly supports all young people’s progress and achievement.

Our recommendations aim to improve curriculum quality for all young people but will
particularly benefit those for whom the system is currently not working well. We have also
made recommendations to support better equity, access and inclusivity in subject areas
where we have identified specific barriers to progress. In addition, we have sought to
ensure that the curriculum and assessment are helpful to teachers in supporting
progress, momentum and successful outcomes as learners move from one key stage

to the next.

We also highlight the roles other government agencies and bodies can play in
exemplifying how to meet diverse needs in an inclusive mainstream school and in
supporting good practice.

Curriculum shape and challenges with specific subjects

Specific problems with content in some curriculum areas impede the quality of teaching
and learning, as well as pupil outcomes. There are tensions with curriculum breadth and
depth and, consequently, these present a challenge for schools and colleges in meeting
the important local needs and enrichment provision which are highly valued by young
people and their parents and carers.

The statutory guidance for the current national curriculum says that it is ‘just one element
in the education of every child’;? it was not intended to take up an entire school day. It is
important that the national curriculum maintains its position as an ambitious entitlement
for all. However, schools must have space to go beyond it to provide innovative practice,
locally tailored content, and enrichment activities that help to ensure young people thrive
in education and later life.

Evidence supports the need to build secure foundations and mastery of key subject
concepts to raise standards and enable the development of expertise. But, in some
subjects, the current construction and balance of content appear to be inhibiting this.
This may impede mastery and prevent young people developing an appropriate depth
of understanding, hindering their progress and undermining standards.

2 DfE (2013) - National curriculum: primary curriculum

9

Page 131


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-curriculum-in-england-primary-curriculum

The causes of the tension between breadth and depth are complex.?® We have therefore
discussed these subject by subject. Getting this right will have a beneficial impact on the
capacity of schools to make sure children and young people have access to a full range
of subjects, and to provide vital enrichment activities. Our recommendations are intended
to ensure that teachers have enough flexibility to challenge high attainers and to make
sure that those who are struggling with learning can master core concepts, thus ensuring
that all children and young people get the best from the curriculum.

Many submissions to our Call for Evidence have argued for improvements in a range of
curriculum subjects, some minor, some more significant. We make recommendations to
resolve the various subject-specific challenges the Review has identified.

We have also taken steps to ensure that the curriculum (and related material) is inclusive
so that all young people can see themselves represented. This should also help them to
broaden their horizons and better understand the perspectives of others.

Over the last two decades, some subjects have thrived and seen increased take-up; in
others, take-up has declined. The reasons for this are complicated. However, it is clear
that the English Baccalaureate (EBacc) performance measures have to some degree
unnecessarily constrained students’ choices. This has affected their engagement and
achievement, and limited their access to, and the time available for, arts and vocational
subjects. We endorse the need for a broad and balanced academic curriculum up to
16 for all, but we also recognise the need for a better balance between that entitlement
and wider choice. As such, we recommend the removal of the EBacc measures but the
retention of the EBacc ‘bucket’ in Progress 8 under the new title of ‘Academic Breadth’.

The curriculum needs to respond to social and technological
change

In a world of rapid technological, environmental and social change, subject-specific
knowledge remains the best investment. Being secure in core subjects such as Maths
and Science will remain pivotal for young people, now and in the future, as will their
understanding of human culture through the humanities, languages, and arts. However,
additional knowledge and skills will be needed if we are to maximise young people’s
opportunities and equip them to meet challenges presented by our fast-changing world.
The rise of artificial intelligence (Al) and trends in digital information demand heightened
media literacy and critical thinking, as well as digital skills. Likewise, global challenges,
both social and environmental, require attention to scientific and cultural knowledge

and skills.

3 For example, in some cases, the problem is with over-specification and volume in subject curricula; in
others, with under-specification, or other factors.

10

Page 132



Young people and their parents or carers have been clear that they would like to see
more applied knowledge in certain areas. We have examined the evidence to identify
those most in need of critical attention. These include the areas mentioned above, plus
important areas such as financial literacy and oracy. We have recommended ways to
make sure these are properly incorporated into the curriculum through all key stages.
We have also sought to make sure that the scale of the national curriculum does not
prevent schools from providing enrichment activities, and building knowledge and
transferable skills that are bespoke to their pupils’ local needs.

16-19 education

A Levels provide successful preparation for university study, whilst T Levels have
introduced a new, high-quality, technical route for young people who are clear about
their intended career destination. Although teething problems remain, T Levels show
great promise. However, A Levels and T Levels are not appropriate for all students.
Some have not decided on a career path but have an interest in a particular sector,
whilst others want to pursue a career in a sector not currently supported by A Levels or
T Levels. A significant proportion of young people take a mix of qualifications and some,
although ready to study at level 3, cannot access A Levels or T Levels or seek more
applied qualifications that provide a range of progression options. Given the complexity
of the existing system, employers, the public and young people themselves are often
unclear about suitable pathways.

Furthermore, for young people who did not secure strong level 2 qualifications at school,
including those who need to continue studying Maths and English, the quality of
provision is uneven and many are not making progress. They include a disproportionate
number of young people with SEND and those from socio-economically disadvantaged
backgrounds. It is especially important that these challenges are resolved. We therefore
recommend the development of a new third pathway at level 3 to sit alongside A Levels
and T Levels.

This pathway, based on new qualifications which we recommend calling V Levels,
would contribute to a clearer set of pathways for young people during 16-19 education.
It would incorporate an ambitious, high-quality and cohesive offer for those not pursuing
three A Levels or a T Level to make sure they have access to meaningful and rewarding
destinations. We make recommendations for the shape and principles for these
pathways, as well as changes to pathways at level 2.

We also make recommendations to drive greater nuance in Maths and English provision
for those who have not secured level 2 (the equivalent of GCSE grade 4) in GCSE Maths
and English Language at age 16. This includes introducing a level 1 stepped qualification

11

Page 133



at 16-19 for those who need greater support.* These recommendations are intended to
ensure that more young people attain Maths and English at level 2 and make progress
during 16-19 study.

Assessment

The Review has sought to ensure that the assessment system captures the strengths of
every young person and the breadth of the curriculum and that it has the right balance
of assessment methods. The system must maintain the important role of exams, which
are the fairest way of assessing students nationally® and which mitigate the risks to
assessment posed by generative Al. We consider that the system is broadly working
well, with an appropriate balance of formative, diagnostic and summative assessments,
and we recommend retaining the broad thrust of the existing arrangements. However,
opportunities for improvement exist, such as improving the assessment of pupils’ writing
at the end of Key Stage 2.

We are keen to support transition into secondary education and students’ progress in
Key Stage 3 so that more of them maintain their momentum during that key stage and
succeed at Key Stage 4. This is especially critical in GCSE Maths and English, since
these are a passport to further opportunities. We therefore recommend developing
diagnostic Maths and English tests to be taken in Year 8. The aim is to support teachers
in identifying and remedying any problems before students progress to Key Stage 4.

England is by no means an international outlier in providing national exams at 16, and
these remain important for discerning routes for 16-19. However, it is an outlier with
regard to the volume of this assessment. The amount of time that young people spend in
exams at Key Stage 4 has become excessive. We reject calls from campaigners to scrap
exams at 16. However, time spent on them at GCSE level should be reduced, through a
subject-by-subject approach where this can be done without materially affecting reliability
and efficacy. We have also made recommendations for improvements to assessment in
specific subject areas.

4 The existing condition of funding requirements to study Maths and English are not impacted by this
recommendation.

® UCL Centre for Education Policy and Equalising Opportunities (CEPEO) (2021) - Should we abolish
GCSEs?

12

Page 134


https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/departments-and-centres/centre-education-policy-and-equalising-opportunities/research/briefing-notes
https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/departments-and-centres/centre-education-policy-and-equalising-opportunities/research/briefing-notes

Conclusion

All potential reforms to curriculum and assessment come with trade-offs, and it has
been the job of this Review to weigh up and manage these carefully. We have therefore
taken a considered approach of ‘evolution not revolution’ in our deliberations and
recommendations, which has been widely welcomed. Our recommendations follow
extensive consideration of the available options and a balanced appraisal of risk and
reward.

Our approach has allowed us to navigate the diverse and often conflicting views that
stakeholders have expressed. Many of the matters are extremely complex. Furthermore,
some elements of the education system and other factors outside the scope of this
Review undoubtedly contribute to the outcomes we have observed.

We also have sought to remain cognisant of the impact that substantial changes to the
curriculum and assessment would have on the stability of the wider education system
and on the workload of education staff. Our recommended changes are intended to lead
to meaningful improvements in outcomes for learners without destabilising the system.

A full list of our recommendations can be found here.

We believe that our vision for a world-leading curriculum and assessment system in
England and the recommendations we set out will have a positive impact on the
educational experiences and outcomes of children and young people, supporting
success for all.

13

Page 135



Introduction

Background

In July 2024, the Government commissioned Professor Becky Francis CBE to convene
and chair a panel of experts (the Review Panel) to conduct a review of curriculum and
assessment in England, including qualification pathways (the Review). At the outset of
the Review, the Government published its Terms of Reference.

In March 2025, the Review published its Interim Report, which presented initial findings
and insights. Our subsequent work has involved further developing and expanding on
this analysis to develop a set of recommendations that seek to build a world-leading
curriculum and assessment system for all and address the most pressing issues
impacting curriculum and assessment in England. This report sets out the Review’s
methodology, evidence, deliberations and recommendations.

The Review Panel®

¢ Professor Becky Francis CBE (Chair), CEO of the Education Endowment
Foundation (EEF)

e Gary Aubin, Gary Aubin, Director of SEND for Whole Education

e Professor Jo-Anne Baird, Director of the Oxford University Centre for
Educational Assessment

e Professor Nic Beech, Vice-Chancellor of the University of Salford
e Cassie Buchanan OBE, CEO of the Charter Schools Educational Trust

e Professor Zongyi Deng, Professor of Curriculum and Pedagogy at the UCL
Institute of Education, University College London

e Jon Hutchinson, Regional Director, East of England, at Reach Foundation
e John Laramy CBE, Principal and Chief Executive of Exeter College

e Dr Vanessa Ogden CBE, CEO of Mulberry Schools Trust

e Lisa O’Loughlin, Principal and CEO of East Lancashire Learning Group

e Funmilola Stewart, Trust Assistant Principal at Dixons Academies Trust

¢ Sir lan Bauckham CBE (Observer), Chief Regulator at the Office of Qualifications
and Examinations Regulation (Ofqual)

In line with our Terms of Reference, the Review has considered Key Stage 1 through to
Key Stage 4, and 16-19 education. In approaching assessment and accountability, we

6 For detailed biographical information for all members, see: Curriculum and Assessment Review: Set-up

14

Page 136


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-interim-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#membership

have focused on capturing the strengths of every student while ensuring a robust and
fair system.

Several important areas that relate to curriculum and assessment sit outside the scope
of this Review, including the Early Years Foundation Stage, pedagogical approaches,
careers advice and guidance, work experience and enrichment activities. Education
funding, teacher training and development and workforce supply issues are also outside
our Terms of Reference.

Methodology

The Review has been committed to an evidence-led approach. This has been critical in
meeting the aims set out in the Terms of Reference to identify and prioritise the most
pressing issues facing curriculum and assessment and to recommend practical and
deliverable changes that will improve young people’s outcomes without destabilising the
system.

The Review Panel has undertaken an assessment of stakeholder input, polling

data, secondary sources and expert consultation. This evidence base informed the
identification of key themes, problem diagnosis and areas requiring support.

The Final Report’s recommendations reflect a considered balance between stakeholder
perspectives and empirical evidence.

The Review used two main types of evidence:

¢ Quantitative evidence, including large-scale national and longitudinal datasets
and commissioned polling.

¢ Qualitative evidence gathered from education professionals and other experts,
parents and carers, children and young people, and stakeholders such as
employers, colleges, universities, and trade unions.

We used publicly available data from the Department for Education (DfE), including
national statistics on pupil entries, pupil characteristics, subject uptake, outcomes and
post-16 destinations such as further education, apprenticeships and employment.

To complement this, internal DfE datasets provided detailed qualification data linked to
school census records and prior attainment. Similarly, a more granular view of curriculum
access, subject availability, and learner progression was reached by using teacher
feedback from the School and College Voice survey and by analysing 16-19 learners’
progression using the Young Person’s Matched Administrative Dataset (YPMAD) and
Longitudinal Education Outcomes (LEO).

We also polled over 2,000 young people who had just completed their Key Stage 4 and
16-19 exams in summer 2024, and their parents and carers. This polling was

15

Page 137


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference

supplemented with surveys undertaken by other organisations, including Parentkind,
which surveyed over 5,000 parents across the UK, Teacher Tapp, and Public First.

In addition, the Review has been supported by academic research and policy analysis
from organisations. These sources of data and evidence have played a crucial role in
helping us to establish present trends, analyse trends over time and interrogate
assumptions.

We have gathered qualitative evidence through extensive engagement with the
education sector and beyond. A major aspect of this was our Call for Evidence, which
ran from 25 September 2024 to 22 November 2024. We received 7,021 responses,
including 5,327 individual responses and 1,694 from organisations. This provided a
wealth of evidence and feedback on a broad range of issues.”

In addition to the Call for Evidence, the Review Panel has:

e Held public events across the country to discuss the themes of the Review as
laid out in the Terms of Reference, with over 3,600 attendees. Each roadshow
incorporated school and college visits where the Review Chair and members of
the Review Panel met students, teachers, lecturers, support staff and leaders to
seek their views. These have been supplemented by further school and college
visits carried out throughout the Review.

e Hosted webinars, open to all, which reached more than 2,000 people.

e Met with a range of subject and curriculum experts such as subject associations,
practitioners and academics to gather feedback and evidence about the subject-
specific challenges and opportunities for improvement.

e Held issue-specific roundtables with employers, subject associations and
awarding organisations; and oral evidence sessions to gather evidence from
experts on key areas such as socio-economic disadvantage and SEND.

e Engaged in external events and gave presentations at conferences.

e Met with officials from other international jurisdictions to better understand their
curriculum and assessment systems, approaches to curriculum and assessment
reform, and the challenges other jurisdictions face.

Annex 2 provides more details on stakeholder engagement.
We have taken every step to ensure that a wide range of voices and perspectives have

been heard. A balanced and considered approach has been taken, given the diverse and
often conflicting views expressed by stakeholders.

7 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Call for Evidence

16

Page 138


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference
https://consult.education.gov.uk/curriculum-and-assessment-team/curriculum-and-assessment-review-call-for-evidence/

Context: curriculum and assessment in England

The following sections provide a brief account of the present curriculum, assessment
and accountability system, to provide context for our subsequent analysis and
recommendations.

The national curriculum for Key Stages 1 to 4

All state-funded schools in England are required to teach a ‘broad and balanced’
curriculum, as stipulated by the Education Act 20028 and the Academies Act 2010.°

The national curriculum is divided into four key stages (Key Stages 1 to 4)'° and sets

out the Programmes of Study for all subjects in these key stages, covering what subjects
should be taught and the standards that children and young people should reach in

each subject. Different phases of the national curriculum are taught at each key stage
and Figure 1 sets out the current national curriculum subjects across the four key stages,
as well as the basic curriculum.

The Education Reform Act 1988 introduced the national curriculum, including statutory
Programmes of Study and non-statutory guidance for individual subjects. Successive
governments have reviewed it in 1993-1995, 1997-1999, 2005-2009, and 2011-2013.
Reviews have led to amendments and new requirements.

The national curriculum is statutory for mainstream local authority maintained schools.
All state-funded schools are also required to teach the ‘basic’ curriculum subjects of
Religious Education (RE) and Health Education at every key stage, as well as
Relationships Education (RHE) in primary education and Relationships and Sex
Education (RSHE) in secondary education.

8 The National Archives (2025) - Education Act 2002

9 The National Archives (2025) - Academies Act 2010

0 Key Stage 1 covers Years 1 and 2, Key Stage 2 Years 3 to 6, Key Stage 3 Years 7 to 9 and Key Stage 4
Years 10 and 11. These key stages are bookended by the Early Years Foundation Stage and 16-19
education.

17

Page 139


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/32/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/32/contents

Figure 1. Curriculum subjects by key stage

Subject Key Stage 1 Key Stage 2 Key Stage 3  Key Stage 4
Maths Cc Cc Cc c*
English c*
C C Cc

Drama™ E
Science C C C c*
Physical Education F F F F+
Dance'? F F F E
Computing F F F F+
Citizenship F F F F
History F F F E+
Geography F F F E*
Languages™ - F F E*
Socro R
— e
Art and Design F F F E
Music F F F E
v R BT

" Drama sits in English at Key Stages 1 to 4 and has a standalone qualification at Key Stage 4.

2 Dance sits in PE at Key Stages 1 to 4 and has a standalone qualification at Key Stage 4.

3 Ancient Languages and/or Modern Foreign Languages (MFL) are statutory at Key Stage 2, but only MFL

is statutory at Key Stage 3. At Key Stage 4, students are entitled to study MFL, while either an Ancient

Language or an MFL counts towards the EBacc.

4 Cooking and Nutrition sits in D&T at Key Stages 1 to 3 and is a standalone qualification at Key Stage 4.
18

Page 140



Subject Key Stage 1 Key Stage 2 Key Stage 3  Key Stage 4

RHE/RSHE" B B B B

C Core subjects: must be taught and are covered in more detail than foundation subjects.
At Key Stage 4, these subjects must be taught and are assessed.

F Foundation subjects: must be taught but are covered in less detail than core subjects.
At Key Stage 4, these subjects must be taught but are not necessarily assessed; some
students will choose to study a qualification in them.

E Entitlement subjects: at Key Stage 4, schools must offer students the chance to study
for a qualification in at least one subject from four subject groups.'®

B Basic curriculum subjects: not in the national curriculum but must be provided by schools.
Parents and carers have the right to withdraw their child from some of these subjects.

+ EBacc subjects.

As stated in the statutory national curriculum framework, the national curriculum ‘is just
one element in the education of every child’ and it is intended that there is ‘time and
space in the school day and in each week, term and year to range beyond the national
curriculum specifications’.'” The national curriculum sets out the Programmes of Study
but it does not specify the amount of time that schools should teach each subject.
Whilst the amount of time spent on different national curriculum subjects varies across
the key stages, a strong focus on English and Maths is maintained across all key
stages, reflecting the importance of good literacy and numeracy for learning and wider
outcomes. '8

For academies, although their curriculum must be ‘broad and balanced’, they do not
currently have to follow the national curriculum. However, the Government’s Children’s
Wellbeing and Schools Bill'® contains a provision to require academies to teach the
national curriculum. Academies’ funding agreements stipulate the teaching of English,
Maths and Science, as well as the basic curriculum subjects of RHE, RSHE and RE.
They are, however, like any state-funded schools, subject to inspection by the Office for
Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) in relation to the intent,
implementation and impact of their curriculum, which must be ‘at least as ambitious in
breadth and depth as the national curriculum’.?°

'S Primary schools must provide Relationships and Health Education (RHE), and secondary schools must
provide Relationships, Sex and Health Education (RSHE).

'6 Arts (Art and Design, Music, Dance, Drama and Media Arts), Design and Technology, the Humanities
(Geography and History) and MFL.

7 National curriculum in England: framework for key stages 1 to 4 - GOV.UK

'8 In primary, the DfE’s School snapshot survey: summer 2018, the NEU’s Primary Curriculum Survey
(2024) and responses to the Call for Evidence indicate a strong focus on English and Maths. At Key Stages
3 and 4, Teacher workforce data shows that English and Maths occupy a large proportion of teaching time.
9 UK Parliament (2024) - Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill

200fsted recently updated its Education inspection framework, which will be used from 10 November 2025.
This includes updated inspection toolkits, operating guides and information.

19

Page 141


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-curriculum-in-england-framework-for-key-stages-1-to-4/the-national-curriculum-in-england-framework-for-key-stages-1-to-4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-snapshot-survey-summer-2018
https://neu.org.uk/latest/library/primary-curriculum-survey
https://neu.org.uk/latest/library/primary-curriculum-survey
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/daca6d2f-3158-44d3-62a9-08ddf03ad3ce
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3909/publications
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-inspection-framework/education-inspection-framework-for-use-from-november-2025

The current national curriculum framework makes it clear that, with effective planning

for pupils with SEND, ‘in many cases such planning will mean that pupils will be able

to study the full curriculum’. For some pupils, including in education settings such as
special schools and alternative provision, the curriculum may need significant appropriate
adaptation to meet individual needs. The Special Education Needs (SEN) Code of
Practice also states that schools should set out ‘details of how the curriculum is adapted
or made accessible for pupils with SEN’. Where pupils have Education, Health and Care
Plans, these should also detail ‘any appropriate modifications to the application of the
National Curriculum’.

16-19 qualifications and programmes

16-19 study programmes?' are designed to be flexible and tailored to individual needs,
abilities and career goals, with learners able to pursue various 16-19 qualifications at
different levels, including A Levels, Applied General Qualifications (AGQs), T Levels,
Tech Levels, Technical Certificates and other vocational qualifications.

Figure 2. Participation in education, training and employment aged 16 and 17 in
England, 2024 22

2 % 8%
3%

5%

5%
S

1%

17-year-olds

16-year-olds

m Higher education mlevel 3

mlevel 2 mlevel 1
Entry level m Apprenticeship or work based learning
Other qualification or training In employment

mNEET

Nearly two-thirds (62%) of young people start their 16-19 education studying towards a
level 3 qualification, 22% a level 2 qualification and 4% a qualification at level 1 or below.
However, this changes over the course of 16-19 studies, with some students advancing
in their levels of study or leaving education to join the labour market.

21 DfE (2025) - 16 to 19 study programmes guidance: 2025 to 2026 academic year
22 DfE (2024) - Participation in education, training and employment age 16 to 18, calendar year 2024

20

Page 142


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/16-to-19-study-programmes-guide-for-providers/16-to-19-study-programmes-guidance-2022-to-2023-academic-year
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/participation-in-education-and-training-and-employment/2024

A Level learners represent the largest group at level 3 (34% of 16-year-olds), with

an additional 10% combining A Levels with AGQs as part of a mixed programme.

T Level learners currently represent only a small proportion of the cohort (3%),%2 with
a much larger share (15%) working towards other level 3 qualifications (e.g. AGQs
and Tech Levels).

For 16-19 learners who study a level 2 programme, many study towards GCSEs,

either as their only level 2 qualifications (8% of 16-year-olds) or, more commonly, in
combination with other types of level 2 qualifications, such as Technical Certificates
(10% taking GCSEs and other level 2; 4% taking other level 2 only). These qualifications
are supplemented by other non-qualification activities which can be used to broaden

a learner’s experience.?*

Assessment and accountability

Figure 3 shows the range of assessments in England from Key Stage 1 to 16-19.%°

Figure 3. National assessments and exams in England’s education system

End of Key Stage 1 tests and teacher
Phonics screening check assessment (optional)
Confirmation that children have Optional tests and teacher assessment frameworks in
learnt phonic decoding to the English reading, English grammar, punctuation and
Year 1 expected standard and identify Year 2 spelling (GPS), maths and science. Assess whether
children who need extra help children are meeting the expected standards in
(retaken in year 2 if the child does English reading, writing, maths
not meet the standard in year 1). and science. If undertaken, DfE does not receive the
data.

POLET

End of Key Stage 2 tests and teacher assessment
Children sit statutory, externally marked tests in English reading,
maths and GPS to indicate if they are meeting expected standards.
Teacher assessment judgements in English writing and science are
also reported to parents and DfE. Alternative assessments are
available for children working below the standards of the national
curriculum. Results data used for school accountability, including
being the end paint for primary progress measures and the starting
point for ‘Progress 8' measures in secondary school.

Multiplication tables check
Determine whether children
Year 6 can recall their times tables
fluently and identify children
who require additional
support.

L) leay

Key Stage 4 qualifications
Pupils take 9 qualifications on average in Key Stage 4. These qualifications determine mast of their curriculum. All
regulated qualifications include externally set assessments which are typically taken at the end of year 11 (after two years
of study). Assessments consist of exam and non-exam assessment, and outcomes are used to measure whether
students have learnt the curriculum; support progression to 16-19 study, higher education and employment; and pravide
information to hold schools and colleges to account for their performance.

61- 91

16-19 qualifications
Learners can choose from a wide variety of qualification pathways. Assessment methods and timing vary significantly
depending on the nature of the qualification. Assessment outcomes are used to support progression to higher education,
training or employment.

23T Levels were launched in September 2020 and take-up has been increasing each year since. Source:
Extract from DfE (2024) - Participation in education, training and employment age 16 to 18

24 Non qualification activities include mentoring and coaching, certificates such as the Duke of Edinburgh’s
Award, work placement or experience and work-related activities like preparing CVs and practising
interview skills and techniques, as well as personal and social development enrichment activities.

25 The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) is out of scope of this Review. During the EYFS, there are
also statutory requirements for schools to complete the Reception Baseline Assessment (RBA) and the
Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) for each child.

21

Page 143


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/3fe74116-d8ef-470f-5a88-08ddf5e2701a

In primary, statutory assessments (Phonics Screening Check, Multiplication Tables
Check and Key Stage 2 assessments) and non-statutory tests (Key Stage 1 tests) focus
on English and Maths.?® These assessments are taken to inform pupil attainment and
progress, and, in the case of Key Stage 2 assessment, inform accountability measures.

Learners take national exams at the end of Key Stage 4 and in their 16-19 studies.

At Key Stage 4 they take GCSEs and may also take Technical Awards, and in 16-19
education learners can choose from a range of academic qualifications (e.g. A Levels)
and technical qualifications (e.g. T Levels, AGQs and Tech Levels) at different levels.
These various qualifications are delivered by exam boards and awarding organisations
which are independently regulated by Ofqual. Take up for different subjects changes over
time, illustration of these trends is available here.?’

National assessments and qualifications in England are linked to accountability
measures. For example, qualifications at the end of Key Stage 4 are linked to
performance measures such as the EBacc, Attainment 8 and Progress 8. Performance
measures are typically used to measure the attainment, progress and/or destinations of
learners. A list of performance measures across key stages can be found at Annex 1,
which also includes an explanation of the subjects included in the EBacc measure.

26 National curriculum assessments in primary schools are developed and delivered by the Standards and
Testing Agency (STA), an executive agency of the DfE, and the Office of Qualifications and Examinations
Regulation (Ofqual) has a regulatory responsibility for these assessments.

27 Curriculum and Assessment Review - Department for Education - Citizen Space

22

Page 144


https://consult.education.gov.uk/curriculum-and-assessment-team/curriculum-and-assessment-review-call-for-evidence/supporting_documents/Curriculum%20subject%20trends%20over%20time.pdf
https://consult.education.gov.uk/curriculum-and-assessment-team/curriculum-and-assessment-review-call-for-evidence/

Towards a world-leading curriculum

What is going well and should be maintained

Our present national curriculum provides a knowledge-rich offer, and international
comparisons suggest that the present arrangements have had a positive impact on
attainment. This builds on the commitment to high standards and the hard work of
education professionals to realise improvement across the last quarter century.
Despite disruption from the pandemic, England continues to show comparatively
strong educational outcomes in international assessments:2®

e England’s Year 5 pupils continue to perform significantly better than the
international average in reading.?°

e For Year 5 and Year 9 pupils, there have been significant improvements in
performance in Science between 2019 and 2023, with Maths performance
remaining stable over the same period.3°

e England’s 15-year-olds continue to perform above the Organisation for Economic
Cooperation and Development (OECD) average in reading, Maths and Science.?'

e England’s 16- to 19-year-olds scored substantially better than the OECD average
in literacy and adaptive problem solving (and similar to the OECD average in
numeracy) in the 2023 OECD international Survey of Adult Skills, having made
significant improvements in literacy and numeracy since 2012.32

Of course, in some areas England’s performance has nevertheless fallen over time
(especially during the pandemic), and as we shall discuss, there remain significant gaps
according to social background, different levels of prior attainment and so on.
Nevertheless, these outcomes provide a reasonably positive comparative picture.

Subijects in England’s national curriculum are broadly in line with subjects studied in other
OECD countries, including high-performing jurisdictions.33 Likewise, national
assessments and exams in both primary and secondary are common in most OECD
countries. They are intended to provide a range of functions, including diagnostic
information for teachers, monitor the education system, evaluate school performance,

28 We recognise the various methodological complexities and limitations of international comparisons and
resulting caveats. We also recognise that, in some cases, England’s performance has fallen, for example,
for England’s 15-year-olds, performance Reading and maths have declined since 2018 and whilst
performance in Science remained stable compared to 2018, it has declined compared to previous years.
Nevertheless these outcomes provide a positive comparative picture.

29 DfE - PIRLS 2021: National Report for England

30 DfE - Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS) 2023: National report for England
Volume 1

31 DfE - PISA 2022: national report for England

32 DfE - Survey of Adult Skills 2023 (PIAAC): national report for England

33 OECD (2023) - Education at a Glance 2023 (see table D1.3 for primary and D1.4 for lower secondary)

23

Page 145


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pirls-2021-reading-literacy-performance-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/trends-in-international-mathematics-and-science-study-2023-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/trends-in-international-mathematics-and-science-study-2023-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pisa-2022-national-report-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/survey-of-adult-skills-2023-national-report-for-england
https://www.oecd.org/en/publications/education-at-a-glance-2023_e13bef63-en/full-report/how-much-time-do-students-spend-in-the-classroom_258760fe.html#tablegrp-d1e29124-b6689298e9

provide formative feedback for parents and carers, and support students’ progression
to tertiary education.3*

There is much to celebrate in the current national curriculum. The breadth of subjects
taught across Key Stages 1 to 4 has enabled children and young people to develop
knowledge and skills across a wide spectrum. Responses to our Call for Evidence
highlighted the value of this breadth, with stakeholders noting that it supports well-
rounded development and offers multiple pathways for children and young people to
achieve and thrive. In 2023/24, 89% of state-funded students studied eight or more
qualifications at Key Stage 4, with the most common number being nine.3® Polling also
suggests that the majority of Key Stage 4 students (76%) were able to study the subjects
they wanted, reflecting a curriculum that provides access and choice for many.36

We strongly affirm the value of all the subjects in the national curriculum and basic
curriculum. Each plays a vital role in equipping children and young people with the
knowledge and skills they need to navigate the world, while engaging and contributing
to our society and culture, and pursuing their individual aspirations. Whether academic,
creative, vocational or physical, every subject contributes to a rich and balanced
education. Our recommendations build on the knowledge-rich approach and on the
coherent structural architecture established by the previous Review.3’

The current subject architecture provides a strong foundation, introduces subjects to
young people at the appropriate stage, and allows them to pursue their interests once
they have experienced the full range of subjects. Therefore, we recommend only minor
amendments to the existing subject structure, ensuring continuity and stability whilst
improving curriculum content and delivery. Our subject-level recommendations seek to
support each of these subjects to flourish, while our recommendations on performance
measures aim to balance breadth with flexibility and choice.

We also value the holistic ethos of Key Stage 1 and broader primary education. Here,
learning and social behaviours are developed, literacy and numeracy skills are
established, and other subjects are introduced, encouraging a love of learning and
enabling success. Children and their parents and carers tend to be happy with their
primary education, and it is important we preserve this.38 We consider that the present
architecture of key stages is functioning effectively overall, and we propose its retention

34 OECD (2013) - Synergies for Better Learning;

OECD (2023) - Education at a Glance 2023: What assessments and examinations of students are in
place?

Suto, I., Oates, T. (2021) - High-stakes testing after basic secondary education: How and why is it done in
high-performing education systems?

35 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Final Report (Analytical annex)

36 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Interim Report (Polling of Key Stage 4 and 16-19 learners and
parents)

37 DfE (2011) - Framework for the national curriculum

38 Parentkind (2024) - The National Parent Survey 2024 — the underlying data shows that 81% of parents
with primary school aged children are happy with the education their children receive from their schools

24

Page 146


https://www.oecd.org/en/publications/synergies-for-better-learning-an-international-perspective-on-evaluation-and-assessment_9789264190658-en.html
https://www.oecd.org/en/publications/education-at-a-glance-2023_e13bef63-en/full-report/what-assessments-and-examinations-of-students-are-in-place_79948633.html
https://www.oecd.org/en/publications/education-at-a-glance-2023_e13bef63-en/full-report/what-assessments-and-examinations-of-students-are-in-place_79948633.html
https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/items/39bf9ed0-febf-4b40-9861-8567926947b0
https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/items/39bf9ed0-febf-4b40-9861-8567926947b0
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-interim-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/framework-for-the-national-curriculum-a-report-by-the-expert-panel-for-the-national-curriculum-review
https://www.parentkind.org.uk/research-and-policy/parent-research/parent-voice-reports/national-parent-survey-2024

(see our view of the key stages). Likewise, our national assessments and qualifications
are broadly working well, including the Phonics Screening Check, the Multiplication
Tables Check, national tests at the end of Key Stage 2, GCSEs and Key Stage 4
Technical Awards, A Levels and T Levels.3®

Despite the strengths of our current system, our analysis has identified many areas that
require attention. There are clear opportunities for improvement in curriculum and
assessment across both primary and secondary education, as well as more substantial
reform of 16-19 qualifications. The remaining sections of this report set out the key
challenges and present targeted recommendations, with the aim of beneficial and lasting
improvement across the education system.

‘High standards’ must mean high standards for all

A world-leading education system must deliver excellence for all young people,
irrespective of background. Our curriculum and assessment system is working well in
many respects, but it is not delivering high standards for all, and some gaps are widening
rather than narrowing. In particular, a stubborn attainment gap remains between those
that are socio-economically disadvantaged and their peers (Figure 4), while children and
young people with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) make less progress
in comparison to those without SEND.40

39 EYFS and reception baseline assessment are out of scope of the Review.

40 See ‘Attainment and progress by pupil characteristics’ in DfE (2023) - Key stage 2 attainment, Academic
year 2022/23; DfE (2025) - Key stage 2 attainment, Academic year 2024/25 — please note: Key Stage 2
progress scores were not published in 2023/24 and 2024/25 due to COVID-19; See disadvantage gap
index and Progress 8 measure in DfE (2025) - Key stage 4 performance, Academic year 2024/25

25

Page 147


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2022-23
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2022-23
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2024-25
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-4-performance/2024-25#dataBlock-d507ef17-4055-43aa-b184-b65278e0bb18-tables

Figure 4. Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 disadvantage gap index

5
4.1
. 39 39 3.
4 ~2? 38 37 38 38 37 37 37 37 38 38 >
— e
3 33
® 32 32 32 31 39 30 09 29 32 32 31 3.1
Disadvantage 2
gap index
1
0
N % O 20 A D 9 O N SRR S
N O O A S S P I I L 2 L\ LR
R ) L L S i ] L Y L el &
=—=Key Stage 2 ====Key Stage 4

For socio-economically disadvantaged young people, slower progress between Key
Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 (as indicated by their Progress 8 scores) widens the attainment
gap that already existed between these pupils and their non-disadvantaged peers at Key
Stage 2, with a gap of 15 points in their Attainment 8 scores broadly equivalent to one
and half a grades per subject (Table 1).

Table 1. Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 attainment and progress, by disadvantage
status (2024/25, unless stated otherwise)*!

All pupils Disadvantaged Not disadvantaged
Key Stage 2 - % achieving
the expected standards in:

Reading 75 63 81

Writing 72 59 78

Maths 74 61 80

Reading, Writing and Maths 62 47 69
Key Stage 4

Average Attainment 8 score 45.9 34.9 50.3

hrerage OISO o0s 057 016

41 DfE (2025) - Key stage 2 attainment, Academic year 2024/25; DfE (2025) - Key stage 4 performance,
Academic year 2024/25

42 Progress 8 is not being published in 2024/25 as Key Stage 4 pupils in this year did not have their Key
Stage 2 assessments due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

26

Page 148


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2024-25
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-4-performance/2024-25#dataBlock-d507ef17-4055-43aa-b184-b65278e0bb18-tables
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-4-performance/2024-25#dataBlock-d507ef17-4055-43aa-b184-b65278e0bb18-tables

Pupils with SEND also make less progress between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4
compared with those without identified SEND, again widening the attainment gap that
already existed at Key Stage 2.43 These progress gaps are deeply concerning in a
society that promotes equality of opportunity for all.

Table 2. Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 attainment and progress, by SEN status
(2024/25, unless stated otherwise)**

All pupils SEN No identified SEN
Key Stage 2 - % achieving
the expected standards in:
Reading 75 42 85
Writing 72 32 84
Maths 74 40 84
Reading, Writing and Maths 62 24 74
Key Stage 4
Average Attainment 8 score 45.9 281 50.1
Average Progress 8 score
(2023/924) J -0.03 0.63 0.10

We recognise these inequalities exist alongside, and intersect with, other factors
(including ethnicity, sex*® and geographical location), which result in poorer outcomes
for particular groups - either generally or for specific subjects. For example, girls’
attainment in the expected standards in the Key Stage 2 writing assessment is

12 percentage points higher than boys’. This gap is even wider when comparing
socio-economically disadvantaged pupils with their peers (a gap of 19 percentage
points). For both boys and girls, disadvantaged Gypsy and Irish Traveller have some
of the lowest Key Stage 2 writing outcomes, as have disadvantaged white and Black
Caribbean-heritage boys.*® Writing gaps therefore vary according to a range of
characteristics. Some of these inequalities extend across subjects, both in terms of
uptake and attainment. At Key Stage 4, rates of uptake differ across most non-core

43 Slower progress is common across pupils with all types of SEND irrespective of prior attainment. Those
with hearing impairments, visual impairments, and other physical disabilities are more likely to meet the
expected standards at Key Stage 2 and have higher attainment at Key Stage 4 than those with speech,
language or communication needs or autistic spectrum condition. Extract from DfE (2025) - Key Stage 2
attainment, Academic year 2024/25; Extract from DfE (2024) - Key Stage 4 performance, Academic year
2023/24. Note that within these statistical publications, autistic spectrum conditions are referred to as
autistic spectrum disorder.

44 DfE (2025) - Key Stage 2 attainment, Academic year 2024/25; DfE (2025) - Key Stage 4 performance,
Academic year 2024/25; Progress 8 is not being published in 2024/25 as Key Stage 4 pupils in this year did
not have their Key Stage 2 assessments due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

45 The Department does not collect statistics on gender identity.

46 DfE (2025) - Key stage 2 attainment, Academic year 2024/25

27

Page 149


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2024-25
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2024-25
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/a5161332-3abe-4cc5-2077-08ddca7c4f84
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/a5161332-3abe-4cc5-2077-08ddca7c4f84
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2024-25
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/50675897-ec37-4ec2-0bc7-08de07233b94
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/50675897-ec37-4ec2-0bc7-08de07233b94
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2024-25#dataBlock-ef3cc1a9-4ec2-4d30-a01b-fdadce3c3f2a-tables

subjects, depending on factors such as protected characteristics, special educational
needs and socio-economic status. For example, students from disadvantaged
backgrounds or who have an identified SEND are much less likely to take a GCSE in a
Modern Foreign Language compared with their peers, with 16 and 32 percentage point
gaps respectively; and girls are much less likely to take Computer Science compared to
boys, with boys being over three and a half times more likely to take the GCSE than
girls.4” Evidence also shows that disadvantaged young people tend to have less access
to a broad curriculum, in both primary and secondary.*®

Many explanations for the relative lack of progress for socio-economically disadvantaged
children and young people and those with SEND lie beyond the curriculum. Most of

the variation in outcomes stem from factors outside of school (for example, child poverty).
Other sources of variation include educational factors such as pedagogy, school
approaches and resources.*® These factors are outside the scope of this Review.
However, a well-structured and refreshed curriculum can still make a difference. When
the curriculum is designed thoughtfully, it can reduce unnecessary inequities and barriers
to learning, provide clarity and coherence for teachers, and better support young people
with diverse needs.*°

A commitment to social justice

We think every child is entitled to high standards, including a rich curriculum that
articulates what they should learn, and reliable assessments that support their learning
and capture their achievements. An excellent national curriculum and a high-quality
assessment and qualifications system are fundamental to achieving these ends.

As set out in the Terms of Reference, the Review has a commitment to ‘Remediate
existing blocks to progress and good outcomes, with an especial concern for

equity and ensuring positive outcomes for children and young people who are from
socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds, have a special education need (SEN)
or disability and/or are otherwise vulnerable’. We have applied a social justice lens to
all aspects of our work, seeking to identify and remove barriers to progress within

the curriculum and assessment system. In doing this we recognise that young people
from both socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds and those with SEND are
not generalised groups. They contain individuals with a wide range of prior attainment
and characteristics, strengths, interests, barriers to learning, and needs regarding

the curriculum.

47 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Final Report (Analytical annex)

48 EPI (2018) - Key drivers of the disadvantage gap - Literature Review; Curriculum and Assessment
Review: Final Report (Analytical annex)

49 DfE (2024) - Factors influencing primary school pupils’ educational outcomes;

DfE (2024) - Factors influencing secondary school pupils’ educational outcomes

50 Luke, A., Woods, A. and Weir, K. (2012) - Curriculum, Syllabus Design and Equity

28

Page 150


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/annual-report-2018/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/factors-influencing-primary-school-pupils-educational-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/factors-influencing-secondary-school-pupils-educational-outcomes
https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/edit/10.4324/9780203833452/curriculum-syllabus-design-equity-allan-luke-annette-woods-katie-weir

Throughout the Review, we have recognised the wider policy landscape and Government
activity, considering our recommendations alongside the work of Dame Christine
Lenehan, the DfE’s strategic adviser on SEND, Tom Rees, Chair of the Expert Advisory
Group for Inclusion (EAG), and Professor Karen Guldberg, Chair of the Neurodivergence
task and finish group.

Promoting social justice brings with it a variety of dilemmas. The Review has faced the
challenge of balancing our unequivocal commitment to high aspirations for all, while
simultaneously providing the necessary flexibility to address young people’s diverse
needs. On many occasions, the Review Panel heard convincing evidence of issues about
inclusivity, yet further consideration revealed that potential solutions risk greater harms
and inequities than the existing problem. An example is aspects of assessment, where
the negative consequences of marking out some young people as underachieving must
be balanced with the requirement for formative analysis, which is crucial for supporting
further progress for individuals and benchmarking standards. A further area where this
dilemma presents itself is performance measures, where incentivising particular
behaviours may be beneficial but also have unintended consequences.

Nevertheless, we have sought to make recommendations in many areas that will improve
progress for groups disadvantaged in the present system, and where improvements

to curriculum and assessment may contribute to narrowing gaps. The remainder of

this section outlines several overarching recommendations designed to benefit all

young people, but which are likely to be most beneficial to young people struggling

with or disaffected from their learning, among whom those from socio-economically
disadvantaged backgrounds and those with SEND are overrepresented. We have also
made recommendations relating to specific subject areas that aim to support social
justice and inclusion. These are detailed in the subject sections.

A high-quality and inclusive curriculum for all

Although a well-designed curriculum is important for all young people, it is particularly
beneficial for those with SEND and those from socio-economically disadvantaged
backgrounds. They suffer disproportionately when the curriculum is poorly articulated,
overloaded, badly organised or depends on experiences outside the classroom.

By ensuring that the volume of content in the national curriculum is appropriate for the
teaching time that is available, we aim to give schools sufficient time to consolidate
learning, as well as the space to provide the enrichment activities and life skills that
prepare young people for life and work. This is important for enabling an accessible and
inclusive school curriculum, and also to support engagement, particularly for secondary
students. Evidence shows that there is a substantial drop in pupil engagement and views
on the value of education as they transition from primary education, especially for those

29

Page 151



from socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds.®' In our chapter on curriculum
principles, we therefore set out recommendations to improve the clarity, specificity and
sequencing of the curriculum, ensuring space for mastery of core concepts (see
curriculum principles). Of course, curriculum design is just one step in an inclusive
learning experience. Adaptive teaching practices, teachers’ expertise, the engagement
of parents and carers, the role of support staff and the classroom environment are
examples of factors that also contribute to truly inclusive education.

Access to the national curriculum should remain an expectation and an entitlement for
all children and young people, including those in specialist and alternative provision.
However, the Review acknowledges the ongoing need for the national curriculum to be
appropriately adapted (and in certain cases in specialist settings, disapplied) to meet
the specific needs of young people. It is therefore important that specialist, alternative
and other education settings retain their freedom to adapt the national curriculum as
appropriate, and that they are supported to be appropriately ambitious for pupils in

how they use these freedoms. Therefore, as well as providing principles to support the
refreshed drafting of the national curriculum, we make recommendations to foreground
the role of wider guidance and exemplification to support practitioners, across all settings,
to adapt the national curriculum where required (see the national curriculum as a tool for
teachers).

To better support high aspiration and success for young people from socio-economically
disadvantaged backgrounds, and to ensure young people have the same opportunities to
achieve and thrive, we are making a series of subject-specific recommendations where
the design of the curriculum itself may be creating barriers to learning. In some cases,
structural issues within the curriculum can unintentionally limit access or disadvantage
certain groups.5? These are explored in more detail in the subject-specific sub-sections
(see curriculum recommendations by subject).

Young people need to access an ambitious, broad and balanced curriculum that supports
life chances, irrespective of background. To avoid their engagement or outcomes being
unintentionally impeded, they also need access to subjects that best meet their individual
interests and pathways. We need to strike the right balance between offering young
people choices that allow them to follow their interests or pursue a particular future path,
and making sure every young person has access to a broad and balanced curriculum
that does not close off avenues. And we must particularly avoid facilitating trends for
young people from some backgrounds to take routes that are narrower or less
demanding. Our assessment of the evidence suggests that the English Baccalaureate
(EBacc) performance measures - whilst well-intentioned - have not achieved this

51 Jerrim, J. (2025) — Mind the Engagement Gap: A National Study of Pupil Engagement in England's
Schools; Jerrim, J. (2025) - How engaged are low-income White children during secondary school?

52 For example, access to GCSE Triple Science is not universal, which can restrict opportunities for some
pupils wishing to pursue Science further. Similarly, high attainment in GCSE Music often depends on
access to extra-curricular tutoring, which is not equally available to all students.

30

Page 152


https://www.impactedgroup.uk/resources/report-mind-the-engagement-gap
https://www.impactedgroup.uk/resources/report-mind-the-engagement-gap
https://www.tep.uk/research-and-resources/how-engaged-are-low-income-white-children-during-secondary-school

balance. Our recommendations on performance measures seek to do so, by removing
the EBacc measures, whilst retaining an ‘Academic Breadth’ bucket within the Progress 8
measure to maintain its various benefits (see accountability and performance measures).

In addition, the assessment and qualification system must be inclusive and accessible

so that all young people are able to demonstrate their learning. Our assessment
recommendations emphasise the importance of embedding accessibility into the design
of new specifications. This includes careful consideration of how subject content interacts
with assessment methods, and the broader implications for teaching and learning for all
groups of students, including pupils with SEND (see assessment).

Smooth transitions that support progress

Many factors contribute to the large attainment gaps for young people from socio-
economically disadvantaged backgrounds and those with SEND. Two curriculum-related
problems are the transition between primary and secondary school and insecure core
knowledge and skills at this critical juncture.

Strong teaching and a well-designed curriculum in the primary phase both play a vital
role in establishing foundational knowledge in English and Maths. However, not all pupils
complete Key Stage 2 with the secure foundations needed for confident progression.
Students entering Key Stage 3 without these strong foundations often struggle to build
momentum in their learning. Instead of progressing confidently, many begin to fall further
behind. This highlights the need for coherence, responsiveness and effective support

at the point of transition.>® Other factors in Key Stage 3 compound this, such as the
challenge for pupils to adapt to a larger school community and multiple teachers, and
the tendency for the strongest teachers to be deployed in Key Stage 4.5 Our
recommendations to improve curriculum coherence, to make better use of data from

Key Stage 2 assessments, and to transform the national curriculum into a digital tool that
enables teachers to easily see links between phases and subject, should facilitate this
more effective support across transitions.

Securing level 2 in Maths and English by the age of 16 has a strong impact on young
people’s life chances.%® Yet too many struggle to achieve this, especially those from
socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds or those with SEND. We believe that
far more are capable of reaching level 2 in English and Maths than - despite 12 years
of schooling - do currently. It is imperative that we narrow this gap.

Therefore, in addition to making recommendations to improve the Maths and English
curriculum, we recommend the development of a diagnostic (formative) test in Maths and

53 DfE (2024) - Factors influencing secondary school pupils’ educational outcomes

54 Ofsted (2015) - Key stage 3: the wasted years?

% Department for Business Innovation & Skills (2016) - Further education qualifications in maths and
English: returns and benefits - GOV.UK

31

Page 153


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/factors-influencing-secondary-school-pupils-educational-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/key-stage-3-the-wasted-years
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/further-education-qualifications-in-maths-and-english-returns-and-benefits
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/further-education-qualifications-in-maths-and-english-returns-and-benefits

English in Key Stage 3 (see curriculum recommendations by subject and Key Stage 3
assessment). Evidence shows that formative assessments are an effective tool in

raising attainment.®® This would support teachers in identifying and addressing gaps in
knowledge during Key Stage 3 at an earlier stage, ensuring more students are supported
to progress successfully into Key Stage 4.

High-quality pathways for all learners

Given the importance of level 3 learning and qualifications in shaping life chances and
supporting our economy, and recognising the longstanding complexity and inconsistency
in this area, we make recommendations to establish clear, high-quality pathways at level
3. We also recommend that the Government introduces a revised third pathway with

a streamlined qualification offer at level 3, to sit alongside the academic and technical
pathways. This pathway should provide an aspirational alternative to A Levels and

T Levels and should be based on new vocational qualifications, which we recommend
calling V Levels. This should also support the significant proportion of young people for
whom these former routes are not suitable to pursue high-quality and rewarding level 3
study. This group disproportionately includes those from socio-economically
disadvantaged backgrounds and those with SEND.%’

Our recommendations focused on level 2 pathways at 16-19 seek to support all young
people to pursue high-quality routes into occupations or further study, reflecting the
Review’s approach to improving social justice. Strengthened level 2 pathways will
provide ambitious and clear opportunities for learners, especially benefitting those from
socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds and those with SEND.

Finally, we make recommendations to support greater efficacy in the provision of Maths
and English at 16-19 to help those young people who do not secure a level 2 qualification
by 16 to achieve this at 16-19. This recommendation supports low prior attainers, among
whom young people from socio-economically disadvantaged and those with SEND are
over-represented (see 16-19 Maths and English).

A curriculum that reflects our society

The national curriculum is for all our young people. Our diversity and commitment to
equality of opportunity and fairness are some of this country’s greatest strengths.
Throughout the Review we are seeking to deliver a curriculum that reflects the issues
and diversities of our society, ensuring all children and young people are represented,8
whilst also exposing them to a wide range of perspectives that broaden their horizons.

56 OECD (2005) - Formative Assessment | OECD; EEF (2021) — Feedback; Baird, J., Andrich, D.,
Hopfenbeck, T. & Stobart, G. (2017) - Assessment and learning: fields apart?; Kingston, N. & Nash, B.
(2011) - Formative Assessment: A Meta-Analysis and a Call for Research

57 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Final Report (Analytical annex)

%8 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Set-up

32

Page 154


https://www.oecd.org/en/publications/2005/01/formative-assessment_g1gh4c28.html
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/education-evidence/teaching-learning-toolkit/feedback
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/0969594X.2017.1319337
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1745-3992.2011.00220.x?msockid=2d82042e342f671d142210d1350866c0
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review

Our recommendations seek to ensure that all young people feel included in and engaged
by the national curriculum.

The national curriculum already offers teachers scope to create inclusive learning
experiences by weaving together topics and themes and drawing on case studies and
exemplars. Often what is needed is greater exemplification and access to high-quality
resources that support this work - including local exemplification that brings the
curriculum to life. However, we have heard compelling arguments, some directly from
young people in our roundtables, that the curriculum needs to reflect society, support
equality of opportunity, and challenge discrimination.

Young people have told us that not seeing themselves in the curriculum, or encountering
negative portrayals, can be disempowering and demotivating, a point supported by wider
evidence.® To foster engagement and support positive outcomes, it's important that the

curriculum covers a wide range of experiences and representation, as well as promoting

our shared values, to build empathy and understanding of others.®°

Representation must go hand in hand with broadening horizons; it should not mean
limiting children and young people to narrow frames of reference based on their
background. Inclusion is also fostered through shared experiences, creating connections
and opportunities to explore a wide range of viewpoints. As such, mutual access to core
knowledge, and curriculum coherence, efficacy and breadth for all children should remain
central as we work to ensure the curriculum is more broadly representative. With this in
mind, we make an overarching recommendation that the curriculum reforms should be
guided by the principle that they reflect the diversity of our society and the contributions
that have shaped it (see a curriculum for all).

59 The Centre for Education and Youth [formerly LKMco] (2018) - ‘Boys on Track’: Improving support for
white FSM-eligible and black Caribbean boys in London - CfEY

80 Elliott, V., Nelson-Addy, L., Chantiluke, R. & Courtney, M. (2021) - Lit in Colour: Diversity in literature in
English Schools; Sleeter, E. & Zavala, M. (2020) - What the Research Says About Ethnic Studies

33

Page 155


https://cfey.org/reports/2018/12/boys-on-track-improving-support-for-white-fsm-eligible-and-black-caribbean-boys-in-london/
https://cfey.org/reports/2018/12/boys-on-track-improving-support-for-white-fsm-eligible-and-black-caribbean-boys-in-london/
https://litincolour.penguin.co.uk/
https://litincolour.penguin.co.uk/
https://www.nea.org/resource-library/what-research-says-about-ethnic-studies

Preparing learners for a changing world

Our curriculum must equip young people for a world that is changing quickly. Rapid
technological advancements, including the rise of Artificial Intelligence (Al), are likely

to significantly change the way we work. The climate crisis brings wide-ranging, urgent
challenges to address - but also opportunities to seize, as we seek to restore our
environment. Global geo-politics and means of communication are also shifting. New
media channels are enabling greater connectivity than ever before, whilst amplifying the
risks posed by online harms or misinformation.

Subiject-specific knowledge remains the best investment in preparing young people for
these challenges and opportunities: Science and Maths will remain crucial, as will an
understanding of communication and culture, through the humanities, languages, and the
arts. But the curriculum also needs to adapt to ensure that young people have the
requisite knowledge and skills to shape our changing social and physical environment.

Through responses to our Call for Evidence, our review of existing research and our
public engagement and polling, the Review has heard repeated concerns that certain
areas of applied knowledge and skills require more attention within the curriculum.
Many areas have been raised, including those that fall beyond our Terms of Reference
(such as careers education). Five areas have received the most attention from young
people, parents and carers, and other stakeholders. These are the applied knowledge
areas (frequently referred to as ‘life skills’) of financial literacy, digital literacy and
media literacy; education on climate change and sustainability; and the skill of oracy.
Young people also raised political knowledge frequently; this is addressed in our
recommendations in Citizenship.

We have reviewed where these applied knowledge areas already exist in the national
curriculum and indicated where that provision should be updated or strengthened, setting
out where gaps need addressing. We have also looked at non-qualification activity as
part of 16-19 study programmes. While individual recommendations for the five areas
are set out in greater detail in the subject-specific sections, our high-level findings are set
out below.

Financial education

Financial education includes understanding core financial concepts such as budgeting,
debt, interest, mortgages and pensions, alongside an awareness of how mathematical
concepts can be applied to real-world scenarios. Greater financial literacy, which is a
consequence of a suitable financial education, can bring benefits to both individuals and

34

Page 156


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference

to the economy,®! while lower levels of financial literacy can leave individuals less able to
manage their finances effectively on a day-to-day basis or plan for the future.®?

Financial education should not be delayed until later life. Research shows that children’s
habits and attitudes towards money develop at an early age, including their disposition to
spend or save, and this underpins their financial capability in adulthood.®? At this critical
time in their development, children are also increasingly making digital financial
transactions themselves, with the majority of 7 to 17-year-olds (71%) making online
purchases; of those who have bought online, two-thirds (67%) have done so without
adult supervision.® Young people may also have to make significant financial decisions
early on, such as deciding whether or not to apply for tuition fee loans for higher
education. In addition, the likelihood that children and young people receive meaningful
financial education at home varies according to their background.®® Given these
disparities, it is therefore vital that the curriculum provides young people with appropriate
financial education from an early age.

In 2014, financial education was made compulsory in the Citizenship curriculum for

11 to 16-year-olds. Young people also receive some limited financial education through
the Maths curriculum. In primary, the Maths curriculum promotes the use of financial
contexts, while in secondary it requires some exemplification of using mathematical
knowledge to interpret and solve problems. At 16-19, some providers typically offer
learners support with career planning and financial education as part of non-qualification
activity, alongside their substantive qualifications.

Despite this, evidence suggests that, in practice, the financial education content which
already exists in the national curriculum is not always taught, with only a third (33%) of
children able to recall learning about money in school and finding it useful.®® As a result,
many young people are leaving education with low levels of financial capability.®” The
Review has consistently heard that children and young people would like more financial
education at school, and this is supported by polling of young people and parents and

61 Research by the Confederation of British Industry (CBI) suggested that greater financial literacy could
add an additional £7 billion to the UK economy each year by boosting entrepreneurship and business
formation, creating up to 123,000 jobs annually: CBI Economics (2022) - Paving the way to financial
wellbeing

62 Money Advice Service (now part of Money & Pensions Service) (2018) - Financial Capability Survey,
2018

63 Money & Pensions Service (2023) - Developing children and young people’s financial capability

64 Money & Pensions Service (2024) - Literature Review: The impact of digital money on children and
young people’s financial education | Money and Pensions Service

85 Money & Pensions Service (2023) - UK Children and Young People’s Financial Wellbeing Survey:
Financial Foundations

86 Money & Pensions Service (2023) - UK Children and Young People’s Financial Wellbeing Survey:
Financial Foundations; Over half (54%) of Year 7 to 11 pupils stated that they had been taught topics
related to money since the start of secondary school: Parent, pupil and learner voice: omnibus surveys for
2024 to 2025 - GOV.UK (December 2024)

57 Money & Pensions Service - Hundreds of thousands of young people leaving school every year without

money skills

35

Page 157


https://www.gohenry.com/uk/blog/news/were-working-with-cbi-economics-and-wilson-wright-to-prioritise-financial-education
https://www.gohenry.com/uk/blog/news/were-working-with-cbi-economics-and-wilson-wright-to-prioritise-financial-education
https://beta.ukdataservice.ac.uk/datacatalogue/studies/study?id=8454#!/documentation
https://beta.ukdataservice.ac.uk/datacatalogue/studies/study?id=8454#!/documentation
https://maps.org.uk/en/publications/research/2023/developing-children-young-people-financial-capability
https://maps.org.uk/en/publications/research/2024/the-impact-of-digital-money-on-children-and-young-people#:%7E:text=Why%20it%27s%20important%20to%20explore,improving%20their%20digital%20financial%20literacy.
https://maps.org.uk/en/publications/research/2024/the-impact-of-digital-money-on-children-and-young-people#:%7E:text=Why%20it%27s%20important%20to%20explore,improving%20their%20digital%20financial%20literacy.
https://maps.org.uk/en/publications/research/2023/uk-children-and-young-peoples-financial-wellbeing-survey-financial-foundations#Download-the-Children-and-Young-People-s-Financial-Wellbeing-Survey-report
https://maps.org.uk/en/publications/research/2023/uk-children-and-young-peoples-financial-wellbeing-survey-financial-foundations#Download-the-Children-and-Young-People-s-Financial-Wellbeing-Survey-report
https://maps.org.uk/en/publications/research/2023/uk-children-and-young-peoples-financial-wellbeing-survey-financial-foundations#Download-the-Children-and-Young-People-s-Financial-Wellbeing-Survey-report
https://maps.org.uk/en/publications/research/2023/uk-children-and-young-peoples-financial-wellbeing-survey-financial-foundations#Download-the-Children-and-Young-People-s-Financial-Wellbeing-Survey-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/parent-pupil-and-learner-voice-omnibus-surveys-for-2024-to-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/parent-pupil-and-learner-voice-omnibus-surveys-for-2024-to-2025
https://maps.org.uk/en/media-centre/press-releases/2024/hundreds-of-thousands-leaving-school-without-money-skills
https://maps.org.uk/en/media-centre/press-releases/2024/hundreds-of-thousands-leaving-school-without-money-skills

carers. Nearly half (48%) of parent respondents to the National Parent Survey said that
too little time is spent on financial management skills,®® whilst finance and budgeting was
the most commonly selected area cited for greater focus in the Review’s polling.5°

Whilst the Review recognises the importance of building a strong foundation in numeracy
for developing financial literacy, we have heard from stakeholders and learners that
financial education’s main ‘home’ should not be in Maths.”® Because financial education
incorporates more applied concepts (such as how to manage money well, how to budget
and how to use financial products), the Review recommends greater application of such
concepts in the Citizenship Programme of Study. However, there are interdependencies
between Maths and Citizenship. We therefore recommend that mathematical concepts
relevant to financial education should be introduced in Maths before students are
exposed to them in other subjects. For example, before the topic of compound interest
arises in financial education, students should have first learnt about percentages in
Maths. This would provide the foundational knowledge required before studying loans in
Citizenship. The Citizenship and Maths Programmes of Study should reflect this through
coherent sequencing.

To ensure that all children have access to financial education and other critical elements
of the Citizenship curriculum within primary education onwards, we recommend making
Citizenship (including the financial education elements) part of the national curriculum at
Key Stages 1 and 2 (see Citizenship). We also note the value of further exemplifying the
effective teaching of financial literacy, through resources such as those created by Oak
National Academy.”"

At 16-19, we heard positive examples of developing financial literacy as part of the non-
qualification activity element of learners’ study programmes, including initiatives delivered
in collaboration with employers. Good practice like this should be encouraged, and our
assessment of the evidence and recommendations for non-qualification activity at 16-19
are set out in more detail (see 16-19 non-qualification activity).

Digital literacy

Digital literacy encompasses the knowledge, behaviours and confidence required to use
technologies and computer systems creatively, safely and effectively. It also involves the
ability to make well-informed critical judgements about the implications, risks and impact

88 Parentkind (2024) - The National Parent Survey 2024

89 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Interim Report (Polling of key stage 4 and 16-19 learners and
parents)

70 Two thirds (65-67%) of 11 to 18-year-olds indicated that they would prefer financial literacy to be taught
outside of Maths. Source: Maths Horizons (2025) - Financial literacy report

" Oak National Academy (2025) - Free Key Stage 3 Financial education teaching resources

36

Page 158


https://www.nationalparentsurvey.com/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-interim-report
https://www.mathshorizons.uk/reports/financial-literacy-report
https://www.thenational.academy/teachers/programmes/financial-education-secondary-ks3/units

of how digital technology is used.”? Being digitally literate empowers children and young
people to adapt and thrive in a technology-driven world, use technology safely, and fully
engage with learning across the whole curriculum.

Currently, digital literacy is predominantly located within the Computing curriculum which
comprises Computer Science (50%), Information and Communication Technology

(ICT) (25%) and digital literacy (25%). As set out elsewhere, there is scope to refine the
Computing curriculum to better reflect the knowledge and skills needed for everyday
life, including commonly used technologies (see Computing). Elements of digital literacy
also appear in other subjects. For example, Citizenship addresses misinformation and
disinformation, while Relationships and Sex Education (RSHE) covers online safety,
relationships and digital harms. Geography and Design and Technology incorporate
digital tools such as Geographical Information Systems and 3-D modelling. At 16-19,
learners may access enrichment activities that build digital confidence, although
availability and support vary.

The Review’s Call for Evidence and wider engagement highlights widespread concern
that young people are not developing adequate digital literacy skills, which are essential
both for everyday life and future employment. There are also significant concerns about
the misuse of online technologies and its impact on young people’s wellbeing.”

In our polling, 41% of students said they would like greater emphasis on digital skills or
computing.’* Stakeholders expressed concern about the lack of specificity around digital
literacy within the curriculum, particularly in the Key Stage 4 Computing Programme of
Study. We heard that this lack of clarity is leading to inconsistent practice.

A lack of digital literacy has a negative impact on the ability to safely use, and critically
engage with, digital technology for personal and work-related purposes. Those who

are digitally disengaged can struggle to navigate a digital society and access work
opportunities. Evidence points to a growing but unmet demand for digital skills within

the job market. For example, of vacancies reported to be a result of skills shortages,
29% relate to a lack of digital skills, including 17% that relate to a lack of advanced digital
skills.” The assumption that young people will acquire digital literacy automatically is

2 \We use ‘digital literacy’ over ‘digital skills’ as literacy includes knowledge as well as skills. With rapid
technological change, skills alone can date quickly. The knowledge that underpins these skills, such as
how systems work, is therefore a vital component.

3 Education Select Committee (2024) - Screen time: impacts on education and wellbeing; Young Minds
(2023) - Putting a stop to the endless scroll

74 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Interim Report (Polling of key stage 4 and 16-19 learners and
parents); DfE (2024) - Skills England report: driving growth and widening opportunities also reported that
‘digital and computing occupations and were much more likely to be due to skills shortages (81%) than they
were across all occupations (63%)’.

5 EPI (2022) - Digital Skills Divided: Technical provision for 16 to 19-year-olds - Advanced digital skills
refer to capabilities such as specialist hardware/software system knowledge, application programming,
graphic design, data analysis and web development.

37

Page 159


https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5804/cmselect/cmeduc/118/summary.html
https://www.youngminds.org.uk/about-us/reports-and-impact/policy-reports/our-report-on-the-online-safety-bill/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-interim-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-england-report-driving-growth-and-widening-opportunities
https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/digital-skills-divided-technical-provision-for-16-to-19-year-olds/

incorrect.”® To prepare children and young people for life and work, the curriculum must
offer more robust digital education.

Recent advancements in Al and generative Al have made digital literacy even more
critical. While the long-term impact of Al remains uncertain, young people should
understand how it works, its capabilities and its limitations. They should learn how to
use Al effectively, without becoming dependent on it, and be engaged in the developing
knowledge about both Al’s strengths and limitations.”” Currently the national curriculum
contains limited references to Al, and we recommend this be addressed within the
Computing curriculum (see Computing). We also recommend more frequent updates
to the curriculum in subjects involving rapidly evolving digital technologies (see future
curriculum reviews).

The Review identifies Computing as the primary subject to deliver digital literacy content
and recommends that it provides greater clarity on what should be taught at each key
stage. This will ensure students build essential digital competencies for life and work.
This recommendation applies to all key stages but is particularly important at Key Stage
4, where the Computing Programme of Study presently consists of just three bullet
points. We also recommend broadening the GCSE to incorporate the full breadth of the
Computing curriculum. While other subjects should be enriched through the thoughtful
use of digital technologies, such as using 3-D modelling in Design and Technology (D&T)
and use of geographical information systems in Geography, the foundations must be
developed through Computing.”®

Responsible technology use and awareness of online harms and safety should be
addressed in RSHE, where young people explore the social, emotional and ethical
dimensions of digital life.”® We also recommend that these topics be reinforced in
Computing, given its central role in digital literacy. Critical evaluation of online content,
essential for navigating misinformation and disinformation, should be covered in
Citizenship (see also media literacy). To support teachers, optional resources are
available from Oak National Academy and other providers. However, safeguarding
young people in a digital world demands clear, consistent, and compulsory coverage
across the curriculum.

6 Allmann, K. (2022) - UK Digital Poverty Evidence Review — Digital Poverty Alliance

7 Christodoulou, D. (2025) - ‘Are we living in a stupidogenic society?’

Yan, L., Greiff, S., Teuber, Z. & Gasavi¢, D. (2024) - Promises and challenges of generative artificial
intelligence for human learning

UNESCO (2024) - Generative Artificial Intelligence in education: Think piece by Stefania Giannini

Ahmad, S., Heesup, H., Alam, M., Rehmat M., Irshad, M., Arrafio-Mufioz, M. & Ariza-Montes, A. (2023) -
Impact of artificial intelligence on human loss in decision making, laziness and safety in education

8 As with other recommendations for Computing, the Review notes that wider challenges, for example, the
sufficiency of school infrastructure and access to technologies, will need to be considered in implementing
our recommendations.

79 Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education and Health Education guidance

38

Page 160


https://digitalpovertyalliance.org/uk-digital-poverty-evidence-review/
https://substack.nomoremarking.com/p/are-we-living-in-a-stupidogenic-society?utm_campaign=post&utm_medium=web
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41562-024-02004-5
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41562-024-02004-5
https://www.unesco.org/en/articles/generative-artificial-intelligence-education-think-piece-stefania-giannini
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41599-023-01787-8
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/relationships-education-relationships-and-sex-education-rse-and-health-education

Media literacy

The Review considers media literacy to involve understanding and engaging critically
with the messages conveyed through different media channels, including Al.

This includes understanding how to identify and protect against misinformation and
disinformation by questioning and applying critical enquiry to information and information
sources. Having secure knowledge is essential to discerning truth from falsehoods

and is one of the many reasons why a knowledge-rich curriculum is more, not less
important in the modern world. In addition, it is important that learners utilise the
processes of investigating sources, weighing evidence and applying an informed critical
lens. This is essential in a world where misinformation is prevalent, and facts are
increasingly disputed.

Misinformation and disinformation can take many forms, including scientific (as in the
case of anti-vaccine campaigns or climate change denial), political (as in the case of
deepfake content of political figures or wider misrepresentation of current or historical
events) or more general (such as the prevalence of unverified claims online). Research
has shown this is a growing concern for young people, as well as for teachers and
parents and carers. Over half of young people reported that they have encountered
someone in their class (51%) or on social media (52%) who believes in a conspiracy
theory and almost half of teachers (49%) reported they are at least moderately worried
about a pupil expressing a belief in a conspiracy to them in the classroom.° Ofcom has
observed reduced confidence among young people in identifying fake online content,?
and 42% of parents of Year 6 pupils are not confident that their child is being taught in
school how to fact-check media.®? As such, building media literacy is crucial to equip
children and young people with the necessary tools to critically appraise and engage
with media in all its forms. We recognise the important links to some elements of digital
literacy, particularly when dealing with misinformation and disinformation online.

Some subjects, such as History and Science, already support the development of the
critical analysis which underpins media literacy. In History, students learn (through the
process of historical analysis) to assess separate information sources while accounting
for biases, reliability, perspective and inaccuracies. In Science, students are similarly
taught to critically and empirically evaluate scientific claims. These processes are
essential for encouraging the investigative process which underpins media literacy and
teachers should be encouraged to make these links.

80 Public First (2025) - Commission into Countering Online Conspiracies in Schools

81 Ofcom (2025) - Children and parents: media use and attitudes report 2025. Misinformation and
disinformation have resulted in less than half of UK adults (45%) feeling confident that they can judge
whether sources of information are truthful (Ofcom (2024) - Understanding misinformation: an exploration
of UK adults’ behaviour and attitudes).

82 DfE (2023) - Parent, pupil and learner panel omnibus surveys for 2022 to 2023 - Parent, pupil and
learner panel: 22/23 March/April wave

39

Page 161


https://counteringconspiracies.publicfirst.co.uk/
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/media-use-and-attitudes/media-habits-children/children-and-parents-media-use-and-attitudes-report-2025
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/media-use-and-attitudes/attitudes-to-news/understanding-misinformation-an-exploration-of-uk-adults-behaviour-and-attitudes
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/media-use-and-attitudes/attitudes-to-news/understanding-misinformation-an-exploration-of-uk-adults-behaviour-and-attitudes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/parent-pupil-and-learner-panel-omnibus-surveys-for-2022-to-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/parent-pupil-and-learner-panel-omnibus-surveys-for-2022-to-2023

The national curriculum also has some direct media literacy coverage in Citizenship
(Key Stage 3 and Key Stage 4), RSHE, Computing and English, and in the optional
GCSE Media Studies. Together, these subjects aim to equip children and young people
with the knowledge and skills required to become discerning consumers of media®

and to use information and communication technology creatively, purposefully and
critically. Yet this coverage could be strengthened.

To empower young people to engage critically with the messages they encounter through
different media channels, the Review recommends that the Government strengthens

the role of media literacy in English and Citizenship. We recommend that the nature and
expression of emotive language be explored so that students can understand the various
ways in which language can be used to persuade, and that GCSE English Language
includes analysis of multi-modal and ephemeral text types. Media literacy should be
better specified in both the primary and secondary Citizenship curriculum (and
Citizenship should be added to the national curriculum in Key Stage 1 and 2). This
coordinated approach will ensure all young people are equipped with the knowledge

and skills they need for discerning and critical engagement with all forms of media.

Climate education and sustainability

The climate crisis is already impacting our physical landscape and many connected
aspects of our lives. Given the significance of climate change for our society and the
planet, it is crucial that young people benefit from an understanding of the climate crisis’s
causes, consequences and possible solutions and that they are empowered with the
necessary knowledge and skills to thrive in tomorrow’s industries and tackle the serious
challenges facing our planet.

There is currently minimal explicit inclusion of climate education in the national
curriculum. For example, there are only limited references to climate science and
scientific work to combat climate change in the Science curriculum, while climate change
is not explicitly included in the purpose of study for Geography. There is also no statutory
requirement to teach climate education in Key Stage 1 or 2 (beyond a non-statutory
reference in Citizenship). Whilst there is some climate education at later key stages

in the Programmes of Study for Geography and Science (Key Stage 3 and Key Stage 4),
the depth of content is either minimal or out of date and therefore in need of refreshing.
Similarly, D&T has no focus on sustainability, despite the importance of material choice
and renewable supply chains in this subject. Teachers have said that the lack of visibility
and emphasis on climate education within the national curriculum is a barrier to creating

8 Kahne, J. & Bowyer, B. (2016) - Educating for Democracy in a Partisan Age: Confronting the Challenges
of Motivated Reasoning and Misinformation: ‘media literacy learning experiences that aim to promote
accurate judgment of truth claims appear to be helpful’.

40

Page 162


https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.3102/0002831216679817
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.3102/0002831216679817

an effective curriculum on climate education.® 16-19 providers have also shared
evidence of the need for stronger provision.

Climate education is critically important to the economy and for providing learners with
the knowledge they need for future work. The solutions to the climate crisis require the
expansion of green technology, and this in turn is creating new industries and jobs, and
affecting nearly all sectors of the economy. If young people are to make the most of
these opportunities, it is crucial that they acquire the knowledge and skills necessary to
do s0.8

Young people have been clear about their desire for a greater focus on this area in their
education. As well as being a common theme in our engagement with young people,
polling emphasises their level of concern and significant appetite for further information
on climate change and climate science, including their desire to support solutions.8¢

We therefore make recommendations to bolster the presence of climate education and
sustainability in the Science and Geography curricula, and to emphasise sustainability in
the D&T curriculum. Recommendations for earlier sequencing and refreshed content are
set out in the relevant chapters of this report focusing on Geography, D&T and Science
(see curriculum recommendations by subject). It is important to note that curriculum
content is only one part of the issue: pedagogy has an important role in applying an
engaging climate lens to existing curriculum content. The Review has seen excellent
examples of individual schools and teachers showing leadership in this area, and this is
to be encouraged. For 16-19 learners, the Review heard that opportunities in study
programmes should build on updated content in the pre-16 national curriculum subjects
and equip learners to rise to the challenges of a sustainable future.

84 Elizabeth A. C. Rushton & Nicola Walshe (2025) - Curriculum making and climate change and
sustainability education: a case study of school teachers’ practices from England

85 The Confederation of British Industry (CBI) has expressed concern about a lack of awareness about the
green economy and its potential for growth, and that it is a ‘huge task’ to educate the public about the path
to net zero. Skills England has emphasised that the transition to net zero is likely to affect one in five jobs,
yet despite employment in green industries growing rapidly, awareness of green jobs among young people
remains low, with less than half (47%) of secondary students and learners saying they have heard of green
job opportunities: DfE (2024) - Skills England: driving growth and widening opportunities. DfE (2024) -
Parent, pupil and learner voice: May 2024

8 A recent poll conducted by the British Science Association found that 85% of young people aged 14 to
18 years think that climate change will affect their future (British Science Association (2020) - Future
Forum: Ageing society, Al & data, clean growth and future of mobility). A survey by the Lancet (16 to 25-
year-olds) similarly found four in five young people (84%) feel moderately to extremely worried about
climate change, and over half (56%) feel powerless to tackle it: (Hickman, C., Marks, E., Pihkala, P.,
Clayton, S., Lewandowski, E., Mayall, E. et al. (2021) - Climate anxiety in children and young people and
their beliefs about government responses to climate change: a global survey). A survey by the Woodland
Trust & YouGov (of 16 to 24-year-olds) found that over two-thirds (70%) of young people are worried about
climate change and nearly half (46%) feel they have no influence over it (YouGov / Woodland Trust (2023)
- Trust Results 230210); Youth Shadow Panel (2025) - Interim Report

41

Page 163


https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13504622.2025.2471990
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13504622.2025.2471990
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-england-report-driving-growth-and-widening-opportunities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/parent-pupil-and-learner-voice-omnibus-surveys-for-2023-to-2024/parent-pupil-and-learner-voice-may-2024
https://www.britishscienceassociation.org/future-forums
https://www.britishscienceassociation.org/future-forums
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanplh/article/PIIS2542-5196(21)00278-3/fulltext
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanplh/article/PIIS2542-5196(21)00278-3/fulltext
https://yougov.co.uk/(popup:search/woodland%20trust%20results%20230210)
https://shadowpanel.uk/

Oracy

The Review considers oracy to incorporate speaking, listening, and communication,
including verbal as well as other forms of non-written communication, such as sign
language, non-verbal and Alternative and Augmentative Communication (AAC).

The evidence for the benefits of oracy for young people’s learning and life chances
is well established. According to the Education Endowment Foundation (EEF), oracy
interventions lead to significant improvements in student outcomes.?’

Oracy is also important for future study, life and work. Evidence suggests that oracy
can support active learning, critical thinking, and enhance students’ engagement and
understanding.®® In addition, the National Foundation for Educational Research (NFER)
lists communication skills and English language skills in the top 20 skills (out of 161)

in both current demand for these skills and the expected future increased demand.®®
Strong verbal communication also has clear benefits throughout life. For example,

it improves workplace cohesion and productivity,®® and it has important benefits for
psychological and physical health in later life.®’

Our review of the evidence has highlighted the need for further support and guidance for
oracy and spoken language interventions. In 2024, over a fifth of children did not meet
the expected standards in all the early learning goals in communication and language

in their Early Years Foundation Stage profile, while those eligible for free school meals
(FSM) and those with SEN were less likely than their peers to meet the same
standards.%?

The current national curriculum has some emphasis on spoken language, including in
the overarching curriculum aims and individual Programmes of Study throughout the

key stages, including the English, Maths and Science curricula at primary and secondary.
At 16-19, through the Review’s evidence-gathering and conversations with sector
specialists, we heard many good examples of schools and colleges designing
enrichment, employment and pastoral activities. These were designed to provide
opportunities for learners to build confidence in core skills for employment such as
communication, teamwork, and leadership. However, we have also heard clearly that
these are not sufficiently widespread and that the attention to oracy is insufficient.

Through the Call for Evidence and our wider engagement with the education sector,
stakeholders told us that the guidance for schools on spoken language is limited in its

87 EEF (2025) - Oral language interventions: Technical Appendix

88 EEF (2025) - Oral language interventions

89 NFER (2024) - An analysis of the demand for skills in the labour market in 2035 - Revised projections
% Haq, I. & Faizan, R (2023) - Communication Within the Workplace: Systematic Review of Essentials of
Communication

91 Fisher, C. & Roccotagliata, T. (2017) - Interpersonal Communication Across the Life Span | Oxford
Research Encyclopedia of Communication

92 DFE (2025) - Early years foundation stage profile results

42

Page 164


https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/education-evidence/teaching-learning-toolkit/oral-language-interventions/technical-appendix
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/education-evidence/teaching-learning-toolkit/oral-language-interventions
https://www.nfer.ac.uk/media/2p5lkqim/an-analysis-of-the-demand-for-skills_revised-projections.pdf
https://www.ijabms.com/
https://www.ijabms.com/
https://oxfordre.com/communication/display/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228613.001.0001/acrefore-9780190228613-e-201
https://oxfordre.com/communication/display/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228613.001.0001/acrefore-9780190228613-e-201
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/8a8952f6-f8b5-4d90-8acf-08ddbed6edd3

scope and specificity. As a result, teaching and spoken language interventions are
implemented inconsistently. In addition, the Review Panel received feedback that there
is a lack of clear progression for spoken language across both primary and secondary
education, with little support or guidance to define progression. This is also emphasised
in the Oracy Commission’s 2024 report.®® In summary, the evidence suggests that the
current emphasis on spoken language in the curriculum aims is not always reflected in
classroom practice, nor is it meeting the needs of all children and young people.

The Review has considered how oracy might be strengthened in specific subjects within
the curriculum. The recommendations for oracy in the English chapter emphasise the
need for the English curriculum to make speaking and listening requirements more
prominent, including through giving greater prominence to Drama (see English). The
Citizenship chapter recommends greater specificity on oracy within both the primary and
secondary curriculum (with Citizenship being added to the national curriculum in Key
Stages 1 and 2) (see Citizenship). More widely, we recommend the introduction of a new
oracy framework to support good practice. These recommendations are intended to
secure an improved oracy offer to ensure young people benefit from a skill that will help
them at every stage of their lives.

We recommend that the Government:

¢ Introduces an oracy framework to support practice and to complement the existing
frameworks for Reading and Writing. %

93 Oracy Education Commission (2024) - We need to talk, 2024
9 DfE (2023) - The reading framework; DfE (2025) - The writing framework
43

Page 165


https://oracyeducationcommission.co.uk/oec-report/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-reading-framework-teaching-the-foundations-of-literacy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-writing-framework

Curriculum shape and content

The following section sets out our analysis of compulsory education for children and
young people age 5 to 16. We begin by examining the structure and content of the
national curriculum. We then set out the curriculum principles we recommend for the
refreshing of Programmes of Study. Finally, we assess and make recommendations
for each curriculum subject.

Our view of the key stages

The Review considers the architecture of key stages to be a feature of the English
education system that is working well in structuring young people’s learning to the end
of compulsory schooling.

Key Stages 1 and 2 provide the foundation for future learning and development. Itis a
time when pupils develop core knowledge and skills, and consolidate and deepen their
understanding across a broad range of subjects, but it is also when they begin to develop
curiosity, enthusiasm and joy in learning which can last a lifetime.

Whilst the Review has taken a subject-by-subject approach, recognising the distinct ways
in which knowledge and skills develop within each discipline, we also acknowledge the
unique nature of primary education and the developmental needs of primary-aged pupils.
Key Stages 1 and 2 are not merely preparation for secondary education; they are
formative in their own right. The primary context offers opportunities for breadth and

for meaningful connections to be drawn across subjects. These connections should be
developmentally appropriate and pedagogically rich, helping pupils to build secure
foundations for future learning. This approach is not in contrast with the disciplinary
integrity of individual subjects but reflects the distinctive potential of the primary phase.

A well-designed curriculum in Key Stages 1 and 2 can nurture curiosity, support mastery
and foster a love of learning whilst ensuring that pupils are well prepared for Key Stage 3.

Throughout the Review, primary practitioners and subject experts have consistently
highlighted that, whilst the curriculum at Key Stages 1 and 2 is broad in its scope, this
can come at the expense of depth. The volume of content in many subjects makes it
challenging to explore topics in sufficient detail, affecting pupils’ ability to master key
concepts. Conversely, many of the foundation subjects in the national curriculum lack
detail, which means that teachers are unclear about what is sufficient in terms of depth
or breadth. This lack of clarity also leads to inconsistent coverage of content across
schools, making it more challenging to ensure knowledge is built coherently and
sequentially across the key stages. Through our recommendations, we aim to secure
strong foundations in numeracy and literacy, ensuring all pupils complete Key Stage 2
with fluency in reading, writing and number. We also seek to guarantee access to a

44

Page 166



broad and rich primary curriculum, including subjects such as Citizenship, Languages,
and Music. Finally, we support greater breadth and depth in learning to foster curiosity,
confidence, and long-term engagement.

Key Stage 3 lays the foundation for success at Key Stage 4 and beyond. A well-
designed Key Stage 3 curriculum is essential for sustained momentum in learning.

It covers a broad range of subjects which should engage students, stimulate interest
and build successful learning. However, evidence suggests that their progress is
being held back by structural challenges. This includes limited continuity between
Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3, and lower resource and/or prioritisation of Key Stage 3
relative to Key Stage 4.

The absence of national data at Key Stage 3 makes it difficult to monitor attainment
robustly, but it is clear that progress at Key Stage 3 is often slower than at Key Stage 2,
particularly in core subjects.® Similar to other key stages, there is also evidence that in
Key Stage 3 students from socio-economically disadvantaged backgrounds are at risk
of falling behind their more affluent peers (even when accounting for prior performance).
At this key stage, the performance of initially high-achieving students from the most
disadvantaged backgrounds converges significantly with that of initially lower-achieving
students from the least disadvantaged backgrounds.®®

Transitions between schools can be challenging. Entering Key Stage 3, students often
face a new school environment and a new curriculum, which can compound any existing
difficulties.®” Stakeholders frequently report that secondary schools tend to plan their
Key Stage 3 curriculum backwards from GCSE requirements rather than forward from
Key Stage 2 learning, resulting in repetition and leading to disengagement, especially
among higher-attaining students.% We heard that a lack of detail relating to the
requirements many national curriculum subjects across Key Stage 3 - including a lack
of clarity on what progression from Key Stage 2 to 3 should look like - hampers effective
transitions and the building of knowledge and skills.

Our recommendations are designed to tackle these challenges by improving curriculum
content, specificity and continuity, introducing a diagnostic assessment tool to support
progress and strengthening the educational experience during this critical stage.

9 DfE (2011) - How do pupils progress during key stages 2 and 37?; EPI (2023) - Star Assessments
Benchmarking Report 2022/23

9 Crawford, C., Macmillan, L. & Vignoles, A. (2015) - When and why do initially high attaining poor children
fall behind?

97 DfE (2015) - Key stage 3: the wasted years?; van Rens, M., Haelermans, C., Groot, W. & Maassen van
den Brink, H. (2018) - Facilitating a Successful Transition to Secondary School: (How) Does it Work? A
Systematic Literature Review; Evans, D., Borriello, G. & Field, A. (2018) - A Review of the Academic and
Psychological Impact of the Transition to Secondary Education

98 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Analysis of Call for Evidence responses; ASCL (2024) - Curriculum
and Assessment Review: Call for Evidence.

45

Page 167


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-do-pupils-progress-during-key-stages-2-and-3
https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/star-assessments-benchmarking-report-2022-23/
https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/star-assessments-benchmarking-report-2022-23/
https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/121535/
https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/121535/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/key-stage-3-the-wasted-years
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40894-017-0063-2
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40894-017-0063-2
https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/psychology/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01482/full
https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/psychology/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01482/full
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.ascl.org.uk/Our-view/Consultation-responses/Curriculum-and-Assessment-Review-Call-for-evidence
https://www.ascl.org.uk/Our-view/Consultation-responses/Curriculum-and-Assessment-Review-Call-for-evidence

Key Stage 4 is when students begin to specialise. They select qualifications that shape
their learning and influence their future pathways because they have a direct impact on
access to further education, training and employment. A wide range of academic and
vocational subjects are available at Key Stage 4, supported by performance measures
designed to encourage breadth and ambition. In particular, Progress 8 has helped to
shift the focus towards development over time, rewarding schools for the progress their
students make rather than simply their final grades.

We have consistently heard from stakeholders that two challenges impede progress at
Key Stage 4. First, the volume of content in Key Stage 4 qualifications, especially in
GCSEs, can limit subject depth and squeeze the time available for non-assessed but
mandatory subjects such as Physical Education (PE), Religious Education (RE),
Citizenship and Relationships, Sex and Health Education (RSHE). Second, although the
English Baccalaureate (EBacc) was introduced to promote access to a core academic
curriculum and reduce inequalities in subject choice, concerns persist about its impact on
students’ engagement, curriculum flexibility and the breadth of study (see accountability).

Key Stage 4 should be a phase where students pursue meaningful qualifications,
experience a rich and balanced curriculum and prepare confidently for the next stage of
their education or training. Our recommendations aim to refine curriculum expectations,
recalibrate accountability measures and ensure that all students can access a curriculum
that reflects their interests and enables them to achieve and thrive.

Curriculum principles

We recommend that the Government adopts the following curriculum principles when
drafting Programmes of Study for the refreshed national curriculum.

An entitlement for children and young people

The national curriculum is an entitlement for all children and young people. It ensures
their access to the precious knowledge and skills that best supports them to thrive as
individuals and as future citizens and workers; in turn, they contribute to the knowledge
and experience imparted to future generations. This expression of what we want young
people to know and be able to do by the end of statutory schooling is, therefore, an
investment, for their benefit and for that of the nation. It should promote their intellectual,
social, cultural, spiritual and moral, emotional and physical development. It should be
appropriately aspirational, engaging and demanding to reflect the high expectations and
excellence our young people deserve.

46

Page 168



Curriculum principle:

o The refreshed national curriculum must be an aspirational, engaging and
demanding offer that reflects the high expectations and excellence our young
people deserve, irrespective of background.

Knowledge-rich

The refreshed national curriculum should maintain a knowledge-rich approach. This
emphasises the building of a deep understanding of subject matter and concepts via
carefully sequenced teaching, supporting retention and fluency.®® This approach also
ensures that all children and young people, regardless of background, have access
to a broad and rich foundational body of knowledge, thereby reducing inequalities.

A curriculum centred on ‘powerful knowledge''® provides a shared frame of reference
for children and young people from different backgrounds, enabling them to engage
more effectively with issues affecting them and the world around them. 10’

The refreshed curriculum must provide the knowledge and skills that will empower young
people to thrive as citizens, in work and throughout life, in the light of the challenges

and opportunities facing them today. A knowledge-rich curriculum need not omit or be

in opposition to the development of skills. The skills and capabilities that are an inherent
and desirable aspect of a rich, broad and balanced curriculum arise from, and are
situated within, a knowledge-rich curriculum.02

Curriculum principle:

o The refreshed national curriculum should retain a knowledge-rich approach,
ensuring skills are developed in conjunction with knowledge in ways that are
appropriate for each subject discipline.

% Surma, T., Vanhees, C., Wils, M., Nijlunsing, J., Crato, N., Hattie, J., Muijs, D., Rata, E. & Wiliam, D.
(2025) - Developing Curriculum for Deep Thinking: The Knowledge Revival (page 46); EEF (2019) - What
do we mean by ‘knowledge rich’ anyway?; Willingham, D. (2009) - Why Don't Students Like School?: A
Coagnitive Scientist Answers Questions About How the Mind Works and What It Means for the Classroom
190 Young, M. & Muller, J. (2014) - On the Powers of Powerful Knowledge; Young, M., Lambert, D.,
Roberts, C. and Roberts, M. (2014) Knowledge and the future school: Curriculum and social justice.
Bloomsbury Publishing

01 Wheelahan (2012) - Why Knowledge Matters in Curriculum | A Social Realist Argument; Young, M.
(2013) - Overcoming the crisis in curriculum theory: a knowledge-based approach

192Albeit it is important to note that it is teachers, as ‘curriculum makers’ that enable this in practice; see
Deng, Z. (2022) - Powerful knowledge, educational potential and knowledge-rich curriculum: Pushing the
boundaries; Lambert, D., Béneker, T. & Bladh, G. (2023) - Teaching Quality in Geography: What Are We
Trying to Achieve?

47

Page 169


https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-031-74661-1
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/news/eef-blog-what-do-we-mean-by-knowledge-rich-anyway
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/news/eef-blog-what-do-we-mean-by-knowledge-rich-anyway
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/230852891_Why_Don't_Students_Like_School_A_Cognitive_Scientist_Answers_Questions_About_How_the_Mind_Works_and_What_It_Means_for_the_Classroom
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/230852891_Why_Don't_Students_Like_School_A_Cognitive_Scientist_Answers_Questions_About_How_the_Mind_Works_and_What_It_Means_for_the_Classroom
https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1057/9781137429261_3
https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/mono/10.4324/9780203860236/knowledge-matters-curriculum-leesa-wheelahan
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00220272.2013.764505
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00220272.2022.2089538
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00220272.2022.2089538
https://www.zgd-journal.de/index.php/zgd/article/view/187
https://www.zgd-journal.de/index.php/zgd/article/view/187

Curriculum depth and mastery of core concepts

Mastery of core concepts'®® is necessary for children and young people to develop a
deep understanding of subject disciplines. Knowledge is cumulative and, with a strong
knowledge base (and deliberate revisiting of prior knowledge), they can build new
knowledge in their long-term memory more easily.'® An absence of this can inhibit them
from securing the necessary depth of knowledge to make progress in their learning,
particularly for some with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND).'% We are
not advocating unnecessary repetition, which can reduce engagement. Rather, the
curriculum should ensure that children and young people have sufficient space to secure,
deepen and extend their foundational knowledge and skills, building on prior learning.

A broad and balanced curriculum remains important, and breadth, particularly across
subjects, is essential. Within subjects, however, there must be depth, with a volume of
content that permits this.

Curriculum principle:

e The national curriculum should be constructed so that it supports children and
young people to master core concepts, ensuring sufficient space for them to
build their knowledge and deepen their understanding.

Curriculum coherence

For a curriculum to work successfully, it needs to be coherent. Coherent curricula are
‘articulated over time as a sequence of topics and performances that are logical and
reflect, where appropriate, the sequential or hierarchical nature of the disciplinary content
from which the subject matter derives’.'%

Building deep understanding in a curriculum area requires vertical coherence through
all phases, meaning the curriculum is carefully sequenced to build on the content and
essential concepts in each phase.'%” The construction of such sequences of learning will
vary between subject disciplines: for example, it would look different in subjects that are

193 In this report, we define ‘mastery’ as acquiring a deep understanding of subject matter, which involves
secure knowledge retention and the ability to apply this knowledge in different scenarios. We are not
referring to ‘mastery learning’, a pedagogical approach which EEF gives a clear definition of here, or
‘teaching for mastery’, a specific approach to teaching mathematics that originated in East Asia.

104 Alexander, P., Kulikowich, J. & Schulze, S. (1994) - How Subject-Matter Knowledge Affects Recall and
Interest; Ansari, A. (1968) - Educational psychology: A cognitive view; Shapiro, A. (2004) - How including
Prior Knowledge as a Subject Variable May Change Outcomes of Learning Research

05 For example, space in the curriculum to ensure foundational knowledge is secure particularly supports
pupils with learning difficulties, allowing them to master the core concepts needed to develop further
understanding.

106 Schmidt, W., Houang, R., Cogan, L. (2002) - A coherent curriculum: The case of mathematics

197 Curriculum designers and academics use different names for the essential concepts of a coherent
curriculum, including the ‘unifying ideas of the discipline’, ‘big ideas’, ‘threads’ and ‘core concepts’.

48

Page 170


https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/education-evidence/teaching-learning-toolkit/mastery-learning
https://www.jstor.org/stable/1163312
https://www.jstor.org/stable/1163312
https://www.academia.edu/1832915/Educational_psychology_A_cognitive_view
https://www.jstor.org/stable/3699387
https://www.jstor.org/stable/3699387
https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ660271

largely hierarchical in nature to those that are largely cumulative. Crucially, curriculum
coherence should be evident in all cases, because a coherent curriculum supports
effective progression between key stages, with students building clear connections
between what they have previously learned and what they are learning today.

Vertical coherence is not just about sequencing content; it can also support its selection
and prioritisation, helping to avoid the overcrowding that can result in rushed and
shallow coverage.

It is also important to ensure horizontal coherence in the curriculum. We are committed
to the existing subject architecture of the national curriculum. However, better horizontal
links could be made across subjects to highlight where content in one area relies on
content in another. This supports teachers as well as children and young people. For
example, the mathematical content in a given phase might be required simultaneously
to access other parts of the curriculum, such as science or financial education. This is
particularly important in areas such as literacy, oracy, numeracy or digital literacy,
which have coverage and application across numerous curriculum areas. It is especially
relevant in the primary phase, where teachers typically teach the full breadth of the
curriculum and where well-aligned, cross-disciplinary content can support effective
teaching and learning. Horizontal coherence in the curriculum provides children and
young people with a coordinated and logical arrangement of topics across subjects, as
well as within them.

Curriculum principle:

e Curriculum coherence should be an organising principle for curriculum drafters
and support the selection and prioritisation of content. Where appropriate,
vertical core concepts on which subjects have been constructed should be
clearly presented, and horizontal coherence should be ensured.

Specificity

Specificity and precise language are essential to securing curriculum continuity,
curriculum coherence and aiding mastery of concepts. The Programmes of Study for
some foundation subjects currently lack specificity, which can result in teachers feeling
pressured to ‘cover all bases’ or repeat content across years and key stages. We are
clear that greater specificity should not mean greater volume of content and should not
unnecessarily impede schools’ or teachers’ autonomy. Foundation subjects’ Programmes
of Study should be drafted with a minimalist approach to added detail, carefully balanced
with the need to ensure the greater specificity which aids conceptual mastery, continuity
and coherence.

We know that some groups of children and young people are more likely to struggle
with transitions between key stages and tend to make poorer progress following them.
49

Page 171



We heard through the Call for Evidence that transitions are not always effective between
key stages, particularly between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3. At Key Stage 3, we

also heard that there is repetition in the curriculum which can cause learners to become
disengaged. It is essential that curriculum content is clear, specific and demonstrates
continuity, avoiding both gaps in essential content and unnecessary repetition of it.

Curriculum principle:

e Foundation subject content should specify the essential substantive knowledge
and skills which should be taught to enable children and young people to meet
expectations at the end of each key stage.

Professional autonomy

The national curriculum is only one part of a school’s overall curriculum, and it is
important that teachers and leaders have space to exercise their professional judgement
and innovate. Professional autonomy allows teachers, schools and multi-academy trusts
to be creative, innovative and ensure that they can meet children and young people’s
needs through a locally relevant curriculum.

As we stated in our conceptual position paper,’® a rich and well-specified national
curriculum supports and empowers teachers’ professional practice. Teachers act as
‘curriculum makers’, interpreting and transforming the content in the national curriculum
to ‘author’ instructional events with students in the classroom. At the core of curriculum-
making is the process of unpacking and interpreting content to unlock its educational
potential.'®® The Review supports the innovation and professionalism of teachers,
enabling them to adapt how they teach the curriculum to reflect their students’ lives and
experiences. The national curriculum is intended as a baseline rather than imposing
limits, and it is the expertise of our teachers that brings it to life in the classroom.

Ensuring the profession has the space to develop the curriculum is essential to enable
the stretch and/or support learners need, enabling inclusive and adaptive teaching to
happen for individual children and young people. This is particularly important in the
context of greater numbers of them being identified as having SEND. "% To that end,
the national curriculum should be teachable within the time available and should not
be so specific that it restricts teachers’ autonomy (see the national curriculum as a tool
for teachers).

108 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Interim Report (Conceptual position paper)

99 Deng, Z. (2022) - Powerful knowledge, educational potential and knowledge-rich curriculum: pushing
the boundaries; Deng, Z. (2025) - Knowledge and curriculum: towards an educational and
Didaktik/curriculum way of thinking and theorizing

110 DfE (2025) - Special Educational needs in England over time

50

Page 172


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-interim-report
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00220272.2022.2089538#abstract
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00220272.2022.2089538#abstract
https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/tcus20/57/1?nav=tocList
https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/tcus20/57/1?nav=tocList
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/c7dc594e-13a5-4867-a158-08dde2cf2374

Curriculum principle:

e The refreshed national curriculum should ensure the professional autonomy of
teachers is maintained, making sure that greater specificity does not
substantially restrict teachers’ flexibility to choose lesson content and how to
teach it.

A curriculum for all

The national curriculum is for all our children and young people, and they should feel
both included in it and represented by it. This is intrinsically important, but it also supports
engagement, ' and ensures that all young people are exposed to a wide range of
perspectives that serve to broaden their horizons, rather than limiting them to narrow
frames of reference based on their background. As set out in our Terms of Reference,
the Review will seek to deliver a curriculum that reflects the issues and diversities of our
society (such as protected characteristics and socio-economic background), ensuring all
children and young people are represented.

While the national curriculum already offers flexibility for teachers to integrate inclusive
and diverse learning experiences, we heard that more needs to be done to ensure that
all young people feel represented, to deliver on the equalities duties to support equality
of opportunity, and to challenge discrimination.''? Responses to our Call for Evidence
identified opportunities to broaden representation in relation to protected characteristics
and socio-economic background across many subjects. In Art and Design, research
shows that works by minority ethnic artists are rarely used, despite the subject’s potential
to reflect Britain’s cultural diversity and contributions to the discipline.’'3 In English,

while the curriculum allows for a range of texts, we heard that in practice selections often
lack breadth, shaped by limited availability of resources and a tendency to rely on
well-established works. "4 Likewise, we heard that in Drama and Dance, work is needed
to broaden the range of creators, performers, styles and genres studied. In History,
teachers called for clearer guidance to help them reflect the subject’s inherent diversity
without replacing core content.’'® In Music, stakeholders noted that terminology and

"1 DfE (2012) - The impact of pupil behaviour and wellbeing on educational outcomes - GOV.UK;
UNESCO (2017) - A Guide for Ensuring Inclusion and Equity in Education

"2 The National Archives (2025) - Equality Act 2010

13 Runnymede trust (2024) - Race & inclusion in secondary school art education

114 Penguin books UK and Runnymede trust (2021) - Lit in Colour; T.S. Dee & E.K. Penner (2017) - The
Causal Effects of Cultural Relevance

5 Survey of 497 secondary History teachers in England. Historical Association (2024) Secondary Survey.
115 Association of School and College Leaders (2024) - ASCL response to the Curriculum and Assessment
Review call for evidence

"5 Runnymede Trust (2024) - Curriculum and Assessment Review: A Response from the Runnymede
Trust

115 United Learning (2024) - Curriculum and Assessment Review Call for Evidence: United Learning
response

51

Page 173


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-impact-of-pupil-behaviour-and-wellbeing-on-educational-outcomes
https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000248254
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/part/11/chapter/1
https://www.runnymedetrust.org/visualise
https://litincolour.penguin.co.uk/
https://www.jstor.org/stable/44245373
https://www.jstor.org/stable/44245373
https://www.history.org.uk/secondary/categories/409/news/4433/ha-secondary-history-survey-2024
https://www.ascl.org.uk/Our-view/Consultation-responses/Curriculum-and-Assessment-Review-Call-for-evidence
https://www.ascl.org.uk/Our-view/Consultation-responses/Curriculum-and-Assessment-Review-Call-for-evidence
https://www.runnymedetrust.org/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-a-response-from-the-runnymede-trust
https://www.runnymedetrust.org/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-a-response-from-the-runnymede-trust
https://unitedcurriculum.org.uk/united-thinking
https://unitedcurriculum.org.uk/united-thinking

assessment criteria can limit the inclusion of diverse genres and styles. We recommend
updating subject content and Programmes of Study to reflect a broader range of
perspectives and experiences, while retaining foundational disciplinary knowledge.
Core knowledge and key works that shape a subject must remain central. However, we
are clear that diverse contributions to subject disciplines enable a complete, broad and
balanced curriculum. This is sometimes more appropriately achieved through teacher
selection of content than centralised prescription in the national curriculum and should
be supported by high-quality exemplification resources (for example, from Oak National
Academy and other providers) and a wider selection of inclusive materials from
publishers and exam boards.

Curriculum principle:

e The national curriculum is for all our children and young people. As such, it
should reflect our diverse society and the contributions of people of all
backgrounds to our knowledge and culture.

We recommend that the Government:

o Reviews and updates all Programmes of Study - and, where appropriate, the
corresponding GCSE Subject Content - to include stronger representation of the
diversity that makes up our modern society, allowing more children to see
themselves in the curriculum.

The national curriculum as a tool for teachers

The current static nature of the national curriculum’s Programmes of Study, which exist
online in a series of PDFs, makes it difficult for teachers to locate content in the phases
or subjects they do not teach. This has implications for transitions between years and key
stages, particularly when this involves a change of teacher or school for children and
young people. It can make it harder for teachers to understand previous coverage, make
connections to earlier or future learning and set appropriate expectations. This challenge
also applies to the GCSE subject content documents, which are presented in the same
format. As discussed earlier, if teachers can see the horizontal links across subjects as
well as the vertical links within them, the benefits are clear.

The national curriculum should therefore be an active, navigable, online product that is
easy to use for teachers and school leaders. Improving its presentation should enhance
professional practice by helping teachers to place curriculum content within a larger
sequence. By clearly identifying the knowledge and skills which should have been learnt
in earlier phases, teachers can introduce new material as part of a seamless education.

52

Page 174



We recommend that the Government:

e Develops the national curriculum as a digital product that can support teachers
to navigate content easily and to see and make connections across key stages
and disciplines.

The curriculum principles already outlined support curriculum design that is inclusive for
the majority of students. Access to the national curriculum should remain an expectation
for all children and young people and is important for ensuring a broad and balanced
education for all, supporting their engagement and wider opportunities. Adaptive teaching
plays an important role in supporting inclusion, and in the majority of cases these pupils
will be able to study the full national curriculum. There is, however, also a need for clear
advice on effective approaches to adapting the curriculum, both to enable young people
to access the full curriculum, and to ensure a rich offer and good progress for those who
are unable to access it in full. This must support teachers and school leaders to adapt
their curriculum for children and young people with SEND, taking into account their
varied, multi-faceted needs. Such guidance should be non-statutory.

Bodies such as Oak National Academy may be able to support teachers in this area by
providing teachers with resources, progression scaffolds and exemplification of good
practice.

We recommend that the Government:

o Develops a programme of work to provide evidence-led guidance on curriculum
and pedagogical adaptation (as well as exemplification) for children and young
people with SEND, including those in specialist provision, who experience
various barriers to accessing the curriculum.

When drafting Programmes of Study, clear aims and ways of working should be
established at the outset. All participants and external advisers should subscribe to
these. This should aid clarity, manage expectations and avoid sub-optimal compromises
being made which are not led by robust evidence, but rather by consensus-seeking.

Maintaining an evidence-led approach is crucial. This must include a variety of evidence,
including robust longitudinal data and research. It should include a critical approach to
claims and assumptions which are not rigorously substantiated by independent research.

To ensure the refreshed Programmes of Study are deliverable and to help teachers to
teach content effectively, the drafting process must involve teachers, as well as be
informed by subject specialists’ knowledge of the discipline. Consideration of the

53

Page 175



curriculum time available is important in drafting Programmes of Study to ensure the
national curriculum is ambitious but deliverable. This is crucial for avoiding an
overcrowded, ‘shallow’ curriculum.

We recommend that the Government:

e Involves teachers in the testing and design of Programmes of Study as part of
the drafting process. This must take into consideration the curriculum time that
is available, ensuring the national curriculum is ambitious but teachable within a
typical school timetable.

54

Page 176



Curriculum recommendations by subject

In the following sections we discuss and make recommendations for each curriculum
subject, in alphabetical order (Cooking and Nutrition, Drama and Dance are included
within their parent subjects of Design and Technology (D&T), English and PE,
respectively). This includes a summary of some key information on each curriculum
subject, including their status in the national curriculum and qualification take-up,
where applicable. 6

Art and Design

¢ Art and Design is a statutory foundation subject in the national curriculum from
Key Stages 1 to 3.

o At Key Stage 4, the entitlement to study a subject in the arts includes Art and
Design. GCSE Art and Design take-up was 26% in 2009/10 and 27% in 2024/25.
Technical Award take-up has been 1% since 2015/16.

o In 2024/25, 93% of state-funded schools had entries in the GCSE qualification and
5% into the Technical Award. Overall, 94% of schools offer Art and Design
qualifications.

e A Level Art and Design entries made up 6% of A Level entries in 2009/10 and 5%
in 2023/24.

Art and Design remains a popular subject in the national curriculum. We have heard
from many art teachers through our Call for Evidence and public engagement that they
enjoy teaching art and that they relish the flexibility of the present curriculum across all
key stages. In particular, Art and Design continues to thrive at Key Stage 4. The number
of students choosing to take GCSE Art and Design remains strong, demonstrating the
subject’s continued appeal to young people.'”

However, sector research and responses to our Call for Evidence highlight certain areas
where the national curriculum and the GCSE qualification should be strengthened.'8

16 For 2024/25, Key Stage 4 subject take-up refers to the proportion of pupils at the end of Key Stage 4
entering the subject. This is taken by dividing the number of pupils taking each subject (Subject entries
2024/25) by the number of pupils at the end of Key Stage 4 in 2024/25; for earlier years, subject trends are
taken from Curriculum subject trends over time. A Level entry figures by subjects are taken from: DfE
(2024) - 16 to 18 time series attainment and single year entry dashboard

"7 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Call for Evidence: (Curriculum subject trends over time); DfE
(2025) - Pupils at the end of Key Stage 4 2024/25; DfE (2025) - Subject entries 2024/25. To note, whilst
GCSE uptake has remained strong, trends for teaching time for Art and Design indicate a slight decline,
from 3.5% in 2011/12 to 2.9% in 2024/25. DfE (2025) - Teaching time Key Stage 3-4

18 Fabian Society (2019) - Primary colours; All-Party Parliamentary Group for Art, Craft and Design (2023)
- Art Now: An Inquiry into the state of Art and Design teaching in early years foundation stage, primary and
secondary education

55

Page 177


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/b7198f70-24bf-44f8-0bb5-08de07233b94
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/b7198f70-24bf-44f8-0bb5-08de07233b94
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/0450b6ff-b88d-4f9d-f8f4-08de0724494a
https://consult.education.gov.uk/curriculum-and-assessment-team/curriculum-and-assessment-review-call-for-evidence/
https://department-for-education.shinyapps.io/ks5-timeseries-attainment-and-single-year-entries/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/curriculum-and-assessment-team/curriculum-and-assessment-review-call-for-evidence/
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/0450b6ff-b88d-4f9d-f8f4-08de0724494a
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/b7198f70-24bf-44f8-0bb5-08de07233b94
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/86a7ab65-4d6c-4383-9229-08dde40b59a1
https://fabians.org.uk/publication/primary-colours/
https://www.nsead.org/community-activism/policy-and-research/all-party-parliamentary-group/artnow-inquiry-2023/
https://www.nsead.org/community-activism/policy-and-research/all-party-parliamentary-group/artnow-inquiry-2023/

We therefore recommend some limited revisions are made to the Art and Design
curriculum so that this popular subject continues to deliver the knowledge and skills
young people require to thrive creatively.

The current Key Stage 1 to 3 Programmes of Study''® offer flexibility and autonomy,
which are valued by many art teachers. However, feedback from our Call for Evidence
highlighted challenges with curriculum content. Sector stakeholders asserted that
non-specialist teachers, particularly at primary,'?° can lack the confidence and training to
teach the curriculum effectively, citing the lack of detail in the Programmes of Study as a
barrier. Ofsted notes the value of building sequential disciplinary, theoretical and practical
knowledge in Art and Design through practice, reflection and engagement.’?' However,
respondents to the Call for Evidence told us that the current curriculum could do more to
articulate how students’ practical knowledge and skills should progress throughout their
study. We also heard calls to include more detail on using alternative media to meet
concerns about a narrow focus on drawing and painting in many settings.'??

We therefore recommend that the Key Stage 1 to 3 Programmes of Study are revised

to clarify the knowledge and skills that pupils are expected to develop. Any revisions
should be relatively minimal, retaining the aims of the current Art and Design curriculum
and maintaining its focus on creativity. The overall volume of content should not increase,
and revisions should add specificity about how to develop knowledge and skills in a
sequenced and meaningful way.

GCSE Art and Design is wholly practically assessed, with 60% of the grade based on
coursework, and 40% on the production of one or more ‘artefacts’ during a 10-hour timed
period in exam conditions.'>® However, concerns were raised about a lack of clarity
around the expected volume of work in a high-stakes context. This has created a
perception that, to achieve higher grades, students are expected to generate types or
volumes of coursework that are not strictly required by awarding organisations, resulting
in significant workload for them, much of it undertaken outside classroom time. In
particular, it was felt that expectations around products such as sketchbooks were
unclear, especially regarding how much time students should spend creating them and
what quantity of work should be represented. We therefore recommend that the volume
and range of work required at GCSE are clarified to support teachers to use teaching
time more effectively and to ensure that students’ workload is proportionate.

9 DfE (2013) - National curriculum in England: art and design programmes of study

120 An Art Now Inquiry survey of 1860 art and design teachers at nursery, primary, secondary and sixth
form found that 59% of primary and nursery teachers reported they had no qualifications in art and design
at undergraduate degree level or above, compared to 1.6% of secondary teachers: APPG & NSEAD (2023)
- Art Now: An Inquiry into the state of Art and Design teaching in early years foundation stage, primary and
secondary education

121 Ofsted (2023) - Research review series: art and design - GOV.UK

122 Cultural learning alliance (2025) - Evidence — Report card 2025; The Council for Higher Education in Art
& Design (2024) - CHEAD response to Curriculum and Assessment Review

123 DfE (2015) - GCSE Subject Level Conditions and Requirements for Art and Design

56

Page 178


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-curriculum-in-england-art-and-design-programmes-of-study
https://www.nsead.org/community-activism/policy-and-research/all-party-parliamentary-group/artnow-inquiry-2023/
https://www.nsead.org/community-activism/policy-and-research/all-party-parliamentary-group/artnow-inquiry-2023/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-art-and-design/research-review-series-art-and-design
https://www.culturallearningalliance.org.uk/evidence/#annual
https://www.chead.ac.uk/chead-response-to-curriculum-and-assessment-review/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gcse-9-to-1-subject-level-conditions-and-requirements-for-art-and-design

Recommendations

We recommend that the Government:

e Makes limited revisions to the Key Stage 1 to 3 Art and Design Programmes of
Study to clarify and exemplify the knowledge and skills pupils should develop,
including through their own creative practice, reflection and critical engagement.

e Works with Ofqual and awarding organisations to clarify the volume and range
of coursework students are expected to produce for GCSE Art and Design.

Citizenship, RHE/RSHE and PSHE

Citizenship

« Citizenship is a statutory foundation subject at Key Stages 3 and 4. It is not
mandatory at Key Stages 1 and 2, although primary schools can choose to teach
it using non-statutory Programmes of Study.

o At Key Stage 4, Citizenship must be taught to all students, and some will choose
to take a qualification in it. Take-up of the optional GCSE Citizenship Studies
qualification is very low (<5%)."%4

o In 2024/25, 18% of state-funded schools had entries into GCSE Citizenship
Studies.?®

e There was no standalone A Level in Citizenship in 2023/24.

Citizenship education helps young people to develop the necessary knowledge and

skills to play a full and active role in society.'?® Through the current Programmes of Study,
students build their knowledge of democracy, government and the law. They learn

about their rights and responsibilities in local, national and international contexts, with
opportunities to evaluate evidence critically, to develop reasoned argument and to
debate. Evidence from the Association of Citizenship Teaching suggests that Citizenship
education leads to positive outcomes in adulthood in relation to attitudes towards, and
levels of engagement in, various forms of civic participation.'?” Unlike other national

124 Entries into Community Development (Citizenship) divided by the total number of pupils at the end of
Key Stage 4.

125 Citizenship is categorised under the subject discount group ‘Community development’. See Curriculum
and Assessment Review: Final Report (Analytical annex).

126 DfE (2013) - National curriculum in England: citizenship programmes of study for key stages 3 and 4

127 Association for Citizenship Teaching (2022) - The Impact of Citizenship Education: a review of evidence
for school leaders

57

Page 179


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/87733396-ca23-4ad8-f91f-08de0724494a
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/0450b6ff-b88d-4f9d-f8f4-08de0724494a
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/0450b6ff-b88d-4f9d-f8f4-08de0724494a
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-curriculum-in-england-citizenship-programmes-of-study/national-curriculum-in-england-citizenship-programmes-of-study-for-key-stages-3-and-4
https://www.teachingcitizenship.org.uk/resource/the-impact-of-citizenship-education-a-review-of-evidence-for-school-leaders/
https://www.teachingcitizenship.org.uk/resource/the-impact-of-citizenship-education-a-review-of-evidence-for-school-leaders/

curriculum subjects, Ofsted considers Citizenship primarily within the ‘personal
development’ judgement in its current inspection framework. 28

Recently, there has been strong interest in Citizenship education among a range of
stakeholders. Through the Call for Evidence, a number of issues in the Citizenship
curriculum have been brought to the Review’s attention. They include:

e Financial education: where polling of parents and carers and students, as well as
responses to our Call for Evidence, indicate dissatisfaction with present attention
to this topic and a strong appetite for more.'?®

e Democracy and government: young people have told us they would like better
grounding in this, and stakeholders have highlighted it in relation to the
Government’s policy to lower the voting age to 16 for all UK elections.3°

e Media literacy: young people have highlighted a need for greater support to
interrogate information in the context of a proliferation of misinformation and
disinformation through various media, 3! especially given the amount of time
that many children are now spending online.'®?

Citizenship has a key role in teaching many areas of knowledge and skills that support
young people to become active and thoughtful citizens. In addition to the three areas
above, these include topics such as climate and sustainability, equality duties and
challenging discrimination, as well as the development of oracy skills, such as expressing
opinions, listening to others’ points of view, and agreeing and disagreeing respectfully.

Within this context, the Review has heard many calls for Citizenship to become
mandatory at primary to fill perceived gaps in the curriculum. Respondents to the

Call for Evidence raised concerns that its non-statutory status is leading to uneven and
inconsistent progress in the subject. This also means that opportunities for primary-aged
pupils to learn about many of the important topics set out above are inconsistent.

The Review’s own research into primary provision, through Teacher Tapp polling,

has confirmed this inconsistency. Over 80% of primary teachers, school leaders and
headteachers responded that their school provided Citizenship education, but only 41%
of primary headteachers said their school followed the non-statutory Programmes of
Study.'33 As such, some topics, most notably Active Citizenship and Law and Justice are
not always taught in Key Stages 1 and 2. This is in line with research from the University

128 As opposed to within the ‘quality of education’ judgement, like other national curriculum subjects. See:
Ofsted (2025) - Education inspection framework

129 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Interim Report

130 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2025) - 16-year-olds to be given right to vote
through election reforms

131 Ofcom (2024) - Understanding misinformation: an exploration of UK adults’ behaviour and attitudes
132 Ofcom (2024) - Children’s media literacy report

133 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Final Report (Analytical annex). To note, MATs have been
excluded when calculating the percentage that provide Citizenship education

58

Page 180


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-inspection-framework/education-inspection-framework-for-september-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-interim-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/16-year-olds-to-be-given-right-to-vote-through-seismic-government-election-reforms
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/16-year-olds-to-be-given-right-to-vote-through-seismic-government-election-reforms
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/media-use-and-attitudes/attitudes-to-news/understanding-misinformation-an-exploration-of-uk-adults-behaviour-and-attitudes
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/media-use-and-attitudes/media-habits-children/children-and-parents-media-use-and-attitudes-report-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report

of Kent, which, likewise, highlights inconsistent practice and indicates that children
experiencing greater socio-economic disadvantage have fewer opportunities to develop
civic skills and are less likely to be prepared for civic life. 134

The non-statutory primary Programmes of Study'3® have not been updated since 2001.
As a result, some content is duplicated, namely the content relating to health and
relationships that now sits in Relationships and Health Education (RHE), first introduced
in 2019. Such duplication may be adding to the volume of content in the primary
curriculum.

The Review has received compelling evidence and feedback on the need for all primary
pupils to receive an education in Citizenship. As such, we are committed to delivering

a Citizenship curriculum that has greater clarity and consistency so that all children

and young people have the opportunity to develop the skills and knowledge to thrive.
We therefore recommend that Citizenship becomes statutory from Key Stage 1.

In order not to increase pressures on primary curriculum time, it is important that the
statutory Programmes of Study at Key Stages 1 and 2 contain only the essential core
elements to support a smooth, sequenced transition into study at Key Stages 3 and 4,
and that they complement RHE content. Content duplicated within RHE should be
removed from Citizenship in Key Stages 1 and 2. This should ensure that all young
people have access to a core entitlement, but nothing precludes primary schools from
going further, should they wish.

We recommend the following topics are prioritised in the statutory primary curriculum:

¢ Financial literacy: current Citizenship content includes the purpose of money,
how to manage, spend and save money, and the difference between needs and
wants. A statutory primary Programme of Study should also equip pupils to develop
their financial literacy skills, by understanding risks, core financial concepts,
responsible practice, and the use of digital tools. See financial education.

e Democracy and government: the curriculum should support democratic
understanding and engagement, and develop awareness of and readiness for the
planned lowering of the voting age to 16.3¢ Content should align with the
fundamental British values of democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty, and mutual
respect
and tolerance for those of different faiths and beliefs, all of which schools are already
required to promote actively.

e Law and rights: a new Programme of Study should ensure that pupils develop an
understanding of rules and laws, why they are important, who makes them and the

134 ESRC (2025) - Educating for Social Good Final Report
135 DfE (2015) - Citizenship programmes of study for key stages 1 and 2
136 Subject to legislation.

59

Page 181


https://research.kent.ac.uk/children-as-philanthropic-citizens/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/citizenship-programmes-of-study-for-key-stages-1-and-2

consequences of not following them. Content should also introduce them to concepts
such as fairness and equity, including rights and responsibilities.

e Media literacy: new content should ensure age-appropriate skills are developed from
primary schooling onwards, including research skills and evaluating information and
news sources. See media literacy.

e Climate education: primary curriculum content should explore complementary and
age-appropriate issues, including sustainable choices and habits and climate justice.
See climate education.

To build on this foundation, the secondary Programmes of Study should be aligned with
the new primary core. Many responses to the Call for Evidence highlighted the need for
updates at Key Stages 3 and 4, asserting that a lack of specificity as well as ambiguous
phraseology in the secondary Programmes of Study adds complexity when translating
requirements into teaching units and lessons. There were therefore calls for teaching
requirements at secondary to be clearer to improve impact and efficiency.

These changes should be delivered by ensuring that currently implicit content at Key
Stages 3 and 4 is made more explicit and specific. The intention is not to include
additional content. Aligning with primary, content should also be strengthened to address
societal changes in an age-appropriate way; for example, equality, equity and countering
discrimination and hate, financial education, climate change and the rise of
misinformation and disinformation.

Such changes may have implications for the content of GCSE Citizenship Studies.

The Review is not making any specific recommendations about this, but the Government
should consider and address the impact that any changes to the mandatory non-
assessed subject may have on the qualification.

Relationships and Health Education (RHE) and Relationships, Sex and
Health Education (RSHE)

« RHE is a basic curriculum subject’®’ for all Key Stage 1 and 2 pupils.

o RSHE is a basic curriculum subject for all Key Stage 3 and 4 students, and for
learners in school sixth forms.138

o At Key Stage 4, RSHE is not formally assessed and does not have any related
qualifications.

137 A ‘basic curriculum’ subject is not on the national curriculum, but must be provided by schools. Parents
or carers have the right to withdraw their child from these subjects: GOV.UK (2025) - The national
curriculum: Overview.

138 The requirement does not apply to further education colleges.

60

Page 182


https://www.gov.uk/national-curriculum
https://www.gov.uk/national-curriculum

RHE and RSHE were first introduced to the basic curriculum in 2019. Legislation at
that time created a new statutory requirement for schools to publish a written policy for
RHE/RSHE and to consult parents and carers on it in advance.

The statutory guidance for RHE/RSHE outlines required content but it is not broken
down by key stage. Instead, it presents topics for primary and secondary phases,
allowing schools the flexibility to determine when to teach specific content based on
students’ needs.

The DfE has recently concluded a separate review of the statutory RSHE guidance,
which had been announced in March 2023, under the previous Government. As such,
the content of RSHE was outside the scope of this Review, although the DfE kept the
Review Panel informed of progress. The teaching of the new content will begin from
September 2026.

Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education (PSHE)

o PSHE is not statutory for state schools.

o At Key Stage 4, PSHE is not formally assessed and does not have any related
qualifications.

PSHE is a broader subject than statutory RSHE, typically encompassing economic
education, careers and personal safety, although no content is stipulated beyond what is
contained in statutory RSHE. Many schools choose to deliver a wider PSHE curriculum
and embed statutory RSHE within it, although approaches vary significantly. PSHE is
compulsory in independent schools, as they must meet the standards set out in the
Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations 2014 (ISS)."3°

Feedback gathered through the Call for Evidence and the Review’s wider engagement
highlighted widespread confusion about and conflation of the requirements for RSHE,
PSHE and Citizenship education. Many respondents called for clearer guidance and
about and expectations for each subject and the distinctions between them.

Concerns were also raised that, although RHE was made compulsory at primary in 2019
and RSHE at secondary, the PSHE components relating to personal finance and careers
education were not included as statutory requirements.

The Review’s recommendations for Citizenship seek to resolve some of these concerns.
By introducing clearer requirements around financial literacy at both primary and

139 Standard 2.2(d) personal, social, health and economic education which (i) reflects the school’s aim and
ethos; and (ii) encourages respect for other people, paying particular regard to the protected characteristics
set out in the 2010 [Equality] Act.

61

Page 183



secondary, we intend to ensure that all young people receive education on this important
topic. Additionally, our recommendation to remove overlapping content from the
Citizenship Programmes of Study at Key Stages 1 and 2 should help to clarify the
distinct roles of RHE/RSHE and Citizenship. Alongside our proposal to make Citizenship
statutory at primary level, these changes should support greater coherence across
subjects and improve access to essential knowledge.

Separate legal duties apply to maintained schools and academies to secure independent
careers guidance for all Year 7 to 13 students, covering the full range of education

and training options. The funding agreements of all sixth form colleges and further
education (FE) colleges include an equivalent requirement. We have not made any
recommendations on these duties as they are outside the scope of the Review’s Terms
of Reference.

Recommendations

We recommend that the Government:

¢ Introduces a statutory measure to ensure that all are taught a core body of
essential Citizenship content at primary (including elements of financial and
media literacy, and climate change and sustainability).

e Improves the efficacy of primary Citizenship by clarifying the purpose and
content of the Key Stage 1 and 2 curriculum and removes any content that
duplicates the new RSHE Programme of Study.

e Updates the secondary Programmes of Study for Citizenship to clarify their
purpose, improve specificity and improve progression from Key Stage 3 to 4 or
to the optional GCSE (including a renewed focus on financial literacy, media
literacy, climate and sustainability, equality duties and challenging
discrimination, and democracy and government).

Computing

o Computing is a statutory foundation subject from Key Stages 1 to 4.

o At Key Stage 4, Computing must be taught to all students following the national
curriculum, and some will choose to take a qualification in it. Take-up of optional
GCSE Computer Science was 3% in 2013/14'4% and 13% in 2024/25. Technical
Award ICT take-up was 27% in 2015/16 and 3% in 2024/25.14

140 GCSE Computer Science was introduced in 2013/14.
41 There was a significant drop in take up of ICT Technical Awards from 30% in 2016/17 to 9% in 2017/18
due to the removal of the European Computer Driving License from performance tables.

62

Page 184


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/curriculum-and-assessment-review#terms-of-reference

e 1In 2024/25, 75% of state-funded schools entered students for the GCSE and 25%
for the Technical Award. Overall, 81% of schools offer Computing-related
qualifications.

« A Level Computer Science entries made up 1% of A Level entries in 2009/10 and
2% in 2023/24.

Computing education must equip children and young people to participate fully in a
technology-driven world and to thrive in the workplace, whether they want to pursue
careers in the digital sector or use technology effectively in other fields. However,
evidence suggests a decline between 2011/12 and 2024/25 in dedicated teaching time
for Computing, falling from 4% to 3% of total teaching time at Key Stage 3 and from
5% to just 2% at Key Stage 4.4?

Despite reasonably wide access in schools, '3 take-up of Computing qualifications is
relatively low at Key Stage 4. Following its introduction in 2013/14, GCSE Computer
Science saw rapid initial growth, but entries have since plateaued at 12-13%. Technical
Awards in Information and Communications Technology (ICT) also continue to see
limited uptake.'#* Especially, take-up of Computing has declined among girls: take-up
of GCSE Computer Science is now 20% for boys versus 6% for girls, and for the ICT
Technical Award it is 5% for boys versus 2% for girls.14°

Computing must be taught to all students following the national curriculum to the end
of Key Stage 4."“6 However, we have heard concerns that this requirement is not
consistently met. Polling conducted for the Review found that approximately 80% of
teachers from maintained schools report that Computing is taught at Key Stage 4 only
to students taking GCSE Computer Science, while only around 10% of them say that
Computing is taught to all Key Stage 4 students.' This suggests a significant gap
between policy and practice.

Where Computing is being taught, we have heard concerns that it is being taught
inconsistently. Apart from important issues of teacher supply, responses to the
Call for Evidence suggest that this inconsistency stems from a lack of clarity in the

142 DfE (2025) - Teaching time for Key Stage 3-4

143 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Final Report (Analytical annex)

144 Curriculum and Assessment Review: Call for Evidence: (Curriculum subject trends over time);

DfE (2025) - Pupils at the end of Key Stage 4 2024/25; DfE (2025) - Subject entries 2024/25

145 Findings from the SCARI (2024) - The Future of Computing Education; Curriculum and Assessment
Review: Final Report (Analytical annex)

146 This requirement will also apply to academies following the Government’s Children’s Wellbeing and
Schools Bill: DfE (2025) - Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill: policy summary notes

147 Polling of secondary senior leaders undertaken through Teacher Tapp commissioned by the Review.
Results weighted to reflect national teacher and school demographics. To note, MATs have been
excluded here.

63

Page 185


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/86a7ab65-4d6c-4383-9229-08dde40b59a1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://consult.education.gov.uk/curriculum-and-assessment-team/curriculum-and-assessment-review-call-for-evidence/
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/0450b6ff-b88d-4f9d-f8f4-08de0724494a
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/b7198f70-24bf-44f8-0bb5-08de07233b94
https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/the-future-of-computing-education-considerations-for-policy-curri
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-and-assessment-review-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-wellbeing-and-schools-bill-2024-policy-summary

secondary Programmes of Study, particularly at Key Stage 4, where they are
exceptionally short (just three bullet points). Many respondents called for greater
specificity to support stronger implementation and improve the quality of teaching.

We therefore recommend that the Computing curriculum is updated to provide greater
clarity at each key stage. Programmes of study should support students to develop
the knowledge and skills they need to flourish as well-informed and competent
participants in a digital world, and to develop the behaviours and confidence to use
technologies (including Al) and systems creatively, safely and effectively.

Responses to the Call for Evidence called for a stronger integration of digital literacy
across the curriculum, given the ubiquitous and cross-cutting nature of digital technology.
While Computing should remain the primary subject for teaching computing knowledge
and skills, we recognise that aspects of digital literacy are relevant to other subjects.
Certain subjects can be enriched through the thoughtful application of computing
knowledge.'#® Therefore, we see an opportunity to support students in applying the skills
they learn in Computing by including clearly defined references to using computing skills
in other subjects, where relevant and feasible, bearing in mind constraints on resources
and school IT infrastructure. These references should be aligned with the Computing
curriculum at each key stage to ensure coherence and progression.

Some responses highlighted the absence of Al and real-world applications in the
Computing curriculum, suggesting updates are needed to keep the subject up to

date. The current curriculum does not preclude teachers from integrating the latest
developments into their teaching and at least one exam board already includes

Al content in its GCSE Computer Science specification.’® This is to be welcomed.

Al is a transformative new technology and, while the Review considers the best approach
to future-proofing students’ learning is to ensure they have a strong foundation in core
knowledge, we also recognise the need to integrate emerging technologies where
appropriate. A revised Programme of Study should therefore specify the core computing
concepts that students should have mastered at each stage and explicitly incorporate Al.
GCSE Computing specifications should also include Al where they do not already.
However, given the rapid pace of digital innovation, we recommend minimising
references to specific products or versions of fast-evolving technologies, and allowing
for light touch updates to the curriculum as needed (see future curriculum reviews).

Computing in the national curriculum encompasses computer science, information
technology and digital literacy topics. There are concerns that the GCSE, which focuses
primarily on computer science, does not represent the full breadth of the subject. Unlike
other GCSEs that offer a broad and balanced foundation, GCSE Computer Science is
seen as a more specialised qualification. Analysis of pre-pandemic data supports this

148 Current examples include the use of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) in Geography, and 3-D
modelling in Design and Technology.
149 For example, Pearson Edexcel GCSE (2020) GCSE L1 L2 Computer Science 2020 Specification

64

Page 186


https://qualifications.pearson.com/en/qualifications/edexcel-gcses/computer-science-2020.html

concern; on average students achieved 0.72 of a grade less in GCSE Computer Science
compared to their other subjects.® This discrepancy is worse for girls taking the GCSE,
who typically achieved 1.11 of a grade lower than in their other subjects.’®! This is a
significant cause for concern, given the importance of digital and computing knowledge.
There is evidence that a range of factors, many outside of the Review’s remit, affect
girls’ engagement with Computer Science, including systemic factors such as gender
stereotyping of computing and related careers, as well as factors more specifically
school-based, such as pedagogy and resources.’®? The Review Panel has also
considered evidence that GCSE Computer Science is perceived to be less relevant

to girls and that integrating more of the wider Computing curriculum would better engage
a broader range of students, including girls.®3

Engagement with computing experts and organisations during the Review highlighted
the potential benefits of a broader GCSE in Computing. Such a qualification could
better reflect the range of knowledge and skills young people need and address current
shortages in the digital economy. Research shows that nearly one in four (23%)
businesses face skills gaps in basic digital skills, rising to over one in three (37%) with
gaps in advanced digital skills.'>* Expert stakeholders have therefore called for the
GCSE to cover a wider range of topics beyond Computer Science in order to appeal

to a more diverse student population and to meet society’s broader needs.

The Review therefore recommends introducing a revised GCSE in Computing that
retains a foundation in Computer Science, while expanding to include content on the
effective and critical application and creation of technology. This broader qualification
should replace the current Computer Science GCSE and prepare young people for both
specialist careers in computing and for applying digital technology and data across a
wide range of fields. It should enable them to progress to further study, including A Level
Computer Science, and/or to pursue a career in computing and digital fields.

It is important to note contextual challenges. A significant shortage of specialist
Computing teachers affects the quality of provision.'®> Access to devices and

50 The SCARI Computing Project (2024) - GCSE results comparison

51 The SCARI Computing Project (2024) - GCSE results comparison

152 National Centre for Computing Education (2023) - Gender Insights in Computing Education

153 Evidence from the SCARI (2024) - Subject Choice, Attainment and Representation in Computing
project, found that at Key Stage 3 girls were significantly more interested than boys in topics such as digital
media, project work and presentation work. Raspberry Pi (2022) — Using relevant contexts to engage girls
in the Computing classroom also found that contextualising computing skills can make the subject more
relevant for women and girls.

154 WorldSkills UK & Enginuity (2021) - Disconnected: Exploring the digital skills gap - In this report, World
Skills UK define ‘basic digital skills’, as ‘a proficiency with common software such as Microsoft Word, Excel,
PowerPoint; ability to process digital information and content; ability to communicate digitally; and the
ability to learn new digital skills etc’. They define ‘advanced digital skills’ as ‘a good knowledge across a
range of digital skills, as well as in-depth specialist knowledge in one or more area, such as computer aided
design, coding, specialist digital software etc.’

155 Demonstrated by the fact that, in 2024/25, only 66% of teachers teaching Computer Science in Key
Stage 3 had a relevant post-A Level qualification; for ICT this was 48%. Whilst this is less severe for Key

65

Page 187


https://scari.sites.er.kcl.ac.uk/cpre/chapters/grades.html
https://scari.sites.er.kcl.ac.uk/cpre/chapters/grades.html
https://teachcomputing.org/impact-and-evaluation
https://scari.sites.er.kcl.ac.uk/
https://scari.sites.er.kcl.ac.uk/
https://www.raspberrypi.org/blog/gender-balance-in-